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Yarram and District Health Service  
85 Commercial Road (PO Box 61) 
Yarram, Vic, 3971 
ABN: 23 682 798 533 
 
Telephone:   03 5182 0222 
Facsimile:  03 5182 6081 
Email:  ydhs@ydhs.com.au 
Website:  www.ydhs.com.au 
(refer back cover for further details) 

  

The Board  
 
The Board of the Yarram and District Health 
Service is appointed by the Governor in 
Council on the recommendation of the 
Minister for Health in accordance with the 
Health Services Act 1988. 
 
The functions of the Board are to: 
 
• Monitor the performance of 

Yarram and District Health Service. 
 

• Appoint and determine the 
employment terms (including 
remuneration) of a Chief Executive 
Officer. 
 

• Oversee the management of 
Yarram and District Health Service and 
monitor the performance of the Chief 
Executive Officer. 
 

• Develop statements of priorities 
and strategic plans for the operation 
of Yarram and District Health Service and 
monitor their compliance. 
 

• Develop financial and business 
plans, strategies and budgets to 
ensure accountable and efficient 
provision of health services by 
Yarram and District Health Service and 
its long term financial viability, as well as 
to ensure they are adhered to. 
 

• Establish and maintain effective 
systems to ensure that the Health 
Service meets the needs of the 
community served by Yarram and District 
Health Service and that the views of 
users and providers of health services 
are taken into account. 
 

• Ensure that Yarram and District Health 
Service operates within its budget and 
that its systems accurately reflect its 
financial position and viability. 

 

 

http://www.ydhs.com.au/
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About Us 
The Yarram and District Health Service (YDHS) is located 220 kilometres 
south east of Melbourne on the South Gippsland Highway in rural 
Victoria.  In relation to regional centres it is 73 kilometres south west of 
Sale and 62 kilometres south east of Traralgon.  The township of Yarram, 
which is the principal service centre of the area, is located in the Shire of 
Wellington and services an area of approximately 1,840 square 
kilometres and a catchment population of 5,580. 

The Health Service originally commenced operation as the Yarram 
and District Hospital. It was inaugurated on 1st January 1912 and 
admitted its first patient in January 1917.  In 1993, the hospital name 
was changed to the Yarram and District Health Service to reflect its 
evolution into a multi-purpose service, more appropriately positioned 
to meet the needs of the wider community.  
 
YDHS offers acute care services including a 24 hour urgent care 
facility. General medical and post-surgical care, rehabilitation, respite, 
dialysis and palliative care are all available at YDHS.  St Elmo’s 
Nursing Home is located on the grounds of the main campus and 
provides recreational activities, outings, volunteer companionship and 
a wide range of other services to its residents.   Crossley House is 
located adjacent to the Health Service and is a 30 bed residential aged 
care facility.  Crossley House was formally amalgamated with YDHS in 
November 2009. 
 
The Health Service operates under the Department of Health and 
Human Services Small Rural Health Service program and provides a 
comprehensive range of primary care services. In addition to this 
operational agreement, service delivery is further enhanced through 
partnership arrangements with the Commonwealth Government 
Department of Health, Department of Social Service and Local 
Government. YDHS is well supported by its teams of volunteers and 
fundraising Auxiliary.  
  

Responsible Bodies Declaration 
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994, I am pleased to present the Report of Operations 
for Yarram and District Health Service for the year ending 30 June 2016. 
 
 
 
Ms Frankie MacLennan 
Acting Board Chair 
Dated the 1st day of September, 2016 
Yarram, Victoria 
 

Organisation Goals 
 

Mission 

“To excel at providing quality, 
efficient, people-centred care 
for our community.” 

 

Vision 

“Yarram and District Health 
Service is recognised as a 
leading rural health service.” 

 

Values 

• Care and Compassion 

• Respect 

• Integrity 

• Professionalism 
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YDHS Strategic Plan 

To be recognised as a leading rural 
health service, YDHS will excel at 
providing quality, efficient and 
people centred care for our 
community by implementing the 
following strategies in 2015-2018: 

Strategic goals and priorities 

Goal 1: Responsive 
To provide health care that is responsive to 
people’s needs we will: 
1. Develop a service plan that profiles:

• The current and forecasted demand of the
YDHS catchment

• The current and required service
configuration (in view service capability
frameworks)

• The gaps, a strategy and estimated costs
2. Develop a workforce plan to support the

Service Plan that:
• Sets out the required workforce
• Profiles the current workforce
• Identifies the gaps, strategies and

estimated costs

Goal 2: Community Focused 
To improve our community’s health status and 
experiences we will: 
1. Develop and implement a YDHS

communication and engagement strategy
(focusing on the internal and external
operating environments) that:
• Informs
• Educates
• Involves

2. Develop and implement a strategy to foster a
culture of excellence and customer focus
(internally and externally)

Goal 3: People-centred 
To develop our services, workforce and system 
capacity to deliver person-centred care and services 
at every level we will: 

1. Explore and trial other models of service,
care and work

2. Implement the Gippsland Aboriginal Health
Cultural Competence Framework

Goal 4: Sustainable 
To improve our financial sustainability and 
productivity we will: 
1. Implement the Energy Plan
2. Review the costs and revenue of

• Residential aged care
• Community Support Program

3. Investigate alternative sources of revenue

Goal 5: Innovative 
To implement continuous improvement and 
innovation in technology, work and clinical 
practices we will: 
1. Investigate the feasibility of the Nurse

Practitioner model (considering  financial
implications; scope of practice; community
need)

GOAL 6: Accountable 
To increase accountability and transparency to 
our community we will: 
1. Develop leaders that:

• Empower their people to make decisions
as close as possible to the point of care

• Create a stewardship mindset in all staff
(looking after the organisation and its
customers)
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A Message from the Board Chair 
One thing that an annual report does not do is compare like with like.  When one does compare Yarram with other 
small rural health services YDHS compares favourably by whatever measure one may like to choose; including 
financial, workplace harmony, governance, cash reserves and, importantly,  assessment against national accreditation 
standards.  A position in which we can take great pride and one that reflects the skill and commitment of our dedicated 
team. 

It is the role of the board to nominate the destination for the good ship YDHS but it is the executive team who do what 
needs to be done to get there. For many years board relations have been characterised by strong and harmonious 
team work both within the board and between the board and the CEO; a grand credit to all involved.  

The challenges of the past will be the challenges of the future. Challenges based in politics, finance, demography, and 
geography.  Filling professional workforce vacancies is a serious challenge in Yarram which is too rural for the city 
biased and not remote enough for the outback seeker. Attractiveness of a small community to its professionals varies 
greatly with the welcome and support that the community provides to partners and families.  

An emerging challenge is that posed by several of our buildings that are old, inefficient and no longer truly fit for 21st 
century purpose.  

Tomorrow’s challenges require new initiatives, new visions and new leadership and it is in that context that I have 
decided to stand down from the role of Board Chair.  I have enjoyed my time in that role and am proud of what we 
have achieved. I cannot thank enough the support that I have received from my board colleagues. A special 
acknowledgement goes to our CEO, Colleen Boag who has been and continues to be an outstanding leader and 
motivator of the entire YDHS team. 

I wish the new incumbent in the chair role all success and promise my full support. I intend to continue as a member of 
the YDHS board at least until the end of my current term. 

Dr David Hill 
Board Chair 

2015 Staff Service Recognition Awards 

 

 

Back row, (left to right): Jennifer Donaldson, Robert Thomas, Karen Craighead, Shane Parker, Margaret 
Ford, Jaclyn Clarke and Dr David Hill 
Front row, (left to right): Christine Mills, Lynn Forbes, Marianne Wigg and Patrina O’Neill 
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 Board Chair & Chief Executive Officer’s Report  

The Annual Report is a legal document prepared in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 Section 45 
and 53A(4) for the Minister for Health, the Hon Jill Hennessy MP and through her the Parliament of Victoria. This 
includes key partners and stakeholders, including the three levels of Government, patients, residents, clients, their 
families and carers, volunteers, our auxiliary, financial supporters and the local community.  

The Annual Report comprises the Report of Operations, Quality Account Report and the Financial Report, including a 
number of appendices, Compliance Disclosure Index, 5 Year Comparative Statistics and the year in brief. 
 
Traditional Owners 
Yarram and District Health Service acknowledge the Gunai Kurnai community, the traditional custodians of the land on 
which we stand. 
 
Review of the year 2015 2016 by the Board Chair and Chief Executive Officer 
 
Introduction 
On behalf of the Board and staff of the Yarram and 
District Health Service and in accordance with the 
Financial Management Act of 1994 it gives us great 
pleasure to present the 2015-2016 Yarram and District 
Health Service Annual Report.   
 
The past year has been challenging on many fronts, in 
particular financial constraints, critical medical workforce 
shortages, low occupancy in our bed based services and 
the ever increasing cost of compliance.  Despite these 
challenges we have significant achievements to report on 
as we continue to deliver the best possible care and 
service within the available resources. To this end we 
particularly acknowledge the valuable contribution of our 
dedicated staff.   
 
Our people  
This year to better understand our workforce we 
developed our own workplace climate survey. The 
Survey included free form text responses and with a 
response rate of 37% returned a wealth of information; 
545 individual comments in total suggesting a healthy 
level of workforce engagement.  Staff took the time to tell 
us what works in our Health Service, what we can do 
better and how we can improve our service.   
 
We know that the staff satisfaction 
rates are good with 96% saying they 
are either very satisfied or satisfied in 
the workplace. Communication also 
rated as positive with 86% stating they 
are comfortable bringing up issues and 
concerns with their line manager and 
92% saying they were comfortable 
discussing issues with co-workers. 
This positive trend continued when 
asked how well peers reacted to 
conflict with 92% saying very well or 
well. When asking the same question 
about their line manager we see 79% 
stating very well or well.  
 
It is important that YDHS understands 
the climate in which we work. This 
survey assists us to evaluate where 
resources should be directed for 

 

 
 
maximum benefit and to measure the impact of our 
strategies to improve workplace well-being.  We 
believe these results demonstrate that we are moving 
in a positive direction and that work to improve 
organisational communication and performance is 
returning benefit whether this is through education, 
counselling or ensuring that when we employ new 
people we place greater emphasis on communication 
skills. 

We acknowledge the wonderful work of our 82 
volunteers who continue to support the Health Service 
in many and varied ways including the Waratah 
Auxiliary’s cent afternoons, the Palliative Care fund 
raising events, those who give of their time to assist 
our patients and residents and those who serve on our 
Consumer Partnership and the Quality Committees. All 
offer generous support for which we are very 
appreciative.  

Partnerships  
The Health Service has been well supported in its work 
throughout the year and we offer our appreciation to 
the Department of Health and Human Services, 
Wellington Shire Council, our Visiting Medical Officers, 
partner agencies and our 190 dedicated staff.  
 

Signing the 2015-2016 Statement of Priorities Agreement on 22 October 2015.  
Pictured Dr David Hill, Board Chair and Mr Greg Blakeley, Director Health South 
Division. 
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Board Chair & Chief Executive Officer’s Report 
The Board  
Each year the Board commits to a workshop to review the 
Strategic Plan, has guest presenters for ongoing 
education, completes a performance review and develops 
the annual Board Operational Plan. The Board recognises 
and monitors ongoing training and education for itself and 
all members of the YDHS community. This year the focus 
for the Board education was Governance and Financial 
Literacy. To our Board, thank you for your work and 
significant contribution to the Health Service through your 
Board activities and the Committees on which you serve. 
 
Annual performance  
The financial result for the year ended June 2016 shows a 
$1,303,858 deficit compared to a deficit of $1,186,888 for 
the previous financial year. 
 
Operational revenue decreased by $250K for the period 
and expenditure on workforce also decreased by $452K 
over the previous year. Other expenses increased by 
$312K. 
 
Capital grants of $85,998 were received from the DHHS 
for medical equipment and infrastructure replacement. 
 
Performance against budget  
For 2015-2016 year, YDHS reported an Operating loss of 
$270,761 against the budgeted operating surplus of 
$5,725.  
 
For the year, $1,303,858 was recorded as a net deficit 
against the budgeted net deficit of $1,289,988. The 
$13,878 variance to budget is a better result than we had 
forecast at our 6 month budget review considering a 
recall of $117,812 by the DHHS of funds held for the 
region and not in budget and the $126,405 over spend 
for critical repair and maintenance particularly in two of 
our primary care areas, including money directed towards 
asbestos remediation works.  
 
For the year ended June 2016, YDHS recorded an 
income of $12,051,025 against the budgeted income of 
$12,166,463 resulting in an adverse variance of 
$115,438. Main adverse variances were recorded from 
Commonwealth Grants and Aged Care Fees amounting 
to $527,299 and $119,128 respectively. These variances 
were the direct result of low occupancy in Aged Care. 
   
YDHS incurred $13,386,007 against the budgeted 
expenditure of $13,456,451 recording a saving of 
$70,444. Major savings were reported from Work Force 
Cost and Utility expenses amounting to $509,810 and 
$71,273 respectively. Repair and Maintenance costs and  
 

 
Visiting Medical Officer and Locum expenses were 
above the budget by $126,405 and $85,971 
respectively. 
 
Significant changes in financial positon during 
the year  
There were no major changes or factors affecting 
performance during the year. The current asset ratio 
at June 30th 2016 has remained stable at 1.7 
indicating the Health Service is in a good financial 
position, with adequate cash resources to meet 
liabilities as they fall due. 
 
Staff Recognition 
In 2016 it gives us great pleasure to recognise the 
following staff for their service to our Health Service: 

 
2016 Service Recognition 

30 years Margaret Barlow 
Jennifer Finlay  

15 years Veronica Porter 
Michelle Moore 
Maria Triantafyllou 
Jane Chippindall 
Maria Kerr 

10 years Valerie Bilston 
Susan Bland 
Jo-Anne Hugo 
Trevor Waugh 
Kerrie Disney 
Lindy Thunder 
Kerrie Millar 
Rod McLean 
Shannon Taylor 

 
We recognise the dedication and commitment of all 
our staff and extend our appreciation for their support 
through the year. 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
David Hill Colleen Boag  
Board Chair Chief Executive Officer
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STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES REPORT 
 

Part A: Strategic Priorities  
In 2015 2016 Yarram and District Health Service contributed to the achievement of the government’s 
commitments by: 

Domain Action Deliverable Outcome 
Patient experience 
and outcomes 

Drive improved health 
outcomes through a strong 
focus on patient-centred 
care in the planning, 
delivery and evaluation of 
services, and the 
development of new 
models for putting patients 
first. 

Review the current model of 
care in both inpatient and 
community based services to 
identify potential 
opportunities to support a 
nurse practitioner model 
which may improve access 
to services for local 
community. 

Completed. Research indicates 
that the nurse practitioner 
model relies on identifying a 
suitable RN (to be employed or 
educated), consistent medical 
staff support and sustainable 
funding. 
Feasibility study completed 
and reported to Board.  No 
further action at this time. 

 Strengthen the response 
of health services to family 
violence.  This includes 
implementing 
interventions, processes 
and systems to prevent; 
identify and respond 
appropriately to family 
violence at an individual 
and community level. 

Review family violence 
procedures and processes to 
develop an organisational 
screening tool and referral 
pathway that identifies and 
eliminates immediate risk to 
the client and links clients 
and/or families to specialist 
services. 

Completed.  Intake process 
with Youth & Family Services 
has been reviewed and a 
preliminary Community Risk 
Assessment Framework 
(CRAF) checklist has been 
included to alert staff to client 
safety risks.  The Maternal and 
Child Health Nurse has 
developed a referral pathway 
for clients that need support.  
The urgent care intake now 
includes screening for family 
violence (FV) and if recognised 
that FV is an issue, a work 
instruction has been developed 
for response and referral. 

 Use consumer feedback 
and develop participation 
processes to improve 
person and family centred 
care, health service 
practice and patient 
experiences. 

Maintain commitment to the 
Gippsland Service Connect 
pilot and utilise consumer 
feedback to deliver a 
collaborative family centred 
model of care. 

Completed.  YDHS remain 
committed to the Service 
Connect pilot and work 
collaboratively with the Outer 
East partnership to coordinate 
response and processes.  Staff 
continued to attend regular 
meetings and participated in 
the evaluation of the program.  
This pilot will conclude in 
October 2016 and there will be 
no ongoing funding.  The Outer 
Gippsland Alliance that was 
convened for the project will 
continue as it has proved to 
add value to the regional 
service delivery for family 
services. 

 Implement an organisation-
wide approach to advance 
care planning including a 
system for identifying, 
documenting and/or 
receiving advance care 
plans in partnership with 
patients, carers and 
substitute decision makers 
so that people’s wishes for 
future care can be activated 
when medical decisions 
need to be made. 
 

Implement the 
recommendations of the 
Yarram an District Health 
Services Palliative Care Link 
Group Review of current 
practice gaps and implement 
a service development plan 
across acute health, St 
Elmo’s, Crossley House 
Residential Aged Care 
facilities and the Yarram 
general practice clinics. 

Completed. The 
documentation introducing 
Advance Care Planning (ACP) 
and approved by the 
Consumer Partnership 
Committee was placed in all 
public areas.  Target groups 
have been identified (inpatient 
and community clients) and 
offered ACP brochure. 
A working Committee has been 
established and this work will 
continue into 2016-2017. 
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Domain Action Deliverable Outcome 
Patient experience 
and outcomes  

Develop an organisational 
policy for the provision of 
safe, high quality end of 
life care in acute and 
subacute settings, with 
clear guidance about the 
role of, and access to, 
specialist palliative care. 

Implement an organisational 
policy for end of life care and 
partner with specialist 
palliative care services to 
develop an end of life care 
pathway across Yarram and 
District Health Service. 

Completed.  Palliative Aged 
Care Link Nurse program 
working well.  Education 
offered to 34 staff during 2015, 
organisational policy 
implemented. 
 

Governance, 
leadership and 
culture 

Demonstrate an 
organisational commitment 
to Occupational Health 
and Safety, including 
mental health and 
wellbeing in the workplace. 
Ensure accessible and 
affordable support 
services are available for 
employees experiencing 
mental ill health. Work 
collaboratively with the 
Department of Health and 
Human Services and 
professional bodies to 
identify and address 
systemic issues of mental 
ill health amongst the 
medical professions. 

Consult with staff to identify 
how Yarram and District 
Health Service can best 
measure staff well-being and 
organisational climate. Use 
the information gathered to 
inform the development of 
the 2015 organisation wide 
climate survey, the result of 
which will inform the 
development of the Yarram 
District Health Service 
Wellbeing Plan.    

Incomplete. Staff consultation 
completed in July 2015 to 
assist the development of a 
tailored organisational climate 
survey.  Survey implemented 
in January 2016 the results of 
which have been collated and 
reported back to staff.  
 
The final step to incorporate 
learnings into the YDHS Health 
and Wellbeing Plan is 
outstanding.  

In partnership with the 
Wellington Primary Care 
Partnership, Yarram and 
District Health Service will 
achieve Recognition Point 2 
of the Healthy Together 
Achievement program for at 
least one priority area. 

Completed.  YDHS Workplace 
Wellbeing Charter was 
launched at the ‘all staff 
meeting’ in September 2015 
and this was followed by a staff 
survey in October 2015.  It was 
recognised that mental 
wellbeing and physical activity 
were priorities for staff, closely 
followed by healthy eating.  A 
YDHS Health and Wellbeing 
Action Group was established 
and has representation from all 
divisions.  The Group’s first 
priority is to address mental 
health and wellbeing and a 
meeting has been held to 
develop a plan of action.   

 Monitor and publically 
report incidents of 
occupational violence. 
Work collaboratively with 
the Department of Health 
and Human Services to 
develop systems to 
prevent the occurrence of 
occupational violence. 

Develop a system for the 
collection and reporting of 
occupational violence in the 
Quality of Care report. 
 

Completed. The RiskMan 
Incident System currently 
collects incident reports on 
occupational violence as part 
of reported OH&S incidents.  
Care is taken to ensure that 
incidents of aggressive 
behaviour by residents/staff/ 
clients towards staff are 
documented twice in RiskMan, 
one relating to the behaviour 
of, for example, the resident 
(clinical incident), and the other 
recording the impact on the 
staff member involved (OH&S 
incident).  The relevant data is 
easily extracted from RiskMan 
for reporting in the Quality 
Account Report. 

STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES REPORT – Part A 
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Domain Action Deliverable Outcome 
Governance, 
leadership and 
culture 

Promote a positive 
workplace culture and 
implement strategies to 
prevent bullying and 
harassment in the 
workplace. Monitor trends 
of complaints of bullying 
and harassment and 
identify and address 
organisational units 
exhibiting poor workplace 
culture and morale. 

Implement a Management 
Network and Development 
Program across Yarram and 
District Health Service to 
develop the skill and 
capacity of middle 
management to work with 
their teams to understand 
differences and expectations 
and the success factors that 
enhance workplace culture 
and morale. 

Completed. Management 
Network and Development 
Program implemented in July 
2015 is convened each quarter 
with guest presenters. 
Managers also meet mid 
program to implement program 
recommendations. Topics and 
themes covered in the last 12 
months include: Facilitating 
groups and meetings, 
Emotional Intelligence etc. 

Undertake an annual 
board assessment to 
identify and develop board 
capability to ensure all 
board members are well 
equipped to effectively 
discharge their 
responsibilities. 

Evaluate the annual board 
assessment process to 
substantiate the process is 
meeting the objectives. 

Completed. Board Assessment 
process reviewed with the 
Board adopting and developing 
the Department of Health 
Board Assessment Survey in 
May 2016. 

Utilising 2015 benchmarked 
board evaluation results 
produce a board skills 
development plan with key 
performance indicators to 
measure achievement 
against identified skill 
variances. 

Completed. Board 
Development Plan completed.  

Incomplete. Key Performance 
Indicators adopted for Board 
Committees, draft Key 
Performance Indicators for the 
Board in progress. 

Adopt the Healthy 
Choices: Food and Drink 
Guidelines for Victorian 
public hospitals, to 
increase the availability of 
healthy food and drinks for 
purchase by staff, visitors 
and the general public. 

Establish an executive 
sponsored health promotion 
led task group to implement 
the Healthy Choices: Food 
and Drink Guidelines at 
YDHS to increase the 
availability of healthy food 
and drinks for purchase by 
staff, visitors and the general 
public. 

Incomplete. Progress was 
stalled due to a resignation and 
change of health promotion 
officer.  A working group has 
been established and this will 
continue into the 2016 2017 
Plan. 

Safety and quality Ensure management plans 
are in place to prevent, 
detect and contain 
Carbapenem Resistant 
Enterobacteriaceae as 
outlined in Hospital 
Circular 02/15 (issued 16 
June 2015). 

Develop and adopt a policy 
and plan to ensure systems 
exist within Yarram and 
District Health Service to 
prevent, detect and contain 
Carbapenem Resistant 
Enterobacteriaceae (CRE). 

Completed. Review of Multi-
Resistant Organism policy to 
include CRE undertaken 
February 2016. 

Implement effective 
antimicrobial stewardship 
practices and increase 
awareness of antimicrobial 
resistance, its implications 
and actions to combat it, 
through effective 
communication, education, 
and training. 

Review the effectiveness of 
the anti-microbial 
stewardship program to 
identify areas for 
improvement and based on 
this develop service based 
staff education and training. 

Incomplete. Survey to be 
circulated in July 2016 to 
assess staff knowledge and 
experience of YDHS anti-
microbial stewardship 
processes. 

Ensure that emergency 
response management 
plans are in place, 
regularly exercised and 
updated, including trigger 
activation and 
communication 
arrangements. 

Include in Yarram and District 
Health Services’ Emergency 
Response Management Plans 
an annual agenda and a suite 
of key performance indicators 
to monitor and measure the 
exercise, review, trigger 
activation and communication 
arrangements. 

Completed. Emergency Plans 
have been updated, including 
the Bushfire Plan. Mandatory 
Emergency Training has been 
undertaken across the 
organisation utilising the new 
E3 electronic training suite. 

STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES REPORT – Part A
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Domain Action Deliverable Outcome 
Safety and quality  Provide information and 

support about prevention, 
risk factors and early 
detection and 
management of diseases 
by employing a prevention 
and detection approach 
similar to the 'Supporting 
patients to be smoke free: 
an ABCD approach in 
Victorian health services' 
model. 

Implement the 'Supporting 
patients to be smoke free: an 
ABCD approach in Victorian 
health services' model. 
 

Completed. Plan developed for 
how the Resident Admission 
Group will implement the no-
smoking policy when 
assessing applications to our 
Aged Care facilities. 
Further work to be done to 
develop STOP strategies for 
likely residents. 

Financial 
sustainability 

Improve cash 
management processes to 
ensure that financial 
obligations are met as they 
are due. 

Conduct a gap analysis 
between Yarram and District 
Health Service and other 
Small Rural Health Services’ 
performance as reported in 
the Small Rural Health 
Service Monitor to identify 
and implement key areas for 
improvement. 

Completed.  

 Invest in revenue 
optimisation initiatives to 
ensure maximisation of 
revenue from both public 
and private sources. 

Investigate the feasibility of a 
private practice allied health 
service delivery model. 

Completed.  Preliminary 
investigation into establishing 
this process showed that 
YDHS will need to review the 
service delivery model to 
develop and implement a 
collaborative team care 
arrangement with General 
Practitioners (GP). 
Due to GP shortages and the 
current infrastructure issues 
the introduction of MBS for 
allied health has been delayed. 

Implement a system to 
support and maximise 
revenue from private hospital 
patients. 

Completed. A system has been 
introduced to identify and 
service private hospital 
patients. Significant new 
revenue has been achieved 
from this initiative. 

Implement the Energy Plan Incomplete. The Plan is being 
implemented with scoping of 
options undertaken.  
Expressions of Interest sought 
from contractors to develop the 
specification for a preferred 
solution. 

Access Implement integrated care 
approaches across health 
and community support 
services to improve 
access and responses for 
disadvantaged Victorians. 

Develop a service plan that 
profiles current and 
forecasted demand of the 
Yarram and District Health 
Service catchment, and the 
required service 
configuration to address the 
access problems associated 
with disadvantage. 

Incomplete. Service Profile 
completed, Stage 2 Service 
Plan in progress.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Progress partnerships with 
other health services to 
ensure patients can 
access treatments as 
close to where they live 
when it is safe and 
effective to so, making the 

Analyse existing referral 
pathways to identify areas 
where Yarram and District 
Health Service should 
partner and formally explore 
opportunities.  
 

Incomplete. In progress, as 
stage 2 of the Service Profile 
and Service Plan.  

STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES REPORT – Part A 



Yarram and District Health Service 2015-2016 ANNUAL REPORT    13  

Domain Action Deliverable Outcome 
Access most efficient use of 

available resources across 
the system.  

Partner with the 
Strengthening our Region 
Group to identify and 
develop opportunities that 
increase access for our 
community and that 
maximise the efficient 
utilisation of resources. 

Completed and ongoing. 
Opportunities explored within 
the regional group.   
YDHS worked collaboratively 
with South Gippsland Hospital 
to provide a dietician service at 
both facilities, enabling YDHS 
to offer additional hours of 
employment to staff and assist 
in recruitment to the role.  

Improve access to mental 
health and drug and 
alcohol services by linking 
in with Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander 
organisations and other 
drug and alcohol service 
providers. 

Negotiate Memorandums of 
Understanding with Alcohol 
and Other Drug services to 
deliver improved outreach 
services to Yarram.  

Completed. YDHS has an 
agreement with Australian 
Community Support 
Organisation (ACSO) to attend 
YDHS to deliver drug and 
alcohol counselling.  The 
service has been delivered 
every fortnight until May 2016 
but will be decreased in the 
future because there has been 
a lack of referrals to the 
service. 

Implement a social media 
communication strategy to 
communicate the outreach 
alcohol and other drug 
service to the target group. 

Incomplete. YDHS has 2 
Facebook pages and utilises 
these to promote community 
services. 
A new website and social 
media presence is under 
development. The new 
Website will be commissioned 
in August 2016. 

Review acute (including 
specialist clinics) data 
collection and reporting 
practices to facilitate 
greater transparency and 
timely public reporting of 
data. 

Review existing data 
collection processes, design 
and implement a system that 
is robust, transparent and 
manageable in a small rural 
health service setting.   

Incomplete. A process to 
review data across YDHS has 
executive approval and a Plan 
to develop a data management 
position within YDHS 
completed. Recruitment to 
occur Quarter 1 of 2016-2017. 

STATEMENT OF PRIORITIES REPORT – Part A
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Part B: Performance Priorities 

Safety and Quality Performance 
Key Performance Indicator Target 2015-16 Actuals 
Compliance with NSQHS Standards accreditation Full compliance Full compliance 
Compliance with the Commonwealth’s Aged Care 
Accreditation Standards 

Full compliance Full compliance 

Cleaning Standards Full compliance Full compliance 
Compliance with the Hand Hygiene Australia 
program 

80% 88% 

Percentage of healthcare workers immunised for 
influenza 

75% 77.5% 
(as at 30 June 2015) 

Submission of infection surveillance data to 
VICNISS 

Full compliance Full compliance 

Patient Experience and Outcomes Performance 
Key Performance Indicator Target 2015-16 Actuals 
Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – data 
submission 

Achieved Achieved 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – patient 
experience, *Quarter 1 

95% positive experience Not Achieved 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – patient 
experience, *Quarter 2 

95% positive experience Not Achieved 

Victorian Healthcare Experience Survey – patient 
experience, *Quarter 3 

95% positive experience Not Achieved 

*Patient response numbers insufficient for compliance.

Governance, Leadership and Culture Performance 
Key Performance Indicator Target 2015-16 Actuals 
People Matter Survey – percentage of staff with a 
positive response to safety culture questions 

80% 92% 

Financial Sustainability Performance 
Key Performance Indicator Target 2015-16 Actuals 
Finance 
Operating result ($m) 0.005 (0.271) 
Trade Creditors <60 days 45 days 
Patient fee debtors <60 days 52 Days 
Asset Management 
Asset Management Plan Full compliance Compliant 
Adjusted current asset ratio 0.7 1.74 
Days of available cash 14 days 36.6 days 

Part C: Activity and Funding 

Funding type 2015-16 Activity Achievement 
Small Rural Activity Budget ($’000) Actual ($’000) 
Small Rural Acute 543 $4,532 $4,872 
Small Rural Primary Health 2,361 $381 $386 
Small Rural Mental Health $4 $33 
Small Rural Residential Care 21,696 $522 $538 
Small Rural HACC 26,072 $1,035 $990 
Small Rural Health Independence 
program 

3,248 $114 $114 

Health Workforce $8 $9 
Other specified funding $240 $220 
Total Funding $6,837 $7,162 
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The Board 

Dr David Hill 
Position: Chair 
Commenced 2004 
Chair of the Investment Committee and Medical Appointments Committee. 
Ex-officio on the Audit & Risk and Quality Improvement Committees. 
10 Board meetings held; 8 attended.  

Ms Frankie MacLennan 
Position: Deputy Chair 
Commenced 2008 
Member of the Audit & Risk Committee 
10 Board meetings held; 8 attended.  

Mr Trevor Yong 
Position: Board Member 
Commenced 2014 
Member of the Quality Improvement Committee 
10 Board meetings held; 8 attended.  

Ms Robyn McLachlan 
Position: Board Member 
Commenced 2010 
Member of the Audit & Risk Committee 
10 Board meetings held; 7 attended. 
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The Board 

Mr Shaun Braybrook 
Position: Board Member 
Commenced 2011 
Member of the Quality Improvement Committee and Medical Appointment 
Committee 
10 Board meetings held; 8 attended. 

Dr Rosemary Irving 
Position: Board Member 
Commenced 2011 
Chair of the Quality Improvement Committee 
10 Board meetings held; 6 attended.  

Mrs Vicki McLeod 
Position: Board Member 
Commenced 2012 
Member of the Investment Committee and Medical Appointments 
Committee 
10 Board meetings held, 7 attended. 
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Administrative Structure and Relevant Ministers

Board Members 
Dr D Hill Chair 
Ms F MacLennan Deputy Chair 
Mr T Yong 
Ms R McLachlan 
Mr S Braybrook 
Dr R Irving 
Mrs V McLeod 

Audit & Risk Committee Independent 
Members 

Mr Garry Stephens Chair 
Mr John Hirt 
Mr Clive Wort 

Past Presidents 
1916 - 1918 Mr AH Moore 
1918 - 1920 Mr CJ Stockwell 
1920 - 1921 Mr TG McKenzie 
1921 - 1923 Mr AH Moore 
1923 - 1928 Mr WL Moore 
1928 - 1929 Mr E Skinner 
1929 - 1938 Mr AH Moore 
1938 - 1941 Mr WL Moore 
1941 - 1954 Mr AH Moore 
1954 - 1962 Mr D McLeod 
1962 - 1968 Mr AR Anderson 
1968 - 1970 Mr MJ Pearson 
1970 - 1973 Mr WJ Moore 
1973 - 1984 Mr SB Walpole 
1984 - 1986 Mr AP Moore 
1986 - 1989 Mr WJ Boddy 
1989 - 1999 Mr WT Bodman 
2000 - 2001 Mrs FW Dawson 
2001 - 2001 Mr WT Bodman 
2001 - 2010 Mrs JL Clarke 
2010 - 2011 Mr MD Moore 
2011 – current Dr D Hill 

Auditor 
Auditor General of Victoria 
Agent: Crowe Horwath, Warragul 

Director Medical Services: 
Dr C Winter, MB BS, GMQ, MBA, FACEM 

Senior Officers   
Chief Executive Officer: 
Ms C Boag, RN, BHSc, Grad Dip HSc, GAICD 

Director of Primary Care: 
Ms Bernadette Kennedy, RN, 
Grad Cert Public Services Management 

Director of Nursing & Residential Care: 
Mr R Barker, RN, BN, Dip.MS 

Director of Corporate Services: 
Mr J Wilson, Dip Human Resources, CAHRI, AIMM 

Responsible Ministers: 
Federal Ministers: 
The Hon Sussan Ley MP, Minister for Health and 
Minister for Ambulance Services 
The Hon Alan Tudge MP, Minister for Human Services 

State Ministers: 
The Hon Jill Hennessy MLA, Minister for Health 
The Hon Martin Foley MLA, Minister for Mental 
Health and Minister for Housing, Disability and 
Ageing 
The Hon Jenny Mikakos MLC, Minister for 
Families and Children, and Minister for Youth 
Affairs 

Visiting Medical Officers: 
Dr G Petrov, MB BS  

Dr S Khan, MB BS  

Dr C Luiz, MB BS 

Dr H Qubian, MB ChB 

Dr K Mandaleson, MB BS 

Dr M Bourke, (locum) 

Dr H Hay, (locum) 

Dr G Dias, (locum) 

Dr P Atkinson (locum) 

Dr L Cadzow (locum) 

Dr A Chan (locum) 

Dr L Ng (locum) 

Dr M Scrace (locum) 

Dr Q Miles (locum) 

Dr I McConachie (locum) 
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Organisational Structure 

 

  

Medical Appointments 
Committee

Quality Improvement  
Committee

Executive Committee Audit & Risk 
Committee

Investment 
Committee

Director Medical Services
Craig Winter

Director Corporate Services
Jim Wilson

Director Primary Care
Bernadette Kennedy

Director Nursing and 
Residential Care

Robert Barker

Chief Executive Officer
Colleen Boag

Board

Direct Care Staff

Inpatients/Residents

Non admitted patient 
services

Dialysis Services

Urgent Care

Graduate Nurse Program

Residential Activities

Infection Control

Clinical Support/Education

Inpatients Dietetics

Administrative Services

Maintenance Services

Environmental Services

Food Services

Stores and Supply

Human Resources

Occupational Health & Safety

Finance Services

Payroll Services

Residential Aged Care Administration

Volunteer Coordination

Visiting Medical Officers

Medical Services

Safety, Quality & Risk 
System Coordinator

Administrative Support
Clinical Coding

Executive Assistant

Youth and Family Services

Assessment

Intake

Home Support Services

Emergency Relief

Community Nursing

Maternal & Child Health

Care Coordination

Allied Health Services

Planned Activity Groups

Yarram Medical Centre
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Quality Account 
Report prepared by Ms Kerrie Mitchell 
Safety, Quality & Risk Systems Coordinator 

The Quality Account provides information to our community 
about the safe and high quality care provided at YDHS. 
The content of this report reflects the Department of Health 
and Human Services Victorian quality account reporting 
guidelines 2015-2016.  Last year’s Quality of Care Report, 
combined with the Annual Report, was distributed: 
• Via our website at www.ydhs.com.au
• By mail
• To all new staff and volunteers
• In the reception areas of the Yarram Medical Centre,

King Street Medical Practice, Bakers, and YDHS.
• At the Annual General Meeting held in November

2015

An evaluation form was included in the report, however no 
feedback was received. To provide feedback on this year’s 
report please complete and return the evaluation form on 
page 25 or email your comments to ydhs@ydhs.com.au

Participation 
YDHS provides services to a broad community. It needs to 
ensure that the services provided are safe, of high quality 
and meet the needs of the community.  Participation starts 
with the patients, residents and clients who receive care 
and services, along with their family and carers.  
YDHS welcomes input from all service users and members 
of the public. For example: 
• Patients are invited to provide feedback during their

stay in hospital, and by a telephone survey after
discharge from hospital.  If concerns are raised these
are followed up and actioned quickly.  All feedback
provided is respected and confidentiality is
maintained.

• Both St. Elmo’s Nursing Home and Crossley House
Hostel hold regular meetings with the residents and
their family members / carers.  Residents and their
families are encouraged to participate and be
involved in these meetings, to provide positive
feedback on what is working well or constructive
feedback to improve service delivery.

• Patients, residents and clients participate in other
surveys and questionnaires, with the health service
acting on the feedback where possible. One of these
surveys is the Victorian Healthcare Experience
Survey, for acute patients. Due to the small number
of YDHS participants in this survey, YDHS has not
received any aggregated comparative data from the
survey process.

• YDHS is extremely fortunate to have a very dedicated
group of volunteers who contribute significantly to the
health service.  Volunteers are valued highly not only for
the support they provide to the health service, but also
because they can act as a communication channel to
and from YDHS with the wider community.

• The Board is made up of members predominantly from
our Community who volunteer their time, knowledge and
expertise to provide the highest level of governance
within YDHS.

Participation cont’d 
• The Consumer Partnership Committee has a key role

at YDHS. The members, who are volunteers, are
representative of our community and provide us with
invaluable advice and feedback, including advice on
our publications for patients and clients. Several
members of this Committee also participate in other
YDHS committees, providing a respected consumer
perspective at these forums.  The Committee forms a
means of two-way communication, with members
able to provide community comment and feedback
directly to YDHS and to act as a voice back to the
community from YDHS. In addition, the Committee
reviews YDHS reports and plans, including the
Cultural Diversity Plan and the Strategic Plan.

YDHS provides equitable access to services to people from 
culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds, including 
people with disabilities and will not discriminate, directly or 
indirectly against people who do not speak English well or at 
all, or use a form of sign language. An accredited Interpreter 
Service is utilised when required. Over the 12 month 
reporting period, there was one occasion where the 
Interpreter Service was required. 

YDHS actively promotes the Australian Health Care Charter 
incorporating the value of receiving feedback from our 
patients, residents, families, carers and visitors. This can be 
verbal or written feedback, such as compliments or 
complaints.   The following graph demonstrates the number 
of compliments and complaints received for the 12 month 
period across all YDHS services.   

The number of compliments received was 51 compared to 
14 complaints. Compliments were in relation to the high 
standard of treatment, care and services provided, ongoing 
care, conduct of staff, cleanliness and meals. Complaints 
were in relation to care received, conduct of staff, access to 
treatment and communication.  Feedback forms are 
available throughout YDHS and can also be obtained via the 
YDHS website 

http://www.ydhs.com.au/
mailto:ydhs@ydhs.com.au
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Quality Account 
Report prepared by Ms Kerrie Mitchell 
Safety, Quality & Risk Systems Coordinator 

Feedback from our staff 
In January 2016, YDHS staff were invited to participate in 
the YDHS Staff Climate Survey.  The questions in the 
survey were tailored to measure relevant aspects of the 
YDHS as a workplace, including how satisfied employees 
are, workplace wellbeing, employee commitment and 
perceptions of how well change is managed. A total of 66 
(approximately 30%) staff provided responses to the 
survey. 95% indicated that they are satisfied or very 
satisfied in their work at YDHS. 93% indicated that they are 
happy in the workplace.  97% responded that they always 
strive to provide person centred care. 97% indicated that 
they suggest improvements when they see that something 
can be improved. 45% of staff responding to the survey 
provided direct clinical care to patients, residents or clients.  
As an outcome from the 2014 People Matter Survey, a 
‘Management Network for Professional Development 
Program’ was implemented in July 2015. This program 
provides a forum for senior staff within YDHS to share their 
professional experience and learn from one another in a 
supportive environment. 

Quality and safety 
All YDHS staff are responsible for the quality and safety of 
the care and services they provide. YDHS is responsible 
for ensuring that the staff employed are appropriately 
qualified for their role, and where relevant, maintain up-to-
date professional registration and work within their scope 
of practice.  Staff are supported in their roles by the 
provision of education and training, so that the care and 
services they provide reflects current best practice.  A 
major change occurred in the way staff are educated with 
the implementation of E3 Learning.  This provides staff 
with on-line access to relevant training modules.  The 
courses required to be completed via the E3 Learning 
System are allocated for each individual staff member. The 
system maintains a record of all education undertaken, 
provides staff with certificates of completion and provides 
reports for management to monitor the completion of 
education modules. 

Policies, procedures and systems are regularly reviewed to 
ensure that they are current and also reflect best practice.   
A ‘no blame’ culture exists for reporting incidents, so that 
preventative steps can be taken to prevent the same type 
of incident occurring again.  Feedback from patients, 
residents, clients and their families / carers plays an 
important role in providing high quality and safe care and 
services. A range of audits are conducted to measure the 
status of compliance with standards, policy and 
procedures. A review of the audit schedule was undertaken 
to streamline the audit process. The Clinical Committee 
structure was modified with the formation of the Clinical 
Standards Committee commencing in February 2016.  This 
Committee incorporates the clinical governance role 
previously undertaken by the Medication Advisory, Falls 
Prevention and Management, Pressure Injury Prevention 
and Management, Infection Control and Patient Safety 
Committees.  In addition, the Resident Safety Committee 
provides clinical governance for residential services. 
Information is provided to the Board through the Board 
Quality Committee. 

A new electronic system for monitoring compliance with 
legislation was implemented. 

Continuity of Care 
YDHS provides a broad range of services to the 
community.  This encompasses acute care provided 
through the Urgent Care Department or via admission to 
hospital.  The Transitional Care Program provides older 
people with short term support and active management to 
reduce the need for an extended stay in hospital or 
premature admission to residential care. Community 
services, including Home and Community Care and 
Community Nursing provide services to clients outside the 
hospital setting.  Allied health services are available in the 
hospital, community and residential settings. Aged Care 
residential services are provided by both Crossley House 
Hostel and St. Elmo’s Nursing Home. Youth and Family 
services and the Yarram Medical Centre provide primary 
care and services to clients. Because of the diversity of 
services provided, the continuation of care for patients, 
clients and residents is streamlined, as there is minimal 
reliance on other providers other than YDHS to deliver 
care.  Patients and residents may be transferred for some 
radiological services e.g. CT scan, or for higher level 
medical care or surgery.  Planning for discharge from 
hospital for admitted patients involves a multi-disciplinary 
group of staff who work with the patient and their doctor to 
develop the best discharge plan and to ensure that 
services are in place (if required) as soon as the patient 
gets home.  

Infection prevention and control 
One of the most important systems in place, to keep 
everybody safe, is infection prevention and control.  The 
Infection Control Nurse plays a major role in ensuring that 
staff are up-to-date with the latest infection prevention and 
control requirements. 

Effective hand hygiene is the single most important 
strategy in preventing health care associated infections. 
Hand hygiene is a general term referring to any action of 
hand cleansing.  

http://www.google.com.au/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwiV4JW5wurNAhUJJ5QKHbuHD8AQjRwIBw&url=http://cleaning.lovetoknow.com/Slideshow:Proper_Hand_Washing_Technique&psig=AFQjCNGcu6O-XkKh86MV9XK1xCShdcuXHg&ust=1468295733876258
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Quality Account 
Report prepared by Ms Kerrie Mitchell 
Safety, Quality & Risk Systems Coordinator 

Infection prevention and control cont’d 
It includes: 

• Washing hands with the use of water and soap or a
soap solution, either non-antimicrobial or antimicrobial
or

• Applying a waterless antimicrobial hand rub to the
surface of the hands (e.g. alcohol-based hand rub).

When performed correctly, hand cleaning results in a 
reduction of microorganisms (bacteria, virus) on hands, 
which has a positive outcome on reducing infection rates 
in health services 

Five ‘Moments’ for Hand Hygiene have been identified as 
the critical times when Hand Hygiene should be performed. 
The five moments are: 
1. Before touching a patient
2. Before a procedure
3. After a procedure or body fluid exposure risk
4. After touching a patient
5. After touching a patients surroundings

YDHS participates in the Hand Hygiene Australia auditing 
process and reports data three times a year to Hand 
Hygiene Australia. The audit involves the Infection Control 
Nurse observing staff during each of the five ‘moments’ 
and reporting the overall compliance of staff with their hand 
hygiene, before and after patient contact.   

The following results demonstrate that YDHS has achieved 
higher than the National target (80%) in each audit period 

Audit 3 
 October 2015 

Audit 1 
 March 2016 

Audit 2 
June 2016 

82.1% 82.1% 100 % 

Visitors who are unwell (e.g. have chest infection, flu or cold, 
gastroenteritis) should refrain from social visits to the health  

service until well again to protect vulnerable patients and 
residents.  It is important for visitors to clean their hands 
as they enter and leave YDHS.  Bottles of hand rub are 
located in all patient care areas and in high traffic areas, 
and hand basins are located throughout YDHS.   

Visitors should clean their hands: 
• After going to the toilet
• After blowing their nose
• After smoking
• After handling/patting animals
• Before, during and after preparing food
• When hands are visibly dirty (using soap and

water).

In the 12 month reporting period there were no cases of 
Staphylococcus aureus bacteraemia. 

Another way to keep everyone safe from infection is to 
encourage as many staff as possible to be vaccinated 
against influenza (flu).  At 30 June 2016 YDHS had 
achieved an 88% participation rate for staff influenza 
vaccination, exceeding the 75% target set by the 
Department of Health and Human Services. 

In order to protect residents in St. Elmo’s Nursing Home 
and Crossley House Hostel from influenza, residents are 
offered vaccination on an annual basis. In 2016, 93% of 
residents in Crossley House Hostel and 95% of 
residents in St. Elmo have received the influenza 
vaccination.   

Internal and external cleaning audits consistently 
demonstrate excellent results. The annual external 
cleaning audit in 2015 provided an overall hospital score 
of 97% for YDHS high risk and moderate risk areas, 
where 85% is considered an acceptable result.  
Therefore our score was 12% above the acceptable 
result. 

Preventing injuries from falls 
In 2013, the National Safety and Quality Health Service 
Standards were implemented into health services across 
Australia.  When surveyed in September 2014 against 
National Standard 10 – ‘Preventing Falls and Harm from 
Falls’, YDHS met all of the core and developmental actions 
for the standard. Whilst the aim is to prevent falls from 
occurring, this is not always possible so it is important to try 
and reduce the level of injury from falls when they do occur. 
Common risks for falls include impaired vision, poor 
balance, muscle weakness, reduced bone density, 
continence issues, delirium, sepsis and taking particular 
medications. The more risk factors an individual has the 
greater the risk of falls and harm from falls. People who 
have a high risk of falling are identified very early in their 
hospital stay and a prevention plan is put in place for them.  
Educating staff, patients, residents and clients is vital in the 
prevention of falls.
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Quality Account 
Report prepared by Ms Kerrie Mitchell 
Safety, Quality & Risk Systems Coordinator 

Preventing injuries from falls cont’d 
The Clinical Standards Committee and the Resident Safety Committee review the systems, procedures and equipment that 
can help to prevent falls from occurring, and minimise harm when falls take place. 

The Acute Ward, Crossley House Hostel and St. Elmo’s Nursing Home reported a combined total of 159 falls within the 12 
months.  Of these, 155 (97.5 %) falls resulted in no injury or minor injury (bruise, skin tear).  Four falls (2.5%) resulted in 
more serious injuries with three residents sustaining fractures from their falls and one resident requiring medical attention 
within the hospital setting as demonstrated in the table below. 

It should be noted that YDHS encourages residents, particularly in Crossley House Hostel to be as independent as possible 
in their own home, which carries a small risk of falls. 

Falls in 2015 / 2016 

Location Acute ward 
St. Elmo’s Nursing 

Home 
Crossley House 

Hostel 
TOTAL 

Number of falls 35 32 92 159 
Number of falls with 
serious injury 0 2 2 4  

The number of falls that occur in Acute are compared to the number reported by peer group health services through the 
Australian Council on HealthCare Standards (ACHS) Clinical Indicator Program.   The number of falls in YDHS Acute for 
July to December 2015 (19 falls with rate of 1.52%) was reported by ACHS as being statistically different to the peer 
group (rate of 0.63%).  A review of the falls has demonstrated that cognitive impairment may have been a contributing 
factor in many of these falls.  A Cognitive Impairment project is now underway which will further consider how to reduce 
falls occurring. 

The number of falls in St. Elmo’s Nursing Home and Crossley House Hostel are compared on a quarterly basis to the 
Victorian Quality Indicator program for Public Sector Residential Aged Care Services (PSRACS) – please refer to data 
on page 24. 

Pressure injury prevention  
Pressure injuries are also known as Pressure Sores or 
Pressure Ulcers.  Unrelieved pressure or friction can cause 
damage to the skin and sometimes the underlying tissue. 
They occur most commonly over bony areas such as the 
sacral area (the area at the base or bottom of the spine) 
and heel, but they can develop anywhere on the body.   

As with falls, there are people who are more prone to 
develop pressure injuries. People with one or more of the 
higher risk characteristics are at increased risk, such as:  
• Not capable of moving independently
• Have loss of sensation or poor circulation
• Have skin that is frequently moist through perspiration

or loss of bowel / bladder control
• Poor nutrition
• Prolonged illness.

YDHS met all of the core and developmental actions for 
National Standard 8 – ‘Preventing and Managing Pressure 
Injuries’ when surveyed in September 2014.  The Clinical 
Standards Committee and the Resident Safety Committee 
review the systems, procedures and equipment that can 
prevent pressure injuries from occurring; ensuring that 
management of a pressure injury will result in healing as 
quickly as possible. The aim is to have zero pressure 
injuries. 

Sometimes patients are admitted to YDHS with a pre-
existing pressure injury, either from home or from  
another health service.  In this 12 month period, four 
patients in Acute had pressure injuries on arrival at 
YDHS and two patients acquired a pressure injury 
while in hospital at YDHS. 

No pressure injuries were acquired in Acute during 
July to December 2015. When this zero result was 
reported to the Australian Council on HealthCare 
Standards (ACHS) Clinical Indicator Program the peer 
group result was 0.09% compared to our 0.00 % result.

Stage 1 Pressure Injury: usually over bony 
areas; colour differs from surrounding area. 
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Quality Account 
Report prepared by Ms Kerrie Mitchell 
Safety, Quality & Risk Systems Coordinator 

Pressure Injury Prevention cont’d 
One resident with a pressure injury was reported in Crossley 
House Hostel and seven residents with pressure injuries 
were reported in St. Elmo’s Nursing Home for the same time 
period. 

The number of pressure injuries in St. Elmo’s Nursing Home 
and Crossley House Hostel are compared on a quarterly 
basis to the Victorian Quality Indicator program for Public 
Sector Residential Aged Care Services (PSRACS) - please 
refer to data on page 24. 

Medication safety 
Only appropriately qualified clinical staff can administer 
medications in accordance with legislation and professional 
requirements. YDHS has a broad range of systems, policies 
and procedures in place to assist staff in the safe 
administration of medication to patients, residents and 
clients.  
YDHS constantly monitors medication safety by undertaking 
a range of audits.  If an error occurs with medication, an 
incident report is completed. Audit results and medication 
incidents are reviewed and monitored at YDHS by the 
Clinical Standards Committee and the Resident Safety 
Committee. 
Two medication related incidents were reported for the year 
in the Acute Ward. There was either minimal or no impact 
on patients from the incidents.  Thirteen medication 
incidents involving residents were reported in St. Elmo’s 
Nursing Home and 13 in Crossley House Hostel. There was 
either minimal or no impact on residents from these 
incidents. 

Use of physical restraint 
The Department of Health and Human Services requires 
that YDHS report on the use of physical restraint in this 
report. In accordance with best practice, YDHS does not 
use physical restraint on patients or residents. 

Safe and appropriate use of blood and blood products 
Blood is a precious resource and the aim is to keep blood 
wastage very low. 
During 2015-2016 a total of 133 blood products were 
ordered with 126 blood products used. No blood products 
were wasted. Three units of packed cells were returned to 
the Blood Bank at their request. Four bottles of Albumin 
were returned to the Central Gippsland Health Service 
Pharmacy to prevent wastage.  Of the 126 blood products 
used, one adverse event was reported which may have 
been a transfusion reaction and from which no harm 
resulted. 
YDHS participates in the Department of Health and Human 
Services ‘Blood Matters – Better, Safer Transfusion 
Program’ that demonstrates our compliance with specific 
standards in relation to how we manage blood products and 
the transfusion process, including documentation. 

Other Measures in Residential Care 
St. Elmo’s Nursing Home (SENH) and Crossley House 
Hostel (CHH) participate in regular auditing and report to the 

Victorian Quality Indicator program for Public Sector 
Residential Aged Care Services (PSRACS). Two 
additional indicators not already reported in this Quality 
Account are unplanned weight loss and also residents 
who take nine or more medications.  Residents who are 
found to have unplanned weight loss are referred to the 
Dietitian for review and other measures are put in place 
as appropriate for that resident.  Where possible, the aim 
is to reduce the number of medications a resident takes, 
if they are on nine or more medications. Consultation 
occurs with the medical officer to determine if a 
reduction of medications is possible - please refer to 
data on page 24. 

Accreditation 
Industry standards are required to be met in the health sector 
to provide assurance to everyone that organisations are 
providing services and care at a required level of quality and 
safety. YDHS participates in a range of accreditation 
processes and the current status of accreditation is as 
follows:  
• A self-assessment was submitted to ACHS in July 2015

to report progress on recommendations made during
the EQuIPNational Survey in September 2014.  The
recommendations related only to developmental
standards.  Work has continued on those
recommendations which are now considered to be
complete.

• YDHS is changing from EQuIPNational to National
Standards accreditation from 2016 therefore a progress
report will be submitted to ACHS in 2016 and a full
survey against the 10 National Standards will be
undertaken in 2017.

• St. Elmo’s Nursing Home achieved full accreditation
with no recommendations, in May 2015. The next full
survey is due in August 2018.

• Crossley House Hostel, having undergone full
accreditation survey in May 2014, is accredited until
July 2017.

• St. Elmo’s Nursing Home and Crossley House Hostel
both received an unannounced support visit from the
Australian Aged Care Quality Agency on 19 January
2016 with no issues identified.

• Youth and Family Services is to undergo full survey in
September 2016 against the Department of Human
Services Standards for Child and Family Programs and
Housing Programs.

The Yarram Medical Centre is accredited with Australian 
General Practice Accreditation Limited until January 2017, 
against the Royal Australian College of General Practitioners 
standards for general practices and will undergo full survey in 
2016. 
Advance Care Planning and End of Life Care 
YDHS staff have made significant progress in the 12 month 
period establishing policy, documentation and systems to 
support clients, patients and residents having an Advance 
Care Plan.  The number of Acute patients with an Advance 
Care Plan is low at this stage and is expected to increase 
over time.  This will be monitored more closely in the future 
with the requirement from the 1 July 2016 to record the 
presence of an Advance Care Plan for acute patients in iPM 
(the patient information management system).
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Quality Account 
Report prepared by Ms Kerrie Mitchell 
Safety, Quality & Risk Systems Coordinator 

The following table provides a comparison of Crossley House Hostel (Crossley HH) and St Elmo’s Nursing 
Home (St Elmo’s NH) results with data reported by the Public Sector Residential Aged Care Services (PSRACS) 
for 2015/2016 and 2014/2015.  The rates are calculated per thousand bed days.  The PSRACS Actual data is 
the aggregated result of participating Victorian public residential aged care services. All data can be compared to 
the PSRACS Target data which is the benchmark set by the Department of Health and Human Services.  

Falls Falls 
related 

fractures 

Pressure 
Injury 

Stage 1 

Pressure 
Injury 

Stage 2 

Pressure 
Injury 

Stage 3 

Pressure 
Injury 

Stage 4 

9 or more 
medications 

Unplanned 
weight loss 

2015/2016 
Crossley HH Rate  12.10 0.30 0.00 0.15 0.00 0.15 5.02 1.18 
St Elmo’s NH Rate  5.81 0.35 0.35 0.88 0.00 0.18 3.17 1.06 
PSRACS Actual 7.21 0.15 0.35 0.38 0.07 0.02 4.44 0.76 
PSRACS Target 3.30 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.10 0.00 
2014/2015 
Crossley HH Rate  8.04 0.64 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 3.7 1.53 
St Elmo’s NH Rate  9.83 0.22 0.11 0.33 0.00 0.00 2.51 0.44 
PSRACS Actual 7.09 0.15 0.42 0.42 0.07 0.03 4.28 0.71 
PSRACS Target 3.3 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 2.10 0.00 

https://www.google.com.au/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjfhPrn1NbOAhUGGZQKHUcLASMQjRwIBw&url=https://www.hlb.com.au/Market-Sectors/Aged-Care&psig=AFQjCNG-So7zreunyLzs4siG7vBW-c-1Uw&ust=1472011475815585
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We need your feedback 
YDHS relies on your feedback to ensure the Quality Account continues to provide the information you 
want about the safety and quality of your health service. Please complete the form below forward to 
YDHS, PO Box 61, Yarram, 3971. 
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Report on Operations
Primary Care Services 
Report prepared by Ms Bernadette Kennedy 
Director Primary Care 
Areas of responsibility: 
• Home and Community Care Services including Home Care, 

Respite, Personal Care, Assessment & Care Coordination, Meals 
on Wheels, Planned Activity Groups and Social Work. 

• Community Nursing including Palliative Care, Foot Clinic and 
Maternal & Child Health Services 

• Health Promotion and Community Development
• Allied Health, Physiotherapy, Speech Pathology, Occupational 

Therapy, Home & Community Care, Sub Acute Care 
(Rehabilitation) Services 

• Yarram Medical Centre – General Practice, Practice Nursing,
Hosted Services including Audiology, Optometrist and 
Psychology 

• Youth & Family Services – including Housing Support, 
Emergency Relief, Social Work and Integrated Family Services 

The Primary Care Division continues to work 
toward completion of its organisational goals in 
line with the 2015 2018 Strategic Plan.  Progress 
towards these goals during the financial period are 
as follows: 
To provide health care that is responsive to 
people’s needs 
Engage!  Program   
Since its inception in January 2016 The Engage! 
Program has successfully achieved all project 
milestones for the first 6 months of its 2 year 
timeframe.   Following a number of youth engagement 

events facilitated by the 
Youth Engage! Project 
worker 12 individual 
community minded young 
people aged from 13 to 22 
years old formed the Yarram 
Youth United group.  

Yarram Youth United meets every two weeks with the 
Youth Engage! Project Worker to discuss actions to 
implement and drive the Engage! Program.  To date 
Yarram Youth United have participated in skills 
development and leadership training delivered by 
Wellington Shire Officers, including the current Mayor 
Darren McCubbin and the Push in public speaking, 
grant writing, event management and first aid.  This 
initiative of the Engage! Program is to provide young 
people with the skills to facilitate and drive youth 
responses for youth issues.   

Yarram Youth United are on target with the facilitation 
of youth consultations to identify what some of the 
current key issues are affecting young people living in 
the Yarram area.  Yarram Youth United has formed 
strong networks with the Wellington Shire, Wellington 
Youth Council and Yarram Secondary College as a 
strategy to strengthen the project’s sustainability 
beyond the life of Engage!  

As a result of the partnership between Wellington 
Shire and The Engage! project Yarram Youth United 

were allocated $3,000 of Wellington Shire Council 
FreeZA funding to run events in Yarram.   

Yarram Youth United held its first FreeZA event in 
June 2016.  The event attracted over 80 youth from 
around the Yarram area.  A survey was conducted by 
Yarram Youth United during the FreeZA which resulted 
in 50 completed surveys identifying priority areas for 
youth at Yarram.  Results of all youth consultations will 
be used to develop a Yarram Youth Action Plan to 
present to Wellington Shire Council and support 
project implementation.   

To improve our community’s health status 
and experience 
Dementia care 
To achieve best outcomes for clients with dementia, 
there is a need for effective care planning. Assessment 
staff have attended a variety of dementia programs 
over the past year and actively liaised with local 
dementia support services to ensure consistent care 
for clients and their carers. Care coordination has 
created and shared resources to relevant services 
within YDHS including a variety of flow charts for 
dementia referral and management pathways. This will 
enable all services to increase their knowledge of 
referral and management processes.  

Infection control in the community setting 
The community nursing team wanted to ensure they 
were maintaining best practice infection control 
procedures in the community setting, including hand 
hygiene and standard and transmission based 
precautions. With the assistance of the infection 
control nurse, a review of practice was undertaken to 
ensure compliance with best practice.  As a result 
some procedures were adapted, community nurses 
attended in-service training and were provided with 
additional educational materials for further reading. As 
part of the process an annual audit of the store room 
was implemented to ensure compliance with Australian 
Standards

FreeZa Fluro party by Yarram Youth United 
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Report on Operations 
Primary Care Services 
To improve our community’s health status and 
experience cont’d 
Parenting Program  
In March 2016 Integrated Family Services identified a 
need for a Parenting Program to be facilitated in Yarram 
to provide families with strategies to enhance protective 
factors and support parents to introduce new and/or more 
effective routines.    

 
A 6 week Parent Zone program was held every Friday 
between May and June 2016 at the Yarram Hub Centre.  
Nine families registered for the sessions, with attendance 
varying across the duration of the program.  At the end of 
the 6 weeks all participants reported increased 
understanding and knowledge on how their own 
behaviour can influence and impact on their children.  
They reported better understanding of their children’s 
behaviour and how to influence this, developed new 
parenting skills and knowledge that encourage, support, 
define and enhance the family unit as a whole. 
 
To develop our services, workforce and system 
capacity to deliver person-centred care and 
services at every level 
Aged Care Reforms 
The Aged Care Reforms mean there are changes 
occurring within our service to ensure we are ready for 
the transition from Home and Community Care (HACC) to 
the Commonwealth Home Support Program (CHSP). To 
prepare for the changes that will be implemented 1 July 
2016 staff have had education on client directed goal 
setting and attended general updates at team meetings 
over the past 12 months. The transition will not impact on 
service delivery but does require changes for reporting. 
 
Active Service Model 
YDHS has been delivering service within the Active 
Service Model (ASM) for the last five years. The ASM 
focuses on promoting client capacity and potential to 
make gains in their wellbeing, both physically and 
mentally.  To promote this model further amongst our 
staff, we have introduced an electronic orientation 
program that is a compulsory learning unit for new staff, 
and is also available to existing staff as a refresher. The 
program is easily accessed via computers in the new  

YDHS Learning Lab and can be undertaken at their 
own pace. 100% of existing HACC staff have 
completed the refresher. 
 
Building staff capacity: Graduate Education 
Program 
The graduate education program was developed 
and implemented in Occupational Therapy and 
Physiotherapy, and in 2016 it was extended to 
include Speech Pathology. The program aims to 
improve clinical skills and professional knowledge, 
and foster life-long learning and reflective practice. 
The range of practice covered in the program 
reflects the generalist case-load experienced by 
YDHS speech pathologists, including adult and 
paediatric clients in the areas of speech, language, 
fluency, dysphagia, voice and multi-modal 
communication. The graduate program 
encompasses evidence-based practise by engaging 
in research and professional development, as well 
as a commitment to quality improvement activities.  
 
Referral Pathways and Response to Family 
Violence 
Streamlining YDHS referral pathways and 
response to Family Violence (FV) was identified by 
Youth & Family Service (Y&FS) as a priority project 
for this financial year.  A meeting was held in 
March 2016 between Quantum Family Violence, 
YDHS Community Nurse Coordinator, Maternal & 
Child Health Nurse (MCHN) and Youth & Family 
Services Coordinator to discuss existing family 
violence risk indicators, alerts and referral 
pathways within YDHS.  Although both Y&FS and 
MCHN have alert mechanisms within their intake 
and assessment process the response and referral 
pathway was not clear and consistent across both 
services within YDHS.    Y&FS have a very clear 
response process if risk of FV is identified which 
includes completing a preliminary CRAF (Crisis 
Response Assessment Framework) to assess the 
level of risk, reporting any incident of family 
violence to DHHS Child Protection if children are 
involved or are witness to family violence, obtaining 
consent from the ‘victim’ for a referral to a Family 
Violence Specific Service such as Quantum Family 
Violence and to report to police.  If consent is not 
given and children are not involved all further 
response is voluntary and cannot be enforced on 
the ‘victim’.  In cases where consent is not given 
Y&FS will work with the client to develop a Safety 
Plan and ensure that all interaction is documented 
in the case file.  As a result of the meeting a direct 
referral pathway to Quantum Family Violence 
Services has been established for MCHN and 
Community Nursing.  Further recommendations are 
that relevant staff are trained in CRAF and that a 
policy for the Identification, Response and Referral 
Pathway to Family Violence is developed to ensure 
a consistent response across YDHS services.
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Report on Operations 
Primary Care Services 
To develop our services, workforce and system 
capacity to deliver person-centred care and 
services at every level cont’d 
 
Physiotherapy assessments 
In February 2016, the physiotherapy department in 
conjunction with the Residential Care Co-ordinator 
commenced work to formalise the functional assessment 
of all residents of St Elmo’s and Crossley House. 
Assessment forms with clinical outcome measures, 
allied health directives and mobility care plans have 
been developed and are currently on trial.  All residents 
will have completed the assessment process by the end 
of June, with their annual review dates documented, 
clients with directives for complex care modalities will 
have the directives reviewed every 4 months.  
 
Assessment for aged care services 
The Commonwealth Home Support Program has 
introduced changes to the assessment of persons aged 
over 65 years to make it consistent across Australia. 
This national approach will provide a uniform 
assessment and support model which will enable clients 
to access the same services and support should they 
move anywhere in the country. This is conducted 
through My Aged Care; the national contact centre which 
maintains client records of all service provision and 
through which referrals can be made.  All records can be 
accessed by the client, client approved service providers 
or their approved family members. The YDHS 
assessment staff attended a training workshop in May 
this year to be prepared to commence using the National 
Screening Assessment Framework from 1 July 2016.  
 
This assessment framework includes a functional 
assessment, identifying client’s aspirations, assisting 
them with goals and developing with them a support plan 
with the ability to measure outcomes over time.  
 
To improve our financial sustainability and 
productivity 
Review of fleet usage 
A review of private vehicle usage showed that staff were 
utilising their own cars for service delivery more than 
using a fleet car. 

To turn this around, an additional car was put into the 

fleet and a review of the system to allocate fleet cars 
to staff on a daily basis was undertaken. This has 
resulted in a reduction in the number of kilometres 
staff are reimbursed for from 3765km in September 
2015 to 1977kms in May 2016.  Utilisation of fleet 
cars will continue to be monitored to ensure we 
optimise our resources. 
 
Emergency Relief Program  
In February 2016 a review of the Emergency Relief 
program was identified as a priority project as a 
result of the program not being utilised for its 
intended purpose to support people experiencing a 
current or immediate crisis.  Presentations to Youth 
and Family Services for  Emergency Relief indicated 
that resources, particularly food vouchers, were 
being accessed by regular service users on a 
monthly basis regardless of a pending crisis or 
not.  This enabled presentations to factor these 
vouchers into their budget and for vouchers to be 
used as trade for cash or other items.   After 
benchmarking YDHS Emergency Relief program with 
other agencies administering Emergency Relief new 
program distribution guidelines were developed to 
come into effect as of 1 July 2016.  Changes to 
distribution of funds include fewer funds directed 
towards the purchase of food vouchers and 
redistribution to the purchase of food staples. This 
decision coincides with the Salvation Army in Sale no 
longer able to provide YDHS with food relief parcels 
as of 1 July, 2016 due to funding cuts to their 
program.    
 
As of 1 July 2016 all new presentations to Youth & 
Family Services for Emergency Relief (ER) will 
continue to complete an initial Intake & Assessment. 
However an additional process, using a new ER 
specific assessment form, will be implemented to 
assess Emergency Relief eligibility.  Clients 
presenting for Emergency Relief will be assessed for 
eligibility on every presentation.  Eligible clients can 
access food vouchers every 3 months rather than 
every month and food parcels and pharmaceutical 
vouchers will be available as required.   The new 
Emergency Relief model is being piloted for 6 
months and will be evaluated in December 2016. 
 
Maternal and Child Health 
The Maternal and Child Health (M&CH) Service 
moved from the YDHS site to the new Yarram District 
Hub in November 2015. This has been a very 
successful move as the increased profile at this 
location has enabled the M&CH Nurse to build good 
relationships with other early childhood services, as 
well as enabling parents to ‘drop in’ when attending 
other services. Following an expression of interest 
from the community, M&CH ran a successful first 
parents program group that consisted of four 
sessions; Meet and Greet; Introducing  Solids; First 
Aid for Children; Baby Massage and introducing 
reading.

  



 

Yarram and District Health Service 2015-2016 ANNUAL REPORT        29      

Report on Operations 
Primary Care Services 
To develop our services, workforce and system 
capacity to deliver person-centred care and 
services at every level cont’d 
 
Occupational therapy presentation  
YDHS Occupational Therapists presented on the 
changes implemented in the fall prevention groups to the 
Gippsland Allied Health Symposium in May 2016. The 
Balance and Mobility group aims to support clients to 
remain as active and independent as possible, reduce 
fear and incidence of falls. Activities within the group are 
now functional, relevant to goals and meaningful daily 
activities of the participants.  
 
To implement continuous improvement and 
innovation in technology, work and clinical 
practices 
The way in which the well-being of the participants is 
monitored has also changed in that vital signs (ie blood 
pressure, heart rate) as identified by the GP, are 
assessed both before and after the group. Since the 
changes were implemented attendance numbers have 
risen, remained high and consistent. Frequency of 
groups has been increased to meet the demand of 
referrals. Client feedback is that the group is enjoyable, 
fun, goals are being met and outcome measures give an 
objective indication of overall functional improvement.  

 

Client information 
A review of the primary care client record filing system 
was undertaken to develop a consistent system that 
meets current legislative and funding body 
requirements including:  
• The archiving method to ensure records are 

systematically archived if they have been non 
active for 7 years; 

• The intake process which now routinely identifies 
financially disadvantaged clients, those at risk of 
homelessness, and that the referral is 
appropriate.   

 
Client files 
A regular client file auditing system was developed to 
monitor documentation, care plans and follow up for 
clients.  
 
To increase accountability and transparency 
to our community 
Primary Care have consolidated the three 
newsletters from Home and Community Care, 
Community Development and Health Promotion 
into one newsletter that provides valuable 
information on services and upcoming events from 
all primary care programs. This can now be 
accessed via the 3971 Facebook page and will be 
available on the new YDHS website when it is 
launched.

 
 
   

Advance Care Planning (ACP) is a way to help people think about, talk about and share their thoughts and 
wishes about their future health care if, in the future they became seriously ill or injured. 
 
An Advance Care Plan is different to a will. An ACP is a guide for care and medical treatment while people are 
alive. A will is only read and serves a purpose after death.  
 
Some of the wishes will be about medical care; others will be about personal matters. For instance:  

• Treatment decisions which are acceptable or not acceptable. 
• Choice about whether people would like to be cared for at home, in hospital or a nursing home and 

would they like to be with family. 
• The things that give their life meaning, and how they want to live well for the rest of their life. 

 
More information can be obtained from the Yarram Medical Centre.  
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Above and right: 2015 YDHS Women’s Wellness 
Forum “No More Elephants” 

 

 

 

 

Bottom left: planting summer vegetable seedlings 
in the Yarram Community Garden. 

Bottom right: 2016 YDHS Easter Tarra Festival 
float. 

Report on Operations 
Improving our community’s health status and experience  
3rd Jean Hailes Women’s Wellness Forum  
In 2015 the event was the best yet, packed with guest speakers, panellist and inspirational women from across all areas 
of life and experience, sharing their stories and discussing “the elephant in the room”. 
 
 

 

 

 

  

WOMEN’S WELLNESS 
FORUM  

‘NO MORE ELEPHANTS’ 

http://www.watties.co.nz/Our-Products/Frozen-Foods/Frozen-Vegetables
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Report on Operations 
Nursing & Residential Care Services 
Report prepared by Mr Robert Barker 
Director of Nursing & Residential Care 
Areas of responsibility: 
• 20 acute inpatient beds including 3 dialysis chairs 
• Urgent Care (averages 110 presentations per month) 
• St Elmo’s Nursing Home (18 high care and 12 low care 

dementia specific beds) 
• Crossley House Hostel (30 low care beds with Ageing in 

Place) 
• Manage a team of approximately 46 FTE (approximate 90 

people) comprising qualified nurses, care assistants, 
diversional therapists, clinical coding, coordinators and 
team leaders. 

 
The Nursing & Residential Care Division works 
within the parameters of the 2015 2018 Strategic 
Plan’s organisational goals.  Progress towards 
these goals during the financial period are as 
follows: 
To provide health care that is responsive to 
people’s needs 
During the past year we have provided a total of 2,389 
inpatient days which when adjusted for same day 
patients means an average length of stay of 5 days 
which compares favourably with last year’s figure. Same 
day patients were primarily dialysis clients with 90% 
occupancy of our three renal dialysis chairs three times 
per week.  This patient focused service prevents local 
people having to travel to bigger hospitals for their life-
saving treatment. 
 
We have had an average of 110 presentations per 
month to our Urgent Care department and although 
many were not triaged as emergencies, 43 were 
transferred urgently to other larger hospitals. The 
majority of presentations were outside business hours 
and ranged from minor ailments to time-critical 
emergencies.  
 
In our residential aged care facilities, staff have received 
additional training to enable them to provide high-quality 
end of life care to our residents in familiar homely 
surroundings and with people they know rather than 
residents having to be transferred elsewhere. 
 
To improve our community’s health status and 
experience 
Influenza vaccination of our residents is an important 
health promotion measure.  In both residential aged care 
facilities vaccination uptake was more than 93%.  
 
At 30 June 2016 YDHS had achieved an 88% 
participation rate for staff influenza vaccination (DHHS 
target 75%).  This was a positive response to a 
successful YDHS campaign to increase staff 
immunisation. 
 
Our Palliative Aged Care Link Nurse group have provided 
end of life education to a broad range of nursing and care 
staff, supported by the regional Project Officer.   
 
Advance Care Planning (ACP) has been a priority across 
the organisation to ensure staff have the training and 

 
 
resources to support clients and patients to “start the 
conversation” and document their wishes about their 
health choices. 

 
To develop our services, workforce and 
system capacity to deliver person-centred 
care and services at every level 
The introduction of an online Learning Management 
system in December 2015 has improved our training 
capacity across all staff groups and nursing staff have 
completed their mandatory competencies to ensure 
high standards of care.  
 
Registered Nurses in the acute ward have completed 
a refresher course in Advanced Life Support which 
increases their ability to respond to emergency 
situations in a timely and practiced manner.   
 
Our Dialysis team continue to provide a much needed 
service to the local community for 3 clients who would 
otherwise have to travel to distant, larger hospitals. 
 
We continue to support the training of Personal Care 
assistants with placements in our Aged Care facilities 
as a means of providing experience to local people 
and possible employment. 
 
We provided financial and practical support for two 
Enrolled Nurse trainees who live locally and whom we 
hope will continue their careers in Yarram. 
 
To improve our financial sustainability and 
productivity 
It is pleasing to note that our income for care of private 
patients is increasing which helps to fund our service 
into the future although low occupancy rates in both St 
Elmo’s Nursing Home and Crossley House have 
significantly reduced our income.  We have managed 
costs carefully across all facilities and especially 
around Inpatient transport, Pharmacy and medical 
supplies to ensure we remain viable. 
 
Our ability to use an in-house online training program 
for much of our staff education means that staff do not 
have to travel from Yarram as often for high quality 
education and reduces the overall costs whilst 
enhancing the breadth of training offered. 
 
To implement continuous improvement and 
innovation in technology, work and clinical 
practices 
Our staff are committed to improving our services 
wherever possible. Our Patient/Resident safety 
meetings allow us to focus on important aspects of 
care that we can measure and improve upon. 
 
E3 Learning online module allows all our staff to 
complete their mandatory competencies in health and 
safety and hand hygiene at work.  Clinical staff 
complete a range of additional training updates and 
competencies to ensure the care they give is safe and 
competent. 
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Report on Operations 
Nursing & Residential Care Services 
To implement continuous improvement and 
innovation in technology, work and clinical 
practices cont’d 
The successful implementation of the patient centred-care 
program, “Hard Wiring for Excellence” into our acute ward 
has focussed our care on patient needs. This model of 
care ensures patients are consulted at least hourly about 
their care, with nursing staff discussing their needs, 
actively assessing them and providing timely assistance.  
 
To increase accountability and transparency to 
our community 
Feedback was received from a range of sources: 
• Informal feedback at point of service by patients and 

residents to staff; 
• Formal feedback using the YDHS Feedback form 
• Consumer representatives at our formal quarterly 

meetings; 
• A number of surveys including monthly bed-side 

surveys of those still in care and monthly post-
discharge surveys for those who have returned 
home.   

 

 

 

All feedback was acknowledged and where necessary 
investigated with a response to the consumer within 
agreed time-frames on all occasions.  This is 
documented electronically with reports provided at 
various levels within the organisation including at staff 
meetings, to Directors and to the Board. 
 
Consumer feedback to our staff is an important part of 
our continuous quality improvement and we thank all 
those who took the time to comment and enable us to 
improve our service. 
 
Last year we participated in a state-wide Department 
of Health and Human Services initiative in health 
literacy for our residential aged care residents. 
Residents were asked to comment on written 
information on how to recognise when they were at 
risk and to manage their own care better. Comments 
were provided on a range of simple measures and we 
received good constructive feedback. The importance 
of consumer input into all we do is recognised and the 
final leaflets are now available to our residents.  

 

  

Simulation Training at LRH - Learning to manage 4 different emergency scenarios.  Left to Right: Liz Brown, Ronnie 
Clarkson, Robyn Godbold (Facilitator), Annelies Titulaer (Simulation Learning Centre Education Coordinator), Virginia 
Newnham and Karen Hurrell. 
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Report on Operations 
Corporate Services  
Report prepared by Mr Jim Wilson 
Director Corporate Services 
Areas of responsibility: 
• Food Services, preparing and delivering approximately 1,389 

main meals per week (2,323 when morning teas are included) 
for Acute, St Elmo’s and Crossley House, also prepare all meals 
for Meals on Wheels (approximate 110 per week). 

• The provision of maintenance services to all Health Service 
properties, buildings and equipment.  

• Reception, Administration, Human Resources, Occupational 
Health and Safety, Environmental Services, Payroll, Stores and 
Finance services to the public and approximately 200 staff; 
Volunteer coordination (of approximately 60 Volunteers) and 
support services ; Aged Care Administration and Information 
Technology. 

• Manage a team of approximately 33 FTE (approximately 42 
people, comprising cleaning, kitchen, maintenance and 
administrative staff and coordinators). 
 

The Corporate Services Division works within the 
parameters of the 2015 2018 Strategic Plan’s 
organisational goals.  Progress towards these 
goals during the financial period is as follows: 

To provide health care that is responsive to 
people’s needs 
The residential admissions process has continued to be 
refined this year to best meet the needs of potential 
residents and their families. Our aim is to ensure that prior 
to admission all Assets tests, Medical Reports (ACAS), 
Powers of Attorney and applications have been completed 
at the time an application is received. 
 
When all documentation is complete applicants are much 
better informed and the process runs more smoothly for 
them. 
 
To improve our community’s health status and 
experience 
Corporate staff have been immunized to assist in reducing 
transmission of influenza to our patients and residents, 
our aim is to ensure that all staff are immunized. 
 
New cleaning techniques and products are also being 
used by our cleaning staff to assist in minimising the risk 
of infection. 
 
To develop our services, workforce and system 
capacity to deliver person-centred care and 
services at every level 
This year Corporate has driven the introduction of new 
technology to enable the training of all staff via electronic 
means.  This project has provided much greater access 
for all staff to a range of training opportunities that didn’t 
previously exist. 
 
A major gain from this project is that staff no longer have 
to travel or incur accommodation costs to attend training.  
As part of the project all staff required email addresses 
and logins to the system.  
 

The benefit of engaging staff in this electronic process is 
that it lifts their skill levels and allows them to participate in 
electronic communication which is essential in workplaces 
today. 

 
Concurrently with the introduction of the E3 electronic 
training system a purpose built training room (Learning 
Lab) was prepared.  As not all staff have access to their 
own computer the Learning Lab contains 7 computers 
which they can use as required. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Above: YDHS e3Learning Learning Lab 

 
To improve our financial sustainability and 
productivity 
This year we have introduced our Private Health 
Insurance initiative which allows patients to utilise their 
Private Health Insurance to pay for their stay in our Acute 
Hospital.  Patients in allowing this to occur are assisting 
YDHS in obtaining additional revenue which we wouldn’t 
otherwise receive. 
 
Benefits for the patients include a Private Room, free 
laundry and newspaper.   
 
To implement continuous improvement and 
innovation in technology, work and clinical 
practices 
A public access Wi-Fi system has been introduced which 
allows members of the public, patients, residents, clients, 
contractors and visitors to connect to the internet free of 
charge while on YDHS premises. 
 
This provides an opportunity for everyone to enjoy the 
benefits of access to the internet and a valuable link for 
patients and residents to the outside world. 
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Report on Operations 
Corporate Services cont’d 
To implement continuous improvement and 
innovation in technology, work and clinical practices 
 
New Website:  
YDHS is developing a new website.  Most of the work has 
been done this year and the new site should be launched 
shortly. 
 
The new site will be modern and feature greater functionality 
and will be easier to use.  The site will be one of the key ways 
YDHS will communicate with its community. 
 
Energy Project 
Work has been undertaken to produce and implement a 
proposal to reduce, with the aim of eliminating, our 
dependence on fossil fuels.  Proposals being considered 
include solar energy, battery and hot water projects.  It is 
expected that a proposal will go to tender in the new financial 
year. 
 
To increase accountability and transparency to our 
community 
Equipment to assist clients to be safely discharged from the 
Acute Hospital has been provided by YDHS in the past.  A 
new policy has been developed which will see YDHS contract 
with commercial providers to undertake this function.  This 
enables YDHS to focus on providing patient care rather than 
housing and maintaining an inventory of contemporary 
medical aids and equipment. 
 
 

  

Above and Below: The 2015 Annual Volunteer Christmas 
celebration included Australian bush poetry and Christmas 
songs by Dr Iain McConachie. 
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Report on Operations 
Improving our community and staff health status and experience 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
. 

  

Visit by Yarram Secondary 
College students (above) 
Thirty Yarram Secondary College 
students toured the main campus of 
YDHS on Friday 10th June 2016 to 
explore the diverse careers offered here.  
Students were divided into groups of 10 
and shown around.  The students were 
impressed by the range of potential 
occupations available, the size of the 
facility and the scope of our services.  
Great feedback was received from the 
College indicating that the students had 
enjoyed their tour and had learnt a lot 
about the role of YDHS in the 
community. 
 
Left: Refurbishment of staff kitchen 

 

National Volunteer Week 
As part of National Volunteer week a function was held for YDHS Volunteers.  
Volunteers were presented with certificates and badges and provided with afternoon 
tea.  The afternoon was enjoyed by all and provided a good opportunity for YDHS to 
communicate its ongoing thanks to these special people. 
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Our Services and where to 
find us 
 
A   Main Entrance: 

Devon Street, Yarram, 3971 
Ph 03 5182 0222 

 
B   Urgent Care & After Hours: 

Nicol Street, Yarram, 3971 
Ph 03 5182 0222 

 
C   Administration Entrance: 

85 Commercial Road, Yarram, 3971 
Ph 03 5182 0222 
 

D   Multi Purpose Centre: 
Commercial Road, Yarram, 3971 
Ph 03 5182 0222 

 
E   Yarram Medical Centre: 

91 Commercial Road, Yarram, 3971 
Ph 03 5182 0333 

 
F   Crossley House: 

14 Nicol Street, Yarram, 3971 
Ph 03 5182 0216 

 
G   Edgar House: 

20 Nicol Street, Yarram, 3971 
Ph 03 5182 0256 

 
H   Bakers Community Service 

Centre: 
 121 Commercial Road, Yarram, 3971 
 Ph 03 5182 0270 

 

 

Keeping in touch with our Community 
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Performance Indicators 
 

Workforce 
 

Labour Category 
JUNE 

Current Month FTE 
JUNE 

YTD FTE 
 2015 2016 2015 2016 

Nursing 34.23 34.58 36.38 35.68 

Administration and Clerical 20.93 20.80 22.38 21.79 

Medical Support 14.63  19.04  

Hotel & Allied Services 25.09 39.00 32.24 46.95 

Medical Officers     

Hospital Medical Officers     

Sessional Clinicians 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 

Ancillary Staff (Allied Health) 18.14 20.80 19.28 21.30 

Total: 113.12 115.28 129.42 125.82 
This report includes casual, part-time and full-time active employees as at 30 June 2015 and excludes overtime.  
Note: PCAs are incorporated under Health & Allied Services 

 
Debtors Outstanding as at 30 June 2016 ($) 

 Under 30 
days 

 
31-60 days 

 
61-90 days 

Over 90 
days 

Total 
30/6/16 

Total 
30/6/15 

Private 110,479 4,593 10,225 16,538 141,835 161,986 

TAC 9,600    9,600 37,738 

VWA       

Other  

Compensable 

      

Psychiatric       

Residential Aged  
Care 

11,459   5,833 17,292 37,611 

 
Activity 
Admitted Patient – Note (a) Acute Sub-Acute Mental 

Health 
Other Total 

Separations 

Same Day (includes Dialysis) 

Multi Day 

Total Separations 

442    442 

300 69   369 
742 69   811 

Emergency 
Elective 
Other inc Maternity 
Total Separations 

154    154 
587    587 

1 69   70 

742 69   811 
Total WIES 336.41    336.41 

Total Bed Days 1,818 836   2,654 
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Performance Indicators 
Revenue Indicators 
 Average Collection Days 

 2015 2016 

Private 48 48 

TAC 59 58 

VWA   

Other Compensable   

Psychiatric   

Residential Aged Care 30 30 

 
 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Total Revenue 12,082 12,412 12,194 11,862 10,702 

Total Expenses 13,386 13,599 13,197 12,711 12,257 

Net Result for the year 
(including Capital and 
Specific items) 

(1,304) (1,187) (1,003) (849) (1,555) 

Retained Surplus 
(Accumulated Deficit) 

(19) 1,285 2,471 3,474 4,322 

Total Assets 24,629 25,464 26,683 28,955 26,711 

Total Liabilities 6,183 5,713 5,746 5,294 4,254 

Net Asset 18,446 19,750 20,937 23,661 22,457 

Total Equity 18,446 19,750 20,937 23,661 22,457 

 
Clinical, Patient Days, Community Service 

  
 

 
2015-2016 

 
2014-2015 

 
2013-2014 

Clinical Services 

Separations  811 744 687 

WIES (Weighted Inlier Equivalent 
Separation) 

 336.41 440.20 423.87 

Inpatient Average Length of Stay DAYS 5.85 4.44 4.98 

Dialysis  405 276 211 

Inpatient Rehabilitation SEPARATIONS 12 11 27 

Patient Days 

Acute  1,818 2,480 3,427 

Nursing Home Type  80 81 28 

Geriatric Evaluation and Management  756 739 754 

St. Elmo’s Nursing Home  7,857 9,948 9,575 

Crossley House Hostel  9,032 8,382 9,224 

Urgent Care Treatment CONTACTS 1,510 1,569 1,490 

Radiology CONTACTS 1,971 2,280 2,259 

Private Patients SEPARATIONS 16 - - 

Private Patients WEIS 16.40 - - 
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Performance Indicators 
Home & Community Care Services 
(HACC) 

 
Measure 

 
Target 2014-2015 2015-2016 

Delivered Meals MEALS 7,383 5,135 4,773 

Allied Health HOURS 2,056 2,420 2,236 

Counselling HOURS 225 249 209 

HACC Assessment HOURS 1,265 1,518 1,465 

Domestic Assistance HOURS 4,598 4,653 4,123 

Nursing at Home & Centre HOURS 2,836 2,599 2,921 

Property Maintenance HOURS 420 443 351 

Personal Care HOURS 2,278 1,790 1,672 

Respite Home HOURS 840 748 468 

Planned Activity Group Core HOURS 3,168 4,233 4,527 

Planned Activity Group High Need HOURS 2,309 2,928 2,196 

Volunteer Coordination HOURS 682 780 682 

Community & Women’s Health     
Counselling and Casework HOURS 659 358 490 

Integrated Chronic Disease HOURS 238 472 215 

Flexible Primary Health Service HOURS 1,219 1968 951 

Sub-Acute Ambulatory Care 
(Rehabilitation Allied Health) 

   
 

SACS EVENTS 2,300 1,882 2,516 

SACS DVA EVENTS 270 0 0 

Emergency Relief CLIENTS N/A 69 422 
SESSIONS N/A 164 497 

Housing Assistance CLIENTS 24 27 29 
PDRSS HOURS 147.50 133.80 139 
Integrated Family Services HOURS 1,650 1,381 402 
Maternal & Child Health – universal CLIENTS 67 42 50 

 

Employment & Conduct Principles 
The organisation has applied the appropriate employment and conduct principles and employees have been correctly 
classified in workforce data collections. 
 
Financial Summary 
Yarram and District Health Service have recorded $270,761 as a net deficit before capital and specific items in 2015/16.   
 
The budgetary objectives for 2015/16 were attained as the organisation achieved its operating deficit of approximately 
$270,761.  There were no events subsequent to balance sheet date that may have a significant effect on the operational 
objectives of the organisation in subsequent years. 
 
Victorian Industry Participation Policy 
The Health Service did not award a contract that required the application of the Victorian Industry Participation Policy. 
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Disclosures 
 

Building Act 1993: 
All buildings of the Health Service comply with the Building 
Act, 1993. The Health Service has a policy of consulting 
architects and engaging registered builders when 
renovating existing buildings or constructing new facilities.  
Plans are submitted to local government for approval and 
building permits issued prior to commencement.   

Carers Recognition Act 2012: 
As a care support organisation, Yarram and District Health 
Service: 
• Takes all practicable measures to ensure that its 

employees and agents have an awareness and 
understanding of the care relationship principles. 

• Takes all reasonable measures to ensure that persons 
who are in care relationships and who are receiving 
services in relation to the care relationship from 
Yarram and District Health Service have an awareness 
and understanding of the care relationship principles. 

• Takes all practicable measures to ensure that Yarram 
and District Health Service and its employees and 
agents reflect the care relationship principles in 
developing, providing or evaluating support and 
assistance for persons in care relationships. 

Competitive Neutrality: 
It is Government policy that the costing policies of publicly 
funded organisations should reflect any competitive 
advantage not available to the private sector. The Yarram 
and District Health Service supports this policy and meets 
its requirements.  

Consultancies Under & Over $10,000: 
Nil  
 
Contractors: 
Nil 
 
Disclosure of Major Contracts: 
Nil 
 
Equal Opportunity Act 2010: 
The Health Service is subject to the requirements of the Equal 
Opportunity Act 2010 and applies appropriate merit and equity 
principles in its management of staff.  The Health Service 
expects all staff to take responsibility for fair, non-
discriminatory behaviour.  The Health Service is also aware of 
its other responsibilities under the Act, eg in terms of non-
discrimination in the provision of goods and services. 
 
Employment and Conduct Principles: 
Merit and equity principles are encompassed in 
employment and are reinforced by our Code of Conduct.  
Employees have been correctly classified in all workforce 
data collections. 

Freedom of Information Act 1982: 
The nominated Freedom of Information Officer is an 
Administration Officer and together with the Director 
Corporate Services has responsibility for Health 
Information Management at the Yarram and District 
Health Service.  During the 2015/2016 financial year 
34 requests for information were received under the 
Freedom of Information Act 1982, 32 requests were 
granted in full. 
 
In addition to requests under the Freedom of Information 
Act 1982, the Health Service recognises requests for 
“release of information” where information is sent directly 
to a designated Medical Practitioner for ongoing care.  
There were 147 requests for release of information this 
year. 
 
National Competition Policy: 
Yarram and District Health Service continues to comply 
with the Victorian Government’s Competitive Neutrality 
Policy. 
 
Occupational Health and Safety: 
Yarram and District Health Service maintains a standing 
Occupational Health and Safety Committee which meets 
at least every two months to assist in consultation and 
discussion, policy, procedure, planning and action around 
Occupational Health and Safety matters. 
 
Key annual Occupational Health and Safety training and 
Workcover performance indicators and their impact on 
outputs are listed below: 
 
Training 
Fire Training: Target 100% of staff – 94% achieved. 
Smart Moves/Manual Handling: Target 100% of clinical 
staff – 97% achieved. 
 
Our high level of training ensures that staff are able to 
care for patients and residents in the event of a fire 
emergency, protect themselves and others in their 
physical handling of patients and residents on a daily 
basis.   
 
This year YDHS introduced the E3 electronic training 
system, this has resulted in much better access for all 
staff for mandatory and elective training.  The system 
also automatically records results of all training, making 
them easily available for reporting purposes. 
 
Workcover 
Number of standard claims: Target 0 – Achieved 1, 
(previous year 1) 
Days lost: Target 0 – Achieved 12, (previous year 91) 
 

  



 

Yarram and District Health Service 2015-2016 ANNUAL REPORT        41      

Disclosures 
 
Office Based Environment Impacts: 
YDHS records, monitors and manages the volume of 
electricity, LPG and water used with a view towards 
continual reduction.  Reduced use of these key 
consumables assists in minimising our impact upon the 
environment and our costs.  In the 2015/16 year total 
carbon emissions for electricity was 506 tonnes.  Water 
use during 2015/16 was 12,492 kilolitres.  YDHS will 
continue to aim to reduce energy and water use.  YDHS 
currently operates a recycling programme which sees 
recyclables separated and delivered to the Yarram 
Transfer Station for recycling. 
 
Protected Disclosures Act 2012: 
Yarram and District Health Service has developed a 
procedure for the protection of individuals from detrimental 
action.  The procedure is available on the Yarram and District 
Health Services website and is contained in the 
organisation’s policy and procedure manual. 
Donations: 
The Yarram and District Health Service gratefully 
acknowledges the support of individuals, families and 
organisations who gave donations of cash or equipment 
during the past year.   
They are: 

• Apex Club of Yarram 
• BS Hudson Estate 
• Carol Hobson 
• Colleen Boag 
• Dawn Bragg 
• Judith & Paul McAninly 
• Equity Trustees 
• Erickson Estate 
• Jordan Janevich 
• Lions Club of Yarram 
• Lynda Patterson 
• Legacy Yarram 
• Presbyterian Church Yarram 
• Rotary Barrel 
• Rotary Club of Yarram 
• Russell Woodburn 
• Trevor Klitzing 
• Woodside Community Fundraiser 
• Yarram Carers 
• Yarram Country Club  
• YDHS Waratah Hospital Auxiliary 
 

Risk Management: 
The Yarram and District Health Service is subject to Direction 
4.5.5 requiring departments and agencies to implement and 
maintain certain risk management governance, systems and 
reporting requirements.  The Yarram and District Health 
Service attests that its risk identification and management 
plans are consistent with the relevant national standards. 
 

 
 

 
 
Additional Information FRD 22E: 
In compliance with the requirements of FRD 22E Standard 
Disclosures in the Report of Operations, details in respect 
of the items listed below have been retained by Yarram and 
District Health Service and are available to relevant 
Ministers, members of Parliament and the public on 
request subject to the Freedom of Information 
requirements: 
• Declarations of pecuniary interests have been duly 

completed by all relevant officers; 
• Details of shares held by a senior officer as nominee or 

held beneficially; 
• Details of publications produced by the entity about 

itself, and how these can be obtained; 
• Details of changes in prices, fees, charges, rates and 

levies charged by the Health Service; 
• Details of any major external reviews carried out on the 

Health Service; 
• Details of major research and development activities 

undertaken by the Health Service that are not covered 
in either the Report of Operations or in a document that 
contains the financial statements and Report or 
Operations; 

• Details of overseas visits undertaken including a 
summary of the objectives and outcomes of each visit; 

• Details of major promotional, public relations and 
marketing activities undertaken by the Health Service to 
develop community awareness of the Health Service 
and its services; 

• Details of assessments and measures undertaken to 
improve the occupational health and safety of 
employees; 

• A general statement on industrial relations within the 
Health Service and details of time lost through industrial 
accidents and disputes, not detailed in the Report of 
Operations; 

• A list of major committees sponsored by the Health 
Service, the purposes of each committee and the extent 
to which the purposes have been achieved,  

• Details of all consultancies and contractors including 
consultants/contractors engaged, services provided and 
expenditure committed for each engagement; and 

• A statement, to the extent applicable, that the 
information listed in Appendix 1 of FRD 15B, is 
available on request to the relevant Minister, Members 
of Parliament or the public. 
 

Safe Patient Care Act 2015, Schedule 40  
Reporting of non-compliance: nil to report. 
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Disclosures 
 
Occupational Violence 
Occupational Violence Statistics 2015-2016 
1. Workcover accepted claims with an occupational violence cause 

per 100 FTE 
0/100FTE 

2. Number of accepted Workcover claims with lost time injury with 
an occupational violence cause per 1,000,000 hours worked. 

0/100FTE 

3. Number of occupational violence incidents reported 15 
4. Number of occupational violence incidents reported per 100 

FTE 
8.3/100FTE 

5. Percentage of occupational violence incidents resulting in a staff 
injury, illness or condition 

0% 

 
 
 
 

   

Yarram Wetlands Yarram Wetlands Yarram Wetlands    
From L to R: Linda Bruce, Faye Vyner, Helga Binda, Ronnie Clarkson and Lynn Hughes  

This art work was inspired and produced by the Rainforest Art group. A  small collective of enthusiasts  
who meet regularly to share art and friendship.  

This particular piece was inspired by a photograph which was divided into five equal panels . Each artist 
painted a section at home without influence and in her own unique style, relying on a few pencil lines in the 
initial drawing to ensure the final piece fitted together.  

The completed artwork has been donated to YDHS and is on display in the Palliative Care Room. 
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Contracted Services   

Accounting 
DMG Financial Planning 

Aged Care Assessment Services 
Latrobe Community Health 
Alcohol and Drug Counselling 
Australian Community Support Organisation 

Allied Psychological Services 
Gippsland Primary Health Network 

Audiology 
Previn Pillay 

Co-Located Services 
Mental Illness Fellowship Victoria 

Community Mental Health Team 
Latrobe Regional Hospital 
Mental Illness Fellowship Victoria 

Consumer Affairs 
Consumer Affairs Victoria 

Continence Advice 
Central Gippsland Health Services 

Dialysis 
The Royal Melbourne Hospital 

Dietetics  
Central Gippsland Health Service 

Employee Assistance Program 
Converge International 

Pathology 
Dorevitch 

Fire System Maintenance 
Valley Fire & Security 

Geriatrics 
Dr Krishna Mandaleson 

IT Support 
Gippsland Health Alliance 

Medication Management 
Kathleen MacAulay 

Optometry 
Harris Blake & Parson 

Pathology 
Dorevitch 

Pharmacy 
Central Gippsland Health Service 

Podiatry 
Gippsland Foot Clinic Ltd 

Psychiatric 
Latrobe Regional Hospital 
Psychology 
Graham Brewer 

Radiologists 
Gippsland Diagnostic Service 
Radiology 
Central Gippsland Health Service 

Security 
Premier Security Service 
Sterilisation 
Latrobe Regional Hospital 
Supply of Fruit and Vegetables 
Aherns Fruit Market 
Supply of Meat 
Moores Family Butchers Pty Ltd 
Waste Disposal 
Welshpool Waste Disposal 

 
 
Standing Direction 4.5.5 – Risk 
Management Framework and Processes 
I, Colleen Boag certify that the Yarram and District Health 
Service has complied with the Standing Direction 4.5.5 – 
Risk Management Framework and Processes. The 
Yarram and District Health Service Audit & Risk 
Committee verifies this.  

 
 
 

Colleen Boag 
Accountable Officer 

Dated the 31st day of August, 2016, Yarram, Vict  
 

 
Attestation on Data Integrity 
I, Colleen Boag certify that the Yarram and District Health 
Service has put in place appropriate internal controls and 
processes to ensure that reported data reasonably reflects 
actual performance.  The Yarram and District Health Service 
has critically reviewed these controls and processes during 
the year. 
 

 
 

Colleen Boag 
Accountable Officer 

Dated the 31st day of August, 2016, Yarram, Vict  
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Community Participation and Services  
Services  
YDHS provides and supports the provision of a range of 
services that are designed to meet the needs of 
individuals and groups within its catchment population 
of approximately 5,580 people. 
 
Acute Services 
• 20 bed facility 
• Medical, Post-surgical and Inpatient rehabilitation 
• Urgent Care Services 
• Respite Care 
• Maintenance Dialysis 
• Psychiatric Care 
• Pre and Post Natal Care 
• Transitional Care Program 
 
Allied Health Services 
• Balance and Mobility 
• Cardiopulmonary Rehabilitation 
• Community Rehabilitation 
• Dietetics 
• Inpatient Rehabilitation 
• Occupational Therapy 
• Personal Alert Victoria 
• Physiotherapy 
• Prime Movers Exercise Group 
• Safe Moves 
• Social Skills Group 
• Speech Pathology 
• Speech Pathology & Occupational Therapy Group 
• Spirometry Assessments 
• Tai Chi Group 
• Transitional Care Program 

 
Ancillary Services 
• Pathology 
• Visiting Radiology 
• Pharmacy 
• Regional Aged Care Assessment Service 

 
Community Mental Health Services 
• Gippsland Psychiatric Services – is a LRH co-

located service. 
 

Community Participation 
YDHS continued its involvement in community 
projects.  During 2015/2016 these included: 
• Yarram and District Community Hub Committee 
• Walk and Talk Group 
• Arthritis Australia 
• Diabetes Australia 
• Yarram Secondary College Youth Week 

 Community Service 
• Planned Activity Group (PAG) 
• Podiatry (Gippsland Foot Clinic Pty Ltd) 
• Aged Care Service Coordination 
• Community Health 
• Community Nursing 
• Commonwealth Emergency Relief Program 
• Diabetes 
• Domestic assistance 
• Family Counselling 
• Foot Clinic  
• Health Promotion  
• Home and Community Care (HACC) Services 
• Homelessness Services 
• Integrated Family Services 
• Child First 
• Generalist Counselling 
• Maternal and Child Health  
• Meals on Wheels 
• Palliative Care 
• Personal Care 
• Planned Community Respite 
• Podiatry 
• Property Maintenance 
• Psychology 
• Respite Care 
• Social Work 
• Volunteer Co-ordination 

 
Residential Services 
• St Elmo’s Nursing Home -12 dementia specific 

low care beds and 18 high care beds 
• Crossley House – residential aged care, 30 low 

care beds 
• Respite accommodation 

 
Self Help/Support Groups 
• Combined Dementia/Heart/Cancer Group 
• Walk & Talk Group 
• Carers Group 
• ‘’Know your Rights’’ Group 
• Swimming Group 

 
Yarram Medical Centre 
• Medical Care 
• Optometrist 
• Visiting Specialist: 

- Cardiac Diagnostics 
- Continence Nurse 

• Hearcare Audiology Services 
• Psychologist and Counselling Services 
• Visiting General Physician 
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Disclosure Index 
The Annual Report of the Yarram and District Health Service is prepared in accordance with all relevant 
Victorian legislation. This index has been prepared to facilitate identification of the YDHS’ compliance with 
statutory disclosure requirements. 

 
 
 
Legislation 

 
 
Requirement 

Page 
Reference 

(Annual 
Report) 

Ministerial Directions 
Report of Operations  
Charter and purpose 
FRD 22F Manner of establishment and the relevant Ministers 4, 17 
FRD 22F Purpose, functions, powers and duties 3 
FRD 22F Initiatives and key achievements 6,7,8 
FRD 22F Nature and range of services provided 37,38,39 
Management and Structure 
FRD 22F Organisational Structure 18 
Financial and other information 
FRD 10 Disclosure index 45,46 
FRD 11A Disclosure of ex-gratia expenses N/A 
FRD 12A Disclosure of major contracts 40 
FRD 21B Responsible person and executive officer disclosures 107 
FRD 22F Application and operation of Protected Disclosure 2012 41 
FRD 22F Application and operation of Carers Recognition Act 2012 40 
FRD 22F Application and operation of Freedom of Information Act 1982 40 
FRD 22F Compliance with building and maintenance provisions of Building 

Act 1993 
40 

FRD 22F Details of consultancies over $10 000 40 
FRD 22F Details of consultancies under $10 000 40 
FRD 22F Employment and conduct principles 40 
FRD 22F Major changes or factors affecting performance 7,8 
FRD 22F Occupational health and safety 40 
FRD 22F Operational and budgetary objectives and performance against 

objectives 
7,8 

FRD 24C Reporting of office-based environment impacts 41 
FRD 22F Significant changes in financial position during the year 8 
FRD 22F Statement on National Competition Policy 40 
FRD 22F Subsequent events 7,8 
FRD 22F Summary of the financial results for the year 38,39 
FRD 22F Workforce Data Disclosures including a statement on the 

application of employment and conduct principles 
37 

FRD 25B Victorian Industry Participation Policy disclosures 39 
FRD 29 Workforce Data disclosures 37 
SD 4.2(g) Specific information requirements Finance 

Report 
SD 4.2(j) Sign-off Requirements 4 
SD 3.4.13 Attestation on Data Integrity 43 
SD 4.5.5 Risk Management Framework and Processes 43 
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Disclosure Index 
 

 
 
Legislation 

 
 
Requirement 

 
Page 

Reference 

Financial Statements  
Financial statements required under Part 7 of the FMA 
SD 4.2(a) Statement of changes in equity 54 
SD 4.2(b) Comprehensive operating statement 52 
SD 4.2(b) Balance sheet 53 
SD 4.2(b) Cash flow statement 55 
Other requirements under Standing Directions 4.2 
SD 4.2(a) Compliance with Australian accounting standards and other 

authoritative pronouncements 57 

SD 4.2(c) Accountable Officer’s declaration 49 
SD 4.2(c) Compliance with Ministerial Directions 57 
SD 4.2(d) Rounding of amounts 61 
 
Legislation 

Page 
Reference  

Freedom of Information Act 1982 40 
Protected Disclosure Act 2012 41 
Carers Recognition Act 2012 40 
Victorian Industry Protection Policy Act 2003 N/A 
 
Building Act 1993 

40 

Financial Management Act 1994 50, 51 
Auditor’s 

Statement 
(Financial 
Statement 
Booklet) 

 
 
 
 
______________________________________________ 
Ms Frankie MacLennan 
Acting Board Chair 
 
         
 
 
Chief Executive Officer and Accountable Officer 
Colleen Boag 
  
Dated the 1st day of September, 2016 
Yarram, Victoria   
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Glossary of Terms 

 
ACAS – Aged Care Assessment Service 

ACHS – Australian Council on Healthcare Standards 

ACP – Advance Care Planning 

ACSO – Australian Community Support Organisation 

ASM – Active Service Model 

CHH – Crossley House Hostel 

CHSP – Commonwealth Home Support Program 

CRAF – Crisis Response Assessment Framework 

CRE – Carbapenem Resistant Enterobacteriaceae 

DAP – Daily Accommodation Payment 

DHHS – Department of Health and Human Services 

FTE – Fulltime Equivalent 

FV – Family Violence 

GP – General Practitioner 

HACC – Home and Community Care 

INR – International Normalised Ratio 

MBS – Medicare Benefit Schedule  

MCHN – Maternal & Child Health Nurse 

OHS – Occupational Health & Safety 

PAG – Planned Activity Group 

PSRACS – Public Sector Residential Aged Care Services 

RAD – Refundable Accommodation Deposit 

SENH – St Elmo’s Nursing Home 

TCP – Transitional Care Program 

VMO – Visiting Medical Officer 

Y&FS – Youth & Family Service 

YDHS – Yarram & District Health Service 

YMC – Yarram Medical Centre 
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Board member’s, accountable officer’s and chief
finance & accounting officer’s declaration

The attached financial statements for Yarram & District Health Service have been prepared in
accordance with Directions 4.2 of the Standing Directions of the Minister for Finance under the
Financial Management Act 1994, applicable Financial Reporting Directions, Australian
Accounting Standards including Interpretations, and other mandatory professional reporting
requirements.

We further state that, in our opinion, the information set out in the comprehensive operating
statement, balance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and
accompanying notes, presents fairly the financial transactions during the year ended 30 June
2016 and the financial position of Yarram & District Health Service at 30 June 2016.

At the time of signing, we are not aware of any circumstance which would render any
particulars included in the financial statements to be misleading or inaccurate.

We authorise the attached financial statements for issue on this day.

____________________ ____________________
Ms Frankie MacLennan Colleen Boag
Acting Board Chairperson Chief Executive Officer & Accountable Officer

Dated the 1 September 2016

Yarram, Victoria
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Note 2016 2015
$ $

Revenue from operating activities 2 11,552,432 11,802,817
Revenue from non-operating activities 2 275,979 350,815
Employee expenses 3 (9,161,381) (9,613,476)
Non salary labour costs 3 (431,566) (500,003)
Supplies and consumables 3 (418,620) (453,596)
Other expenses 3 (2,087,605) (1,775,488)
Net result before capital and specific items (270,761) (188,931)

Capital purpose income 2 222,614 258,419
Depreciation and amortisation 4 (1,286,835) (1,293,352)
Net Result after capital and specific items (1,334,982) (1,223,864)

Other economic flows included in net result
Revaluation of Long Service Leave 31,124 36,976

31,124 36,976

NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR (1,303,858) (1,186,888)

Total other comprehensive income - -
Comprehensive result (1,303,858) (1,186,888)

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Yarram & District Health Service
Comprehensive Operating Statement
For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

Total other economic flows included in net
result
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Note 2016 2015
$ $

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5 575,135         667,669         
Receivables 6 350,674         506,466         
Investments and other financial assets 7 9,158,323      8,566,661      
Inventories 8 53,081           53,894           
Prepayments and other assets 9 56,667           71,755           

Total current assets 10,193,880   9,866,445     

Non-current assets
Receivables 6 370,664         324,520         
Property, plant & equipment 10 14,064,716     15,272,827     

Total non-current assets 14,435,380   15,597,347   

TOTAL ASSETS 24,629,260   25,463,792   

Current liabilities
Payables 11 389,193         424,052         
Provisions 12 2,555,236      2,674,518      
Other current liabilities 14 2,918,093      2,361,147      

Total current liabilities 5,862,522     5,459,717     

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 12 320,107         253,586         

Total non-current liabilities 320,107        253,586        

TOTAL LIABILITIES 6,182,629     5,713,303     

NET ASSETS 18,446,631   19,750,489   

EQUITY

Property, plant & equipment revaluation surplus 15a 12,249,546     12,249,546     

Restricted specific purpose surplus 15b 94,500           94,500           

Contributed capital 15c 6,121,891      6,121,891      

Accumulated surpluses/ (deficits) 15d (19,306) 1,284,552      

TOTAL EQUITY 15d 18,446,631   19,750,489   

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 19

Commitments 18

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2016

Yarram & District Health Service
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Property, 

Plant & 

Equipment 

Revaluation 

Surplus

Restricted 

Specific 

Purpose 

Surplus

Contribution

s by Owners

Accumulated 

Surpluses/ 

(Deficits)

Total

Note $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2014 12,249,546 94,500 6,121,891 2,471,440 20,937,377 
Net result for the year -                 -           -                (1,186,888)  (1,186,888)

Balance at 30 June 2015 12,249,546 94,500 6,121,891 1,284,552 19,750,489 

Net result for the year  -  -  - (1,303,858) (1,303,858)

Balance at 30 June 2016 12,249,546 94,500 6,121,891 (19,306) 18,446,631 

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

Yarram & District Health Service
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Note 2016 2015
$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating grants from government 8,769,074        9,223,770        
Capital grants from government 85,998             63,282             
Patient and resident fees received 2,229,768        1,973,019        
Donations and bequests received 21,967             28,042             
GST received from/(paid to) ATO 130,487           89,402             

Interest received 393,631           280,396           
Other capital receipts 134,138           179,987           
Other receipts 1,119,419        705,320           
Total receipts 12,884,482   12,543,218   
Employee expenses paid (9,183,018)       (9,616,445)       
Non salary labour costs (431,566)          (493,308)          
Payments for supplies & consumables (437,578)          (458,891)          
Other payments (2,302,005)       (1,940,283)       
Total payments (12,354,167)  (12,508,927)  
NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES
16

530,315         34,291           

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of investments (2,986,526)       (4,763,528)       
Payments for non-financial assets (82,980)           (64,474)           
Proceeds from sale of non-financial assets 6,734              6,364              
Proceeds from sale of investments 2,439,923        4,354,453        
NET CASH FLOW FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING 

ACTIVITIES (622,849)        (467,185)        

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS HELD (92,534)          (432,894)        

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial 

year 667,669         1,100,563      
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF 

FINANCIAL YEAR 5 575,135         667,669         

This Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 

Cash Flow Statement 
For the Year Ended 30 June 2016

Yarram & District Health Service
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NNoottee 11:: SSuummmmaarryy ooff ssiiggnniiffiiccaanntt aaccccoouunnttiinngg ppoolliicciieess

These annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements
for Yarram & District Health Service for the period ending 30 June 2016. The purpose of the
report is to provide users with information about the Health Services’ stewardship of resources
entrusted to it.

((aa)) SSttaatteemmeenntt ooff ccoommpplliiaannccee

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared
in accordance with the Financial Management Act 1994 and applicable AASs, which include
interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB). They are
presented in a manner consistent with the requirements of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial
Statements.

The financial statements also comply with relevant Financial Reporting Directions (FRDs)
issued by the Department of Treasury and Finance, and relevant Standing Directions (SDs)
authorised by the Minister for Finance.

The Health Service is a not-for profit entity and therefore applies the additional Aus paragraphs
applicable to “not-for-profit” Health Services under the AASs.

The annual financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Yarram & District
Health Service on 1 September 2016.

((bb)) BBaassiiss ooff aaccccoouunnttiinngg pprreeppaarraattiioonn aanndd mmeeaassuurreemmeenntt

Accounting policies are selected and applied in a manner which ensures that the resulting
financial information satisfies the concepts of relevance and reliability, thereby ensuring that
the substance of the underlying transactions or other events is reported.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied in preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2016, and the comparative information presented in these financial
statements for the year ended 30 June 2015.

The going concern basis was used to prepare the financial statements.

These financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, the functional and presentation
currency of the Health Service.

The financial statements, except for cash flow information, have been prepared using the
accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities,
equity, income or expenses when they satisfy the definitions and recognition criteria for those
items, that is they are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of
when cash is received or paid.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention, except
for:

 non-current physical assets, which subsequent to acquisition, are measured at a
revalued amount being their fair value at the date of the revaluation less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent impairment losses. Revaluations
are made and are re-assessed when new indices are published by the Valuer General to
ensure that the carrying amounts do not materially differ from their fair values;
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 debt securities, and investment properties after initial recognition, which are measured
at fair value with changes reflected in the comprehensive operating statement (fair
value through profit and loss); and

 the fair value of assets other than land is generally based on their depreciated
replacement value.

Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on professional judgements derived from historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
and also in future periods that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made
by management in the application of AASs that have significant effects on the financial
statements and estimates relate to:

 the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment, (refer to Note
1(j));

 superannuation expense (refer to Note 1(g); and

 actuarial assumptions for employee benefit provisions based on likely tenure of existing
staff, patterns of leave claims, future salary movements and future discount rates (refer
to Note 1(k));

Consistent with AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, Yarram & District Health Service determines
the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurements such as property, plant
and equipment, investment properties and financial instruments, and for non-recurring fair
value measurements such as non-financial physical assets held for sale, in accordance with the
requirements of AASB 13 and the relevant FRDs.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

 Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

 Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is directly or indirectly observable

 Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is unobservable.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Yarram & District Health Service has determined
classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset
or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.

In addition, Yarram & District Health Service determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting
period.

The Valuer-General Victoria (VGV) is Yarram & District Health Service’s independent valuation
agency.
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Yarram & District Health Service, in conjunction with VGV  monitors the changes in the fair
value of each asset and liability through relevant data sources to determine whether
revaluation is required.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision, and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods. Judgements and assumptions made by
management in the application of AASs that have significant effects on the financial
statements and estimates, with a risk of material adjustments in the subsequent reporting
period, relate to:

 the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note
1(j);

 superannuation expense (refer to note 1(g)); and

 actuarial assumptions for employee benefit provisions based on likely tenure of
existing staff, patterns of leave claims, future salary movements and future discount
rates (refer to Note 1(k)).

((cc)) RReeppoorrttiinngg eennttiittyy

The financial statements include all the controlled activities of the Yarram & District Health
Service.

Its principal address is:
85-91 Commercial Road
Yarram, Victoria 3971

A description of the nature of the Health Service’s operations and its principal activities is
included in the report of operations, which does not form part of these financial statements.

Objectives and funding

Yarram & District Health Service’s overall objective is to provide quality, efficient, people-
centred care for our community, as well as improve the quality of life to Victorians.

((dd)) PPrriinncciipplleess ooff ccoonnssoolliiddaattiioonn

Intersegment Transactions

Transactions between segments within the Yarram & District Health Service have been
eliminated to reflect the extent of the Yarram & District Health Service operations as a group.

Jointly controlled assets or operations

Interests in jointly controlled assets or operations are not consolidated by Yarram & District
Health Service, but are accounted for in accordance with the policy outlined in Note 1(j)
Assets.
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((ee)) SSccooppee aanndd pprreesseennttaattiioonn ooff ffiinnaanncciiaall ssttaatteemmeennttss

Fund Accounting

Yarram & District Health Service operates on a fund accounting basis and maintains three
funds: Operating, Specific Purpose and Capital Funds. The Yarram & District Health Service’s
Capital and Specific Purpose Funds include unspent capital donations and receipts from fund-
raising activities conducted solely in respect of these funds.

Services Supported By Health Services Agreement and Services Supported By
Hospital and Community Initiatives

Activities classified as Services Supported by Health Services Agreement (HSA) are
substantially funded by the Department of Health and Human Services and includes Residential
Aged Care Services (RACS) and are also funded from other sources such as the
Commonwealth, patients and residents, while Services Supported by Hospital and Community
Initiatives (H&CI) are funded by the Health Service's own activities or local initiatives and/or
the Commonwealth.

Residential Aged Care Service

The St Elmo’s nursing home & Crossley House hostel Residential Aged Care Service operations
are an integral part of the Yarram & District Health Service and shares its resources. An
apportionment of land and buildings has been made based on floor space. The revenue and
expenses of the two operations have been identified by source which is represented by the
Residential Aged Care category in Note 2 & 3 to the financial statements.

Comprehensive operating statement

The comprehensive operating statement includes the subtotal entitled ‘net result before capital
& specific items’ to enhance the understanding of the financial performance of Yarram &
District Health Service. This subtotal reports the result excluding items such as capital grants;
assets received or provided free of charge, depreciation, expenditure using capital purpose
income and items of an unusual nature and amount such as specific income and expenses. The
exclusion of these items is made to enhance matching of income and expenses so as to
facilitate the comparability and consistency of results between years and Victorian Public
Health Services. The ‘net result before capital & specific items’ is used by the management of
Yarram & District Health Service, the Department of Health and Human Services and the
Victorian Government to measure the ongoing operating performance of Health Services.

Capital and specific items, which are excluded from this sub-total, comprise:

 capital purpose income, which comprises all tied grants, donations and bequests
received for the purpose of acquiring non-current assets, such as capital works, plant
and equipment or intangible assets. It also includes donations of plant and equipment
(refer Note 1 (f)). Consequently the recognition of revenue as capital purpose income is
based on the intention of the provider of the revenue at the time the revenue is
provided.

 specific income/expense, comprises the following items, where material:

o Voluntary departure packages

o Write-down of inventories

o Non-current asset revaluation increments/decrements

o Diminution/impairment of investments
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o Reversal of provisions

 impairment of financial and non-financial assets, includes all impairment losses (and
reversal of previous impairment losses), which have been recognised in accordance
with Notes 1 (j)

 depreciation and amortisation, as described in Note 1 (g);

 assets provided or received free of charge (refer to Note 1 (f) and (g)); and

 expenditure using capital purpose income, comprises expenditure which either falls
below the asset capitalisation threshold or doesn’t meet asset recognition criteria and
therefore does not result in the recognition of an asset in the balance sheet, where
funding for that expenditure is from capital purpose income.

Balance sheet

Assets and liabilities are categorised either as current or non-current (non-current being those
assets or liabilities expected to be recovered/settled more than 12 months after reporting
period), are disclosed in the notes where relevant.

Statement of changes in equity

The statement of changes in equity presents reconciliations of each non-owner and owner
changes in equity from opening balance at the beginning of the reporting period to the closing
balance at the end of the reporting period. It also shows separately changes due to amounts
recognised in the comprehensive result and amounts recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Cash flow statement

Cash flows are classified according to whether or not they arise from operating activities,
investing activities, or financing activities. This classification is consistent with requirements
under AASB 107 Statement of Cash Flows.

For the cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes bank
overdrafts, which are included as current borrowings in the balance sheet.

Rounding

All amounts shown in the financial statements are expressed to the nearest dollar unless
otherwise stated.

Minor discrepancies in tables between totals and sum of components are due to rounding.

((ff)) IInnccoommee ffrroomm ttrraannssaaccttiioonnss

Income is recognised in accordance with AASB 118 Revenue and is recognised as to the extent
that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to Yarram & District Health Service and
the income can be reliably measured at fair value. Unearned income at reporting date is
reported as income received in advance.

Amounts disclosed as revenue are, where applicable, net of returns, allowances and duties and
taxes.
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Government Grants and other transfers of income (other than contributions by
owners)

In accordance with AASB 1004 Contributions, government grants and other transfers of
income (other than contributions by owners) are recognised as income when the Health
Service gains control of the underlying assets irrespective of whether conditions are imposed
on the Health Service’s use of the contributions.

Contributions are deferred as income in advance when the Health Service has a present
obligation to repay them and the present obligation can be reliably measured.

Indirect Contributions from the Department of Health

- Insurance is recognised as revenue following advice from the Department of Health and
Human Services.

- Long Service Leave (LSL) – Revenue is recognised upon finalisation of movements in LSL
liability in line with the arrangements set out in the Metropolitan Health and Aged Care
Services Division Hospital Circular 05/2013 (update for 2014-15).

Patient and Resident Fees

Fees are recognised as revenue at the time invoices are raised.

Private Practice Fees

Fees are recognised as revenue at the time invoices are raised.

Revenue from commercial activities

Revenue from commercial activities such as commercial laboratory medicine is recognised at
the time invoices are raised.

Donations and Other Bequests

Donations and bequests are recognised as revenue when received. If donations are for a
special purpose, they may be appropriated to a surplus, such as the specific restricted purpose
surplus.

Interest Revenue

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes in account the effective
yield of the financial asset, which allocates interest over the relevant period.

Sale of investments

The gain/loss on the sale of investments is recognised when the investment is realised.

Fair value of assets and services received free of charge or for nominal consideration

Resources received free of charge or for nominal consideration are recognised at their fair
value when the transferee obtains control over them, irrespective of whether restrictions or
conditions are imposed over the use of the contributions, unless received from another Health
Service or agency as a consequence of a restructuring of administrative arrangements.  In the
latter case, such transfer will be recognised at carrying value. Contributions in the form of
services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the service
would have been purchased if not received as a donation.
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Other income

Other income includes non-property rental, dividends, forgiveness of liabilities, and bad debt
reversals.

((gg)) EExxppeennssee rreeccooggnniittiioonn

Expenses are recognised as they are incurred and reported in the financial year to which they
relate.

Cost of goods sold

Costs of goods sold are recognised when the sale of an item occurs by transferring the cost or
value of the item/s from inventories.

Employee expenses

Employee expenses include:

 wages and salaries;
 fringe benefits tax;
 annual leave;
 sick leave;
 long service leave;
 workcover premiums;
 termination payments; and
 superannuation expenses which are reported differently depending upon whether

employees are members of defined benefit or defined contribution plans.

Defined contribution superannuation plans
In relation to defined contribution (i.e. accumulation) superannuation plans, the associated
expense is simply the employer contributions that are paid or payable in respect of employees
who are members of these plans during the reporting period. Contributions to defined
contribution superannuation plans are expensed when incurred.

The name and details of the major employee superannuation funds and contributions made by
the Yarram & District Health Service are disclosed in Note 13: Superannuation.

Depreciation

All Infrastructure assets, buildings, plant and equipment and other non-financial physical
assets that have finite useful lives are depreciated (i.e. excludes land assets held for sale, and
investment properties). Depreciation begins when the asset is available for use, which is when
it is in the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in a manner
intended by management.

Depreciation is generally calculated on a straight line basis, at a rate that allocates the asset
value, less any estimated residual value over its estimated useful life. Estimates of the
remaining useful lives, residual value and depreciation method for all assets are reviewed at
least annually, and adjustments made where appropriate. This depreciation charge is not
funded by the Department of Health & Human Services. Assets with a cost in excess of $1,000
are capitalised and depreciation has been provided on depreciable assets so as to allocate their
cost or valuation over their estimated useful lives.

The following table indicates the expected useful lives of non current assets on which the
depreciation charges are based.
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2016 2015
Buildings 45 to 60 years 45 to 60 years
Plant & Equipment 3 to 7 years 3 to 7 years
Medical Equipment 7 to 10 years 7 to 10 years
Motor Vehicles 10 years 10 years

As part of the buildings valuation, building values were separated into components and each
component assessed for its useful life which is represented above.

Finance costs

Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.

Finance costs include:

– interest on bank overdrafts and short-term and long-term borrowings (Interest expense
is recognised in the period in which it is incurred);

– amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings;
– amortisation of ancillary costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of

borrowings

Grants and other transfers

Grants and other transfers to third parties (other than contribution to owners) are recognised
as an expense in the reporting period in which they are paid or payable. They include
transactions such as: grants, subsidies and personal benefit payments made in cash to
individuals.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses generally represent the day-to-day running costs incurred in normal
operations and include:

Supplies and consumables

Supplies and services costs which are recognised as an expense in the reporting period
in which they are incurred. The carrying amounts of any inventories held for distribution
are expensed when distributed.

Bad and doubtful debts

Refer to Note 1 (j) Impairment of financial assets.

Fair value of assets, services and resources provided free of charge or for
nominal consideration

Contributions of resources provided free of charge or for nominal consideration are
recognised at their fair value when the transferee obtains control over them,
irrespective of whether restrictions or conditions are imposed over the use of the
contributions, unless received from another agency as a consequence of a restructuring
of administrative arrangements. In the latter case, such a transfer will be recognised at
its carrying amount.

Contributions in the form of services are only recognised when fair value can be reliably
determined and the services would have been purchased if not donated.
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Borrowing costs of qualifying assets

In accordance with the paragraphs of AASB 123 Borrowing Costs applicable to not-for-
profit public sector entities, the Health Services continues to recognise borrowing costs
immediately as an expense, to the extent that they are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.

((hh)) OOtthheerr ccoommpprreehheennssiivvee iinnccoommee

Other comprehensive income measures the change in volume or value of assets or liabilities
that do not result from transactions.

Net gain/ (loss) on non-financial assets

Net gain/ (loss) on non-financial assets and liabilities includes realised and unrealised gains
and losses as follows:

Revaluation gains/ (losses) of non-financial physical assets

Refer to Note 1(j) Revaluations of non-financial physical assets.

Net gain/ (loss) on disposal of non-financial assets

Any gain or loss on the disposal of non-financial assets is recognised at the date of disposal
and is the difference between the proceeds and the carrying value of the asset at the time.

Net gain/ (loss) on financial instruments

Net gain/ (loss) on financial instruments includes:

o Realised and unrealised gains and losses from revaluations of financial instruments
at fair value;

o Impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost
(refer to Note 1 (j)); and

o Disposal of financial assets and derecognition of financial liabilities.

Revaluations of financial instrument at fair value

Refer to Note 1 (i) Financial instruments

Other gains/ (losses) from other comprehensive income

Other gains/ (losses) include:

a. The revaluation of the present value of the long service leave liability due to changes
in the bond interest rates, this will also include the impact of changes related to the
impact of moving from the 2004 long service leave model to the 2008 long service
leave model; and

b. transfer of amounts from the reserves to the accumulated surplus or net result due
to disposal or derecognition or reclassification.
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((ii)) FFiinnaanncciiaall iinnssttrruummeennttss

Financial instruments arise out of contractual agreements that give rise to a financial asset of
one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Due to the nature of
the Yarram & District Health Service’s activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities
arise under statute rather than a contract. Such financial assets and financial liabilities do not
meet the definition of financial instruments in AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation.
For example, statutory receivables arising from taxes, fines and penalties do not meet the
definition of financial instruments as they do not arise under contract.

Where relevant, for note disclosure purposes, a distinction is made between those financial
assets and financial liabilities that meet the definition of financial instruments in accordance
with AASB 132 and those that do not.

The following refers to financial instruments unless otherwise stated.

Categories of non-derivative financial instruments

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial instrument assets with fixed and determinable payments
that are not quoted on an active market. These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus
any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial measurement, loans and
receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
impairment.

Loans and receivables category includes cash and deposits (refer to Note 1(j)), term deposits
with maturity greater than three months, trade receivables, loans and other receivables, but
not statutory receivables.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial instrument liabilities are initially recognised on the date they are originated. They are
initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, these financial instruments are measured at amortised cost with any
difference between the initial recognised amount and the redemption value being recognised in
profit and loss over the period of the interest-bearing liability, using the effective interest rate
method.

Financial instrument liabilities measured at amortised cost include all of the Health Service’s
contractual payables, deposits held and advances received, and interest-bearing arrangements
other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss.

((jj)) AAsssseettss

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents recognised on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and cash at
bank, deposits at call and highly liquid investments (with an original maturity of three months
or less), which are held for the purpose of meeting short term cash commitments rather than
for investment purposes, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with an
insignificant risk of changes in value.

For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents include bank
overdrafts, which are included as liabilities on the balance sheet.

66



YYaarrrraamm && DDiissttrriicctt HHeeaalltthh SSeerrvviiccee
NNootteess ttoo tthhee ffiinnaanncciiaall ssttaatteemmeennttss

3300 JJuunnee 22001166

Receivables

Receivables consist of:

- contractual receivables, which includes mainly debtors in relation to goods and services,
loans to third parties, accrued investment income, and finance lease receivables; and

- statutory receivables, which includes predominantly amounts owing from the Victorian
Government and Goods and Services Tax (“GST”) input tax credits recoverable.

Receivables that are contractual are classified as financial instruments and categorised as
loans and receivables. Statutory receivables are recognised and measured similarly to
contractual receivables (except for impairment), but are not classified as financial instruments
because they do not arise from a contract.

Receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method, less any accumulated impairment.

Trade debtors are carried at nominal amounts due and are due for settlement within 30 days
from the date of recognition. Collectability of debts is reviewed on an ongoing basis, and debts
which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised
when there is objective evidence that the debts may not be collected and bad debts are written
off when identified.

Investments and other financial assets

Hospital investments must be in accordance in Standing Direction 4.5.6 – Treasury Risk
Management. Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where purchase or
sale of an investment is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment
within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially measured at fair
value, net of transaction costs.

Investments are classified in the following categories:

- loans and receivables

Yarram & District Health Service classifies its other financial assets between current and non-
current assets based on the purpose for which the assets were acquired.  Management
determines the classification of its other financial assets at initial recognition.

Yarram & District Health Service assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset
or group of financial assets is impaired.

All financial assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or loss are subject to
annual review for impairment.

Inventories
Inventories include goods and other property held either for sale, consumption or for
distribution at no or nominal cost in the ordinary course of business operations. It excludes
depreciable assets.

Inventories held for distribution are measured at cost, adjusted for any loss of service
potential. All other inventories, including land held for sale, are measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value.

Inventories acquired for no cost or nominal considerations are measured at current
replacement cost at the date of acquisition.

The bases used in assessing loss of service potential for inventories held for distribution
include current replacement cost and technical or functional obsolescence.  Technical

67



YYaarrrraamm && DDiissttrriicctt HHeeaalltthh SSeerrvviiccee
NNootteess ttoo tthhee ffiinnaanncciiaall ssttaatteemmeennttss

3300 JJuunnee 22001166

obsolescence occurs when an item still functions for some or all of the tasks it was originally
acquired to do, but no longer matches existing technologies.  Functional obsolescence occurs
when an item no longer functions the way it did when it was first acquired.

Cost is assigned to land for sale (undeveloped, under development and developed) and to
other high value, low volume inventory items on a specific identification of cost basis.

Cost for all other inventory is measured on the basis of weighted average cost.

Property, plant and equipment

All non-current physical assets are measured initially at cost and subsequently revalued at fair
value less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Where an asset is acquired for no or
nominal cost, the cost is its fair value at the date of acquisition. Assets transferred as part of a
merger/machinery of government are transferred at their carrying amount.

More details about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of
non-financial physical assets are discussed in Note 10 Property, plant and equipment.

Crown land is measured at fair value with regard to the property’s highest and best use after
due consideration is made for any legal or physical restrictions imposed on the asset, public
announcements or commitments made in relation to the intended use of the asset. Theoretical
opportunities that may be available in relation to the asset(s) are not taken into account until
it is virtually certain that any restrictions will no longer apply. Therefore, unless otherwise
disclosed, the current use of these non-financial physical assets will be their highest and best
uses.

Land and buildings are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured at fair value
less accumulated depreciation and impairment.

Plant, equipment and vehicles are recognised initially at cost and subsequently measured
at fair value less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment loss.  Depreciated
historical cost is generally a reasonable proxy for fair value because of the short lives of the
assets concerned.

Revaluations of non-current physical assets
Non-current physical assets are measured at fair value and are revalued in accordance with
FRD 103F Non-current physical assets.  This revaluation process normally occurs at least every
five years, based upon the asset’s Government Purpose Classification, but may occur more
frequently if fair value assessments indicate material changes in values. Independent valuers
are used to conduct these scheduled revaluations and any interim revaluations are determined
in accordance with the requirements of the FRDs. Revaluation increments or decrements arise
from differences between an asset’s carrying value and fair value.

Revaluation increments are recognised in ‘other comprehensive income’ and are credited
directly in equity to the asset revaluation surplus, except that, to the extent that an increment
reverses a revaluation decrement in respect of that same class of asset previously recognised
as an expense in net result, the increment is recognised as income in the net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised in ‘other comprehensive income’ to the extent that a
credit balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus in respect of the same class of property,
plant and equipment.

Revaluation increases and revaluation decreases relating to individual assets within an asset
class are offset against one another within that class but are not offset in respect of assets in
different classes.
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Revaluation surplus is not normally transferred to accumulated funds on derecognition of the
relevant asset.

In accordance with FRD 103F, Yarram & District Health Service’s non-current physical assets
were assessed to determine whether revaluation of the non-current physical assets was
required.

Prepayments
Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of
receipt of goods or services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering
a term extending beyond that period.

Disposal of non-financial assets
Any gain or loss on the sale of non-financial assets is recognised in the comprehensive
operating statement. Refer to note 1(h) – ‘other comprehensive income’.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are assessed annually for indications of impairment, except for:

 inventories
If there is an indication of impairment, the assets concerned are tested as to whether their
carrying value exceeds their possible recoverable amount. Where an asset’s carrying value
exceeds its recoverable amount, the difference is written-off as an expense except to the
extent that the write-down can be debited to an asset revaluation surplus amount applicable to
that same class of asset.

If there is an indication that there has been a reversal in the estimate of an asset’s recoverable
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised, the carrying amount shall be increased
to its recoverable amount. This reversal of the impairment loss occurs only to the extent that
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised in
prior years.

It is deemed that, in the event of the loss or destruction of an asset, the future economic
benefits arising from the use of the asset will be replaced unless a specific decision to the
contrary has been made.  The recoverable amount for most assets is measured at the higher
of depreciated replacement cost and fair value less costs of disposal. Recoverable amount for
assets held primarily to generate net cash inflows is measured at the higher of the present
value of future cash flows expected to be obtained from the asset and fair value less costs of
disposal.

Investments in jointly controlled operations and assets

Investment in joint operations

In respect of any interest in jointly controlled assets, Yarram & District Health Service
recognises in the financial statements:

 its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
 any liabilities including its share of liabilities that it had incurred;
 its revenue from the sale of its share of the output from the joint operation;
 its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the operation; and
 its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.
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Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognised when:

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
 the Health Service retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has

assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under
a ‘pass through’ arrangement; or

 the Health Service has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and
either:

(a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(b) has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Health Service has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards or transferred control, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Health Service’s
continuing involvement in the asset.

Impairment of financial assets

At the end of each reporting period Yarram & District Health Service assesses whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial asset is impaired. All financial
instrument assets, except those measured at fair value through profit or loss, are subject to
annual review for impairment.

Receivables are assessed for bad and doubtful debts on a regular basis. Bad debts considered
as written off and allowances for doubtful receivables are expensed. Bad debt written off by
mutual consent and the allowance for doubtful debts are classified as ‘other comprehensive
income’ in the net result.

The amount of the allowance is the difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate.

In assessing impairment of statutory (non-contractual) financial assets, which are not financial
instruments, professional judgement is applied in assessing materiality using estimates,
averages and other computational methods in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of
Assets.

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments includes:

- impairment and reversal of impairment for financial instruments at amortised cost; and
- disposals of financial assets and derecognition of financial liabilities.

Revaluations of financial instruments at fair value

The revaluation gain/(loss) on financial instruments at fair value excludes dividends or interest
earned on financial assets.
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((kk)) LLiiaabbiilliittiieess

Payables

Payables consist of:

 contractual payables which consist predominantly of accounts payable representing
liabilities for goods and services provided to the Health Service prior to the end of the
financial year that are unpaid, and arise when the Health Service becomes obliged to
make future payments in respect of the purchase of those goods and services. The
normal credit terms for accounts payable are usually Nett 30 days.

 statutory payables, such as goods and services tax and fringe benefits tax payables.

Contractual payables are classified as financial instruments and are initially recognised at fair
value, and then subsequently carried at amortised cost. Statutory payables are recognised and
measured similarly to contractual payables, but are not classified as financial instruments and
not included in the category of financial liabilities at amortised cost, because they do not arise
from a contract.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Health Service has a present obligation, the future sacrifice
of economic benefits is probable, and the amount of the provision can be measured reliably.

The amount recognised as a liability is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle
the present obligation at reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows,
using a discount rate that reflects the time value of money and risks specific to the provision.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be
received from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
recovery will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Employee benefits

This provision arises for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries,
annual leave and long service leave for services rendered to the reporting date.

Wages and salaries, annual leave, and accrued days off

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave are all
recognised in the provision for employee benefits as ‘current liabilities’, because the health
service does not have an unconditional right to defer settlements of these liabilities.

Depending on the expectation of the timing of settlement, liabilities for wages and salaries
and annual leave are measured at:

 Undiscounted value – if the health service expects to wholly settle within 12 months;
or

 Present value – if the health service does not expect to wholly settle within 12
months.

Long service leave (LSL)
Liability for LSL is recognised in the provision for employee benefits.

Unconditional LSL is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements as a current liability,
even where the health service does not expect to settle the liability within 12 months
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because it will not have the unconditional right to defer the settlement of the entitlement
should an employee take leave within 12 months.

The components of this current LSL liability are measured at:

 Undiscounted value – if the Health Service expects to wholly settle within 12
months; and

 Present value – if the Health Service does not expect to wholly settle within 12
months.

Conditional LSL is disclosed as a non-current liability. There is an unconditional right to
defer the settlement of the entitlement until the employee has completed the requisite
years of service. This non-current LSL liability is measured at present value.

Any gain or loss followed revaluation of the present value of non-current LSL liability is
recognised as a transaction, except to the extent that a gain or loss arises due to changes
in bond interest rates for which it is then recognised as an other economic flow.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal
retirement date or when an employee decides to accept an offer of benefits in exchange for
the termination of employment.

The Health Service recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to
either terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan
without possibility of withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after
the end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.

On-costs related to employee expense

Provisions for on-costs, such as payroll tax, workers compensation and superannuation are
recognised together with provisions for employee benefits.

Superannuation liabilities

The Yarram & District Health Service does not recognise any unfunded defined benefit liability
in respect of the superannuation plans because the Health Service has no legal or constructive
obligation to pay future benefits relating to its employees; its only obligation is to pay
superannuation contributions as they fall due.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged,
cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified,
such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised
as an expense in the consolidated comprehensive operating statement.
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((ll)) EEqquuiittyy

Contributed capital
Consistent with Australian Accounting Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to
Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities and FRD 119A Contributions by Owners, appropriations
for additions to the net asset base have been designated as contributed capital. Other
transfers that are in the nature of contributions to or distributions by owners that have been
designated as contributed capital are also treated as contributed capital.

Transfers of net assets arising from administrative restructurings are treated as contributions
by owners. Transfers of net liabilities arising from administrative restructures are to go through
the comprehensive operating statement.

Property, plant & equipment revaluation surplus
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation
of non-current physical assets.

Specific restricted purpose surplus
A specific restricted purpose surplus is established where the Health Service has possession or
title to the funds but has no discretion to amend or vary the restriction and/or condition
underlying the funds received.

((mm)) CCoommmmiittmmeennttss

Commitments for future expenditure include operating and capital commitments arising from
contracts. These commitments are disclosed by way of a note (refer to note 18) at their
nominal value and are inclusive of the GST payable. In addition, where it is considered
appropriate and provides additional relevant information to users, the net present values of
significant individual projects are stated. These future expenditures cease to be disclosed as
commitments once the related liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet.

((nn)) CCoonnttiinnggeenntt aasssseettss aanndd ccoonnttiinnggeenntt lliiaabbiilliittiieess

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised in the balance sheet, but are
disclosed by way of note and, if quantifiable, are measured at nominal value. Contingent
assets and contingent liabilities are presented inclusive of GST receivable or payable
respectively.

((oo)) GGooooddss aanndd SSeerrvviicceess TTaaxx ((““GGSSTT””))

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the
GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case, the GST payable is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The
net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with
other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing or financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation
authority are presented as an operating cash flow.

Commitments for expenditure and contingent assets and liabilities are presented on a gross
basis.
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((pp)) AAAASSss iissssuueedd tthhaatt aarree nnoott yyeett eeffffeeccttiivvee

Certain new Australian accounting standards have been published that are not mandatory for
the 30 June 2016 reporting period.  DTF assesses the impact of all these new standards and
advises the Health Service of their applicability and early adoption where applicable.

As at 30 June 2016, the following standards and interpretations had been issued by the AASB
but were not yet effective.  They become effective for the first financial statements for
reporting periods commencing after the stated operative dates as detailed in the table below.
The Health Service has not and does not intend to adopt these standards early.

Standard/Interpret
ation Summary

Applicable for
annual
reporting
periods
beginning on

Impact on public
sector entity financial
statements

AASB 15 Revenue
from Contracts with
Customers

The core principle of AASB 15
requires an entity to recognise
revenue when the entity
satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a
promised good or service to a
customer.

1 Jan 2018 The changes in revenue
recognition requirements
in AASB 15 may result in
changes to the timing
and amount of revenue
recorded in the financial
statements. The
Standard will also
require additional
disclosures on service
revenue and contract
modifications.
A potential impact will be
the upfront recognition
of revenue from licenses
that cover multiple
reporting periods.
Revenue that was
deferred and amortised
over a period may now
need to be recognised
immediately as a
transitional adjustment
against the opening
returned earnings if
there are no former
performance obligations
outstanding.

AASB 2015-8
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards – Effective
Date of AASB 15

This Standard defers the
mandatory effective date of
AASB 15 from 1 January 2017
to 1 January 2018.

1 Jan 2018 This amending standard
will defer the application
period of AASB 15 to the
2018-19 reporting period
in accordance with the
transition requirements.
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Standard/Interpret
ation Summary

Applicable for
annual
reporting
periods
beginning on

Impact on public
sector entity financial
statements

AASB 16 Leases The key changes introduced
by AASB 16 include the
recognition of most operating
leases (which are current not
recognised) on balance sheet.

1 Jan 2019 The assessment has
indicated that as most
operating leases will
come on balance sheet,
recognition of lease
assets and lease
liabilities will cause net
debt to increase.
Depreciation of lease
assets and interest on
lease liabilities will be
recognised in the income
statement with marginal
impact on the operating
surplus.
The amounts of cash
paid for the principal
portion of the lease
liability will be presented
within financing activities
and the amounts paid for
the interest portion will
be presented within
operating activities in
the cash flow statement.

AASB 2015-6
Amendments to
Australian Accounting
Standards – Extending
Related Party
Disclosures to Not-for-
Profit Public Sector
Entities
[AASB 10, AASB 124
& AASB 1049]

The Amendments extend the
scope of AASB 124 Related
Party Disclosures to not-for-
profit public sector entities.  A
guidance has been included to
assist the application of the
Standard by not-for-profit
public sector entities.

1 Jan 2016 The amending standard
will result in extended
disclosures on the
entity's key management
personnel (KMP), and
the related party
transactions.

((qq)) CCaatteeggoorryy ggrroouuppss

Yarram & District Health Service has used the following category groups for reporting purposes
for the current and previous financial years.

Admitted Patient Services (Admitted Patients) comprises all recurrent health
revenue/expenditure on admitted patient services, where services are delivered in public
hospitals, or free standing day hospital facilities, or alcohol and drug treatment units or
hospitals specialising in dental services, hearing and ophthalmic aids.

Aged Care comprises revenue/expenditure form Home and Community Care (HACC)
programs, Allied Health, Aged Care Assessment and support services.
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Primary Health comprises revenue/expenditure for Community Health Services including
health promotion and counselling, physiotherapy, speech therapy, podiatry and occupational
therapy.

Residential Aged Care including Mental Health (RAC incl. Mental Health) referred to in
the past as psychogeriatric residential services, comprises those Commonwealth-licensed
residential aged care services in receipt of supplementary funding from the department under
the mental health program. It excludes all other residential services funded under the mental
health program, such as mental health funded community care units (CCUs) and secure
extended care units (SECs).

Other Services excluded from Australian Health Care Agreement (AHCA) (Other)
comprises revenue/expenditure for services not separately classified above, including: Public
Health Services including Laboratory testing, Blood Borne Viruses / Sexually Transmitted
Infections clinical services, Kooris liaison officers, immunisation and screening services, Drugs
services including drug withdrawal, counselling and the needle and syringe program, Dental
Health services including general and specialist dental care, school dental services and clinical
education, Disability services including aids and equipment and flexible support packages to
people with a disability, Community Care programs including sexual assault support, early
parenting services, parenting assessment and skills development, and various support
services.  Health and Community Initiatives also falls in this category group.
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Note 2: Analysis of Revenue by Source

2016 2016 2016 2016 2016

$ $ $ $ $

Government Grant     5,431,199    2,203,600       914,172       237,034      8,786,005 

Indirect contributions by Department of Health 

and Human Services          61,315                -                  -                  -             61,315 

Patient & Resident Fees        468,817       997,363       142,736         33,824      1,642,740 

Commercial Activities                -                  -                  -         276,012         276,012 

Other Revenue from Operating Activities        785,200             522             638                -           786,360 

Total Revenue from Operating Activities    6,746,531   3,201,485   1,057,546      546,870   11,552,432 

Interest        161,249         92,763                -                  -           254,012 

Other Revenue from Non-Operating Activities          21,967                -                  -                  -             21,967 

Total Revenue from Non-Operating 

Activities       183,216        92,763                -                  -          275,979 

Capital Purpose Income  (excluding Interest)          39,000       134,138         46,998                -           220,136 

Net Gain/ (Loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial 

Assets (refer note 2a)            2,478                -                  -                  -               2,478 

Total Capital Purpose Income         41,478      134,138        46,998                -          222,614 

Total Revenue    6,971,225   3,428,386   1,104,544      546,870   12,051,025 

58% 28% 9% 5% 100%

2015 2015 2015 2015 2015

$ $ $ $ $

Government Grant     5,228,134    2,604,042       899,417       466,129      9,197,722 

Indirect contributions by Department of Health 

and Human Services          69,237                -                  -                  -             69,237 

Patient & Resident Fees        397,668    1,131,491       150,715         37,489      1,717,363 

Commercial Activities                -                  -                  -         273,547         273,547 

Other Revenue from Operating Activities        543,172           1,272             504                -           544,948 

Total Revenue from Operating Activities    6,238,211   3,736,805   1,050,636      777,165   11,802,817 

Interest        219,694       103,079                -                  -           322,773 

Other Revenue from Non-Operating Activities          28,042                -                  -                  -             28,042 

Total Revenue from Non-Operating 

Activities       247,736      103,079                -                  -          350,815 

Capital Purpose Income  (excluding Interest)          47,532       179,987         29,282                -           256,801 

Net Gain/ (Loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial 

Assets (refer note 2a)            1,618                -                  -                  -               1,618 

Total Capital Purpose Income         49,150      179,987        29,282                -          258,419 

Total Revenue    6,535,097   4,019,871   1,079,918      777,165   12,412,051 

Total

Department of Health and Human Services makes certain payments on behalf of the Health Service.  These amounts have 

been brought to account in determining the operating result for the year by recording them as revenue and expenses.

Aged Care

RAC  incl. 

Mental 

Health

Admitted 

Patients

Primary 

Health Total

Admitted 

Patients

RAC  incl. 

Mental 

Health Aged Care

Primary 

Health
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2016 2015
$ $

Proceeds from Disposals of Non-Current Assets
Motor Vehicles 6,734             6,364             
Total Proceeds from Disposal of Non-Current 

Assets 6,734            6,364            

Less: Written Down Value of Non-Current Assets 

Sold
Motor Vehicles 4,256             4,746             
Total Written Down Value of Non-Current Assets 

Sold 4,256            4,746            

Net gain/(loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial 

Assets 2,478            1,618            

Note 2a: Net Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Non-Financial 

Assets
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Note 3: Analysis of Expenses by Source

Admitted
Patients

RAC  incl.
Mental
Health Aged Care

Primary
Health Total

2016 2016 2016 2016 2016
$ $ $ $ $

Employee Expenses 3,781,585 3,252,303 1,155,694 971,799 9,161,381
Non Salary Labour Costs 313,621 38,513 - 79,432 431,566
Supplies & Consumables 297,670 73,927 30,113 16,910 418,620
Other Expenses 1,364,863 435,987 128,847 157,908 2,087,605

Total Expenditure from Operating Activities 5,757,739 3,800,730 1,314,654 1,226,049 12,099,172

Depreciation & Amortisation (refer note 4) 720,627 334,577 167,289 64,342 1,286,835

Total other expenses 720,627 334,577 167,289 64,342 1,286,835

Total Expenses 6,478,366 4,135,307 1,481,943 1,290,391 13,386,007

Admitted
Patients

RAC  incl.
Mental
Health Aged Care

Primary
Health Total

2015 2015 2015 2015 2015
$ $ $ $ $

Employee Expenses 3,698,496 3,544,986 1,301,381 1,068,613 9,613,476
Non Salary Labour Costs 407,769 32,026 - 60,208 500,003
Supplies & Consumables 301,251 85,992 31,473 34,880 453,596
Other Expenses 940,197 495,109 165,590 174,592 1,775,488

Total Expenditure from Operating Activities 5,347,713 4,158,113 1,498,444 1,338,293 12,342,563

Depreciation & Amortisation (refer note 4) 685,477 353,516 176,758 77,601 1,293,352

Total other expenses 685,477 353,516 176,758 77,601 1,293,352

Total Expenses 6,033,190 4,511,629 1,675,202 1,415,894 13,635,915
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Note 4: Depreciation and Amortisation

2016 2015
$ $

Depreciation
-Buildings 1,158,795      1,158,796      
-Plant & Equipment 65,771           66,700           
-Medical Equipment 30,265           36,952           
-Motor Vehicles 32,004           30,904           
Total Depreciation 1,286,835     1,293,352     

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 1,286,835     1,293,352     

Note 5: Cash and Cash Equivalents

2016 2015
$ $

Cash on hand 1,100             1,003             
Cash at bank - GHA 78,603           121,521         
Cash at bank 495,432         545,145         

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 575,135        667,669        

Represented by:
Cash for Health Service Operations (as per Cash Flow 

Statement) 575,135         667,669         

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 575,135        667,669        

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash assets includes cash on hand and in 

banks, and short-term deposits which are readily convertible to cash on hand, and are 

subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
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Note 6: Receivables

2016 2015
$ $

CURRENT
Contractual

Inter Hospital Debtors 47,027           75,178           
Trade Debtors 94,785           86,808           
Patient Fees 77,368           75,348           
Accrued Investment Income 98,313           237,932         
Accrued Revenue - Other -                5,884             

Less  Allowance for Doubtful Debts (2,000) (2,000)
315,493        479,150        

Statutory
GST Receivable 35,181           27,316           

TOTAL CURRENT RECEIVABLES 350,674        506,466        

NON CURRENT
Statutory

Long Service Leave - Department of Health and 

Human Services 
(i)

370,664         324,520         

TOTAL NON-CURRENT RECEIVABLES 370,664        324,520        

TOTAL RECEIVABLES 721,338        830,986        

(a) Movement in the Allowance for doubtful debts

2016 2015
$ $

Balance at beginning of year 2,000             2,000             
Amounts written off during the year 1,892             5,460             
Amounts recovered during the year -                -                
Increase/(decrease)  in allowance recognised in net 

result (1,892) (5,460)
Balance at end of year 2,000            2,000            

(b) Ageing analysis of receivables
Please refer to note 17(c) for the ageing analysis of contractual receivables

(c) Nature and extent of risk arising from receivables

`

Please refer to note 17(c) for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from contractual 

receivables

(i) The amount recognised from the Victorian Government represent funding for all 

commitments incurred through grant funding.
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Note 7: Investments and other Financial Assets

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
$ $ $ $ $ $

CURRENT
Loans and receivables 
   Term Deposit

Aust. Dollar Term Deposits > 3 months 
(i)

6,022,687     5,923,058     3,135,636     2,643,603     9,158,323     8,566,661     
Total Current 6,022,687     5,923,058     3,135,636     2,643,603     9,158,323     8,566,661     

TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL 

ASSETS 6,022,687   5,923,058   3,135,636   2,643,603   9,158,323   8,566,661   

Represented by:
Health Service Investments 6,022,687     5,923,058     217,543        282,456        6,240,230     6,205,514     
Accommodation Bonds (Refundable Entrance Fees) -               -               2,918,093     2,361,147     2,918,093     2,361,147     

TOTAL INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL 

ASSETS 6,022,687   5,923,058   3,135,636   2,643,603   9,158,323   8,566,661   

(i) Term deposits under 'investments and other financial assets' class include only term deposits with maturity greater than 90 days.

(a) Ageing analysis of investments and other financial assets
Please refer to note 17(c) for the ageing analysis of investments and other financial assets

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from investments and other financial assets
Please refer to note 17(c) for the nature and extent of credit risk arising from investments and other financial assets

Operating Fund Specific Purpose Fund Total
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Note 8: Inventories

2016 2015

$ $

Catering Supplies
  At cost 10,680           7,351             
Housekeeping Supplies
  At cost 15,322           11,716           
Medical and Surgical Lines
  At cost 27,079           34,827           

TOTAL INVENTORIES 53,081          53,894          

Note 9: Prepayments and Other Assets

2016 2015

CURRENT $ $

Prepayments 16,612           38,616           

GHA other assets 40,055           33,139           

TOTAL CURRENT OTHER ASSETS 56,667          71,755          

Note 10: Property, plant & equipment

(a) Gross carrying amount and accumulated depreciation

2016 2015
$ $

Land
Land at Fair Value 1,577,004      1,577,004      
Total Land 1,577,004     1,577,004     

Buildings 
Buildings at Fair Value 14,137,995     14,137,995     

Less Acc'd Depreciation (2,317,591) (1,158,796)
Total Buildings 11,820,404   12,979,199   

Plant and Equipment 
Plant and Equipment at Fair Value 1,956,683      1,942,515      

Less Acc'd Depreciation (1,695,210) (1,629,498)
Total Plant and Equipment 261,473        313,017        

Medical Equipment
Medical Equipment at Fair Value 749,012         729,891         

Less Acc'd Depreciation (593,962) (563,697)
Total Medical Equipment 155,050        166,194        

Motor Vehicles
Motor Vehicles at Fair Value 445,239         416,045         

Less Acc'd Depreciation (194,454) (178,632)
Total Motor Vehicles 250,785        237,413        

TOTAL 14,064,716   15,272,827   
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Note 10: Property, plant & equipment (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of each class of asset 

Land (i) Buildings Plant & Medical Motor Total

Equipment Equipment Vehicles

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2014 1,577,004        14,137,995      353,889           185,147           252,417           16,506,452      

Additions -                   -                   25,829              17,999              20,646              64,474              

Disposals -                   -                   -                   -                   (4,746) (4,746)

Depreciation and Amortisation (note 4) -                   (1,158,796) (66,701) (36,952) (30,904) (1,293,353)

Balance at 1 July 2015 1,577,004        12,979,199      313,017           166,194           237,413           15,272,827      

Additions -                   -                   14,227              19,121              49,632              82,980              

Disposals -                   -                   -                   -                   (4,256) (4,256)

Depreciation and Amortisation (note 4) -                   (1,158,795) (65,771) (30,265) (32,004) (1,286,835)

Balance at 30 June 2016 1,577,004        11,820,404      261,473           155,050           250,785           14,064,716      

Land and buildings carried at valuation

The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2014.

CROSS CHECKS

(i) An independent valuation of the Health Service's land and buildings was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria to determine the fair value of the land and buildings.  The 

valuation, which conforms to Australian Valuation Standards, was determined by reference to the amounts for which assets could be exchanged between knowledgeable willing 

parties in an arm's length transaction. The valuation was based on independent assessments. 
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Note 10: Property, plant & equipment (continued)

(c) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets

Level 1
 (1)

Level 2 
(1)

Level 3 
(1)

$ $ $ $

Land at fair value

Specialised land 1,577,004       -             -             1,577,004     

Total of land at fair value 1,577,004       -             -             1,577,004     

Buildings at fair value

Specialised buildings 11,820,404      -             -             11,820,404   

Total of building at fair value 11,820,404      -             -             11,820,404   

Plant and equipment at fair value

Plant equipment and vehicles at fair value

- Vehicles 250,785          -             -             250,785        

- Plant and equipment 261,473          -             -             261,473        

Total of plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 512,258          -             -             512,258        

Medical equipment at fair value

Medical equipment at fair value 155,050          -             -             155,050        

Total medical equipment at fair value 155,050          -             -             155,050        

14,064,716    -             -             14,064,716 

Level 1
 (1)

Level 2 
(1)

Level 3 
(1)

$ $ $ $

Land at fair value

Specialised land 1,577,004       -             -             1,577,004     

Total of land at fair value 1,577,004       -             -             1,577,004     

Buildings at fair value

Specialised buildings 12,979,199      -             -             12,979,199   

Total of building at fair value 12,979,199      -             -             12,979,199   

Plant and equipment at fair value

Plant equipment and vehicles at fair value

- Vehicles 237,413          -             -             237,413        

- Plant and equipment 313,017          -             -             313,017        

Total of plant, equipment and vehicles at fair value 550,430          -             -             550,430        

Medical equipment at fair value

Medical equipment at fair value 166,194          -             -             166,194        

Total medical equipment at fair value 166,194          -             -             166,194        

15,272,827    -             -             15,272,827 

(i)
 Classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, see Note 1

Carrying 

amount as at 

30 June 2015

Fair value measurement at end of 

reporting period using:

Fair value measurement at end of 

reporting period using:
Carrying 

amount as at 

30 June 2016
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Note 10: Property, plant & equipment (continued)

(c) Fair value measurement hierarchy for assets

Specialised land and specialised buildings

Vehicles

Plant and equipment

There were no changes in valuation techniques throughout the period to 30 June 2016.

For all assets measured at fair value, the current use is considered the highest and best use.

The CSO adjustment is a reflection of the valuer’s assessment of the impact of restrictions 

associated with an asset to the extent that is also equally applicable to market participants. 

This approach is in light of the highest and best use consideration required for fair value 

measurement, and takes into account the use of the asset that is physically possible, legally 

permissible and financially feasible. As adjustments of CSO are considered as significant 

unobservable inputs, specialised land would be classified as Level 3 assets.

For the health services, the depreciated replacement cost method is used for the majority of 

specialised buildings, adjusting for the associated depreciation. As depreciation adjustments 

are considered as significant and unobservable inputs in nature, specialised buildings are 

classified as Level 3 for fair value measurements.

An independent valuation of the Health Service’s specialised land and specialised buildings 

was performed by the Valuer-General Victoria. The valuation was performed using the market 

approach adjusted for CSO. The effective date of the valuation is 30 June 2014.

The Health Service acquires new vehicles and at times disposes of them before completion of 

their economic life. The process of acquisition, use and disposal in the market is managed by 

the Health Service who set relevant depreciation rates during use to reflect the consumption 

of the vehicles. As a result, the fair value of vehicles does not differ materially from the 

carrying value (depreciated cost).

Plant and equipment is held at carrying value (depreciated cost). When plant and equipment 

is specialised in use, such that it is rarely sold other than as part of a going concern, the 

depreciated replacement cost is used to estimate the fair value. Unless there is market 

evidence that current replacement costs are significantly different from the original 

acquisition cost, it is considered unlikely that depreciated replacement cost will be materially 

different from the existing carrying value.

The market approach is also used for specialised land and specialised buildings although is 

adjusted for the community service obligation (CSO) to reflect the specialised nature of the 

assets being valued. Specialised assets contain significant, unobservable adjustments; 

therefore these assets are classified as Level 3 under the market based direct comparison 

approach.
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Note 10: Property, plant & equipment (continued)

(d) Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value

30 June 2016

Opening Balance 1,577,004   12,979,199 313,017      166,194      237,413    

Purchases (sales) -                 -                 14,227        19,121        45,376      

Transfers in (out) of Level 3 -                 -                 -                 -                 -               

Gains or losses recognised in net result

- Depreciation -                 (1,158,795)  (65,771)       (30,265)       (32,004)     

Subtotal 1,577,004   11,820,404 261,473      155,050      250,785    

Items recognised in other comprehensive income

- Revaluation -                 -                 -                 -                 -               

Subtotal -                 -                 -                 -                 -               

Closing Balance 1,577,004   11,820,404 261,473      155,050      250,785    

30 June 2015

Opening Balance 1,577,004   14,137,995 353,889      185,147      -           

Purchases (sales) -             -             25,829        17,999        -           

Transfers in (out) of Level 3 -             -             -             -             268,317    

Gains or losses recognised in net result

- Depreciation -             (1,158,796) (66,701) (36,952) (30,904)

Subtotal 1,577,004   12,979,199 313,017      166,194      237,413    

Items recognised in other comprehensive income

- Revaluation -             -             -             -             

Subtotal -             -             -             -             -           

Closing Balance 1,577,004   12,979,199 313,017      166,194      237,413    

CROSS CHECKS

There have been no transfers between levels during the period.

Medical 

equipmentLand Buildings

Plant and 

equipment

Motor 

Vehicles

Land Buildings

Plant and 

equipment

Medical 

equipment

Motor 

Vehicles
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Note 10: Property, plant & equipment (continued)

(e) Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations:

Specialised land

Yarram Hospital  Market approach  50-70% (60%) (i) 

Crossley House  50-70% (60%) (i) 

Commercial property at 

Bakers No 121

 $120 per m2 

20 Nicol Street  $99 per m2 

22-24 Nicol Street  $80 per m2 

17-27 Nicol Street  $75-$337 per m2 

Unit 1, 9 Buckley Street  $170 per m2 

Unit 1-4, 16 Evelyn Street  $136 per m2 

80 Nicol Street  $145 per m2 

Specialised buildings

Yarram Hospital  Depreciated 

replacement cost 

 Direct cost per 

square metre 

 $610 - $1,999/m2 

($1,492) 

 Useful life of 

specialised buildings 

 22 - 55 years (37 

years) 

Crossley House  Direct cost per 

square metre 

 $610 - $1,721/m2 

($1,313) 

 Useful life of 

specialised buildings 

 25 - 50 years (37 

years) 

Commercial property at 

Bakers No 121

 Capitalisation 

approach 

 $1,000 per m2 

20 Nicol Street  $205 per m2 

22-24 Nicol Street  $1,460 per m2 

17-27 Nicol Street  $1,400 per m2 

Unit 1, 9 Buckley Street  $2,500 per m2 

Unit 1-4, 16 Evelyn Street  $1,558 per m2 

80 Nicol Street  $857 per m2 

Plant and equipment at 

fair value

 Depreciated 

replacement cost 

 Cost per unit  $200 - $33,360 

($3,445) 

 A significant increase 

or decrease in cost per 

unit would result in a 

significantly higher or 

lower fair value. 
 Useful life of PE  5-10 years (7 years)  A significant increase 

or decrease in the 

estimated useful life of 

the asset would result 

in a significantly higher 

or lower valuation. 

 A significant increase 

or decrease in the 

estimated useful life of 

the asset would result 

in a significantly higher 

or lower valuation. 
 Market/ direct 

comparison 

approach 

Sensitivity of fair 

value measurement 

to changes in 

significant 

unobservable inputs

Valuation 

technique

Range (weighted 

average)

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

 A significant increase 

or decrease in the CSO 

adjustment would 

result in a significantly 

lower (higher) fair 

value. 

 Community Service 

Obligation (CSO) 

adjustment 

 A significant increase 

or decrease in direct 

cost per square meter 

adjustment would 

result in a significantly 

higher or lower fair 

value. 
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Note 10: Property, plant & equipment (continued)

(e) Description of significant unobservable inputs to Level 3 valuations:

Sensitivity of fair 

value measurement 

to changes in 

significant 

unobservable inputs

Valuation 

technique

Range (weighted 

average)

Significant 

unobservable 

inputs

Vehicles

 Depreciated 

replacement cost 

 Cost per unit  $9,000-$10,000 per 

unit ($9,500 per unit) 

 A significant increase 

or decrease in cost per 

unit would result in a 

significantly higher or 

lower fair value. 
 Useful life of PE  10 years  A significant increase 

or decrease in the 

estimated useful life of 

the asset would result 

in a significantly higher 

or lower valuation. 

Medical equipment at 

fair value

 Depreciated 

replacement cost 

 Cost per unit  $200 - $98,900 

($6,245) 

 Increase (decrease) in 

gross replacement cost 

would result in a 

significantly higher 

(lower) fair value. 

 Useful life of medical 

equipment 

 8-10 years (9 years)  Increase (decrease) in 

useful life would result 

in a significantly higher 

(lower) fair value. 

(i) CSO adjustments ranging from 50% to 70% were applied to reduce the market approach value for the Health 

Service’s specialised land, with the weighted average 60% reduction applied. 
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Note 11: Payables

2016 2015
$ $

CURRENT
Contractual

Trade Creditors 
(i) 213,250         298,077         

Accrued Expenses 64,153           102,707         

Amounts payable to governments and agencies 
(ii)

111,790         23,268           

TOTAL CURRENT 389,193        424,052        

TOTAL PAYABLES 389,193        424,052        

(a) Maturity analysis of payables
Please refer to Note 17(d) for the ageing analysis of contractual payables

(b) Nature and extent of risk arising from payables

(i) The average credit period is 30 days. No interest is charged on the outstanding balance after the first 30 days 

from the date of the invoice.

(ii) Contractual payables that are not Statutory obligations

Please refer to note 17(d) for the nature and extent of risks arising from contractual payables
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Note 12: Provisions

2016 2015
$ $

Current Provisions

Employee Benefits (i)
Annual leave
- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months (ii) 633,344      716,976      

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months (iii) 107,790      122,333      

Long service leave
- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly within 12 months (ii) 223,549      114,591      

- Unconditional and expected to be settled wholly after 12 months (iii) 1,226,702   1,390,461   
2,191,385   2,344,361   

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs
- Unconditional and expected to be settled within 12 months (ii) 70,428        99,361        

- Unconditional and expected to be settled after 12 months (iii) 175,073      170,651      

Accrued Wages and Salaries 102,068      43,899        

Accrued Days Off 16,282        16,246        
363,851      330,157      

Total Current Provisions 2,555,236  2,674,518  

Non-Current Provisions

Employee Benefits 290,650      230,132      

Provisions related to Employee Benefit On-Costs 29,457        23,454        

Total Non-Current Provisions 320,107     253,586     

Total Provisions 2,875,343  2,928,104  

(a) Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs

Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs
Unconditional LSL Entitlement 1,613,338   1,673,759   

Annual Leave Entitlements 823,548      940,614      

Accrued Wages and Salaries 102,068      43,899        

Accrued Days Off 16,282        16,246        

Non-Current Employee Benefits and related on-costs

Conditional Long Service Leave Entitlements (iii) 320,107      253,586      

Total Employee Benefits and Related On-Costs 2,875,343  2,928,104  

Notes:

(ii) The amounts disclosed are nominal amounts

(iii) The amounts disclosed are discounted to present values

2016 2015

(b) Movements in provisions $ $

Movement in Long Service Leave:
Balance at start of year 1,927,346  1,751,902  
Provision made during the year
 - Expense recognising Employee Service 229,648      290,035      
Settlement made during the year (223,549) (114,591)
Balance at end of year 1,933,445  1,927,346  

(i) Employee benefits consist of annual leave and long service leave accrued by employees. On-costs such as worker's 

compensation insurance and superannuation expenses are not employee benefits and are reflected as a separate provision.
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Note 13: Superannuation

2016 2015 2016 2015
$ $ $ $

Defined contribution plans:
First State Super 554,545 580,912 56,116 66,837
Hesta & Others 220,706 235,610 22,356 26,337
Total 775,251 816,522 78,472 93,174

Note 14: Other Liabilities

2016 2015
$ $

CURRENT
Monies Held in Trust*

2,918,093 2,361,147
Total Current 2,918,093 2,361,147

Total Other Liabilities 2,918,093 2,361,147

* Total Monies Held in Trust

2,918,093 2,361,147
TOTAL 2,918,093 2,361,147
Investment and other Financial Assets (refer to Note 7)

Paid Contribution for the
Year

Contribution Outstanding at
Year End

Employees of the Health Service are entitled to receive superannuation benefits and the Health
Services contributes to both defined benefit and defined contribution plans. The defined benefit
plan(s) provides benefits based on years of service and final average salary.

The Health Service does not recognise any defined benefit liability in respect of the plan(s)
because the entity has no legal or constructive obligation to pay future benefits relating to its
employees; its only obligation is to pay superannuation contributions as they fall due. The
Department of Treasury and Finance discloses the State’s defined benefits liabilities in its
disclosure for administered items.

However superannuation contributions paid or payable for the reporting period are included as
part of employee benefits in the comprehensive operating statement of the Health Service.
The name, details and amounts expense in relation to the major employee superannuation
funds and contributions made by the Health Services are as follows:

- Accommodation Bonds (Refundable Entrance Fees)

Represented by the following assets:
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Note 15: Equity

2016 2015
$ $

(a)  Surpluses

Property, Plant & Equipment Revaluation Surplus
 1

Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 12,249,546     12,249,546     
Balance at the end of the reporting period* 12,249,546   12,249,546   

* Represented by: 
 - Land 979,257         979,257         
 - Buildings 11,270,289     11,270,289     

12,249,546   12,249,546   

(b)  Restricted Specific Purpose Surplus
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 94,500           94,500           
Balance at the end of the reporting period 94,500          94,500          

Total Surpluses 12,344,046   12,344,046   

(c)  Contributed Capital
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 6,121,891      6,121,891      
Balance at the end of the reporting period 6,121,891     6,121,891     

(d)  Accumulated Surpluses/(Deficits)
Balance at the beginning of the reporting period 1,284,552      2,471,440      
Net Result for the Year (1,303,858) (1,186,888)
Balance at the end of the reporting period (19,306) 1,284,552     

Total Equity at end of financial year 18,446,631   19,750,489   

1 
The property, plant & equipment asset revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of 

property, plant & equipment.
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2016 2015
$ $

Net result for the period (1,303,858) (1,186,888)

Non-cash movements:

Depreciation and amortisation 1,286,835      1,293,352      

Reversal of impairment of financial assets (45,059) (32,577)

Movements included in investing and financing 

activities
(2,478) (1,618)

Movements in assets and liabilities:

Change in operating assets and liabilities
     (Increase)/decrease in receivables 109,648         12,820           

     (Increase)/decrease in other assets 15,088           (13,071)

     Increase/(decrease) in payables 522,087         12,636           

     Increase/(decrease) in provisions (52,761) (45,066)

     Change in inventories 813                (5,297)
NET CASH FLOW FROM/ (USED IN) OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES 530,315        34,291          

Note 16: Reconciliation of Net Result for the Year to Net 

Cash Inflow/ (Outflow) from Operating Activities

Net (gain)/loss from disposal of non financial physical 

assets
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Note 17: Financial Instruments

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Yarram & District Health Service's principal financial instruments comprise of:
 -  cash assets
 -  term deposits
 -  receivables (excluding statutory receivables)
 -  debentures
 -  payables (excluding statutory payables)
 -  accommodation bonds

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for 

recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are 

recognised, with respect to each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity 

instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.

The Health Service's main financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate 

risk. The Health Service manages these financial risks in accordance with its financial risk 

management policy.

The Health Service uses different methods to measure and manage the different risks to 

which it is exposed. Primary responsibility for the identification and management of financial 

risks rests with the management of the Health Service.

The main purpose in holding financial instruments is to prudentially manage Yarram & 

District Health Service financial risks within the government policy parameters.
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Note 17: Financial Instruments (Continued)

Categorisation of financial instruments

Contractual 

financial assets - 

loans and 

receivables

Contractual 

financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost Total

2016 $ $ $

Contractual Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 575,135             -                    575,135             
Receivables
 - Trade Debtors 217,180             -                    217,180             
 - Other Receivables 98,313               -                    98,313               
Other Financial Assets
 - Term Deposit 9,158,323          -                    9,158,323          

Total Financial Assets (i) 10,048,951       -                    10,048,951       

Financial Liabilities
Payables -                    389,193             389,193             
Other Financial Liabilities

 - Accomodation bonds -                    2,918,093          2,918,093          

Total Financial Liabilities (ii) -                    3,307,286         3,307,286         

 Contractual 

financial assets - 

loans and 

receivables 

 Contractual 

financial 

liabilities at 

amortised cost  Total 

2015  $  $  $ 

Contractual Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 667,669             -                    667,669             
Receivables
 - Trade Debtors 235,334             -                    235,334             
 - Other Receivables 243,816             -                    243,816             
Other Financial Assets
 - Term Deposit 8,566,661          -                    8,566,661          

Total Financial Assets (i) 9,713,480         -                    9,713,480         

Financial Liabilities
Payables -                    424,052             424,052             
Other Financial Liabilities

 - Accomodation bonds -                    2,361,147          2,361,147          

Total Financial Liabilities (ii) -                    2,785,199         2,785,199         

(i) The total amount of financial assets disclosed here excludes statutory receivables

(ii) The total amount of financial liabilities disclosed here excludes statutory payables (i.e. Taxes payable)
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Note 17: Financial Instruments (Continued)

(b) Net holding gain/(loss) on financial instruments by category

Total interest 

income / 

(expense)

Fee income / 

(expense) Total

$ $ $

2016

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents (i) 16,564               (3,240)               13,324               

Loans and Receivables (i) 237,448             -                        237,448             

Total Financial Assets 254,012            (3,240)               250,772            

Financial Liabilities

At Amortised Cost -                    -                        -                        

Total Financial Liabilities -                    -                        -                        

2015

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents (i) 24,057               (3,629)               20,428               

Loans and Receivables (i) 298,716             -                        298,716             

Total Financial Assets 322,773            (3,629)               319,144            

Financial Liabilities

At Amortised Cost -                    -                        -                        

Total Financial Liabilities -                    -                        -                        

(i) For cash and cash equivalents and loans or receivables, the net gain or loss is calculated by taking the 

movement in the fair value of the asset, interest revenue, plus or minus foreign exchange gains or losses 

arising from revaluation of the financial assets, and minus any impairment recognised in the net result.
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Note 17: Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Credit risk

Credit quality of contractual financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

2016 $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and Cash
Equivalents         574,035                  -                 -         1,100          575,135
Loans and Receivables
 - Trade Debtors - - 65,623 151,557 217,180
 - Other Receivables 91,330 6,983 - - 98,313
 - Term Deposits 4,741,920 4,416,403 - - 9,158,323

Total Financial Assets 5,407,285 4,423,386 65,623 152,657 10,048,951

2015
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash
Equivalents         666,666                  -                 -         1,003          667,669
Loans and Receivables
 - Trade Debtors - 112,916 122,418 235,334
 - Other Receivables 232,188 5,735 - 5,893 243,816
 - Term Deposits 4,646,661 3,920,000 - - 8,566,661

Total Financial Assets 5,545,515 3,925,735 112,916 129,314 9,713,480

Except as otherwise detailed in the following table, the carrying amount of contractual financial assets
recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the Health Service's
maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

Credit risk arises from the contractual financial assets of the Health Service, which comprise cash and
deposits and non-statutory receivables. The Health Service’s exposure to credit risk arises from the
potential default of a counter party on their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Health
Service. Credit risk is measured at fair value and is monitored on a regular basis.

Credit risk associated with the Health Service’s contractual financial assets is minimal because the main
debtor is the Victorian Government. For debtors other than the Government, it is the Health Service’s policy
to only deal with entities with high credit ratings of a minimum Triple-B rating and to obtain sufficient
collateral or credit enhancements, where appropriate.

In addition, the Health Service does not engage in hedging for its contractual financial assets and mainly
obtains contractual financial assets that are on fixed interest, except for cash assets, which are mainly cash
at bank. As with the policy for debtors, the Health Service’s policy is to only deal with banks with high credit
ratings.

Provision of impairment for contractual financial assets is recognised when there is objective evidence that
the Health Service will not be able to collect a receivable. Objective evidence includes financial difficulties of
the debtor, default payments, debts which are more than 60 days overdue, and changes in debtor credit
ratings.

Financial
institutions
(AA credit

rating)

Government
agencies

(AAA credit
rating)

Government
agencies

(BBB credit
rating)

Other Total
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Note 17: Financial Instruments (continued)
(c) Credit Risk (continued)

Ageing analysis of Financial Assets as at 30 June

Less than 1
Month

1-3
Months

3 months - 1
Year

1-5 Years

2016 $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Financial Assets
Cash and Cash
Equivalents         575,135          575,135                 -              -                   -              -               -
Loans and Receivables
 - Trade Debtors 217,180 181,905            4,593       13,441            15,750         3,491 (2,000)
 - Other Receivables 98,313 98,313 - - - - -
 - Term Deposit 9,158,323 9,158,323 - - - - -
 - Debentures - - - - - 138,768 (138,768)

Total Financial Assets 10,048,951 10,013,676 4,593 13,441 15,750 142,259 (140,768)

2015
Financial Assets
Cash and Cash
Equivalents         667,669          667,669                 -              -                   -              -               -
Loans and Receivables
 - Trade Debtors 235,334 165,856 559 18,767 50,152 2,000 (2,000)
 - Other Receivables 243,816 243,816 - - - - -
 - Term Deposit 8,566,661 8,566,661 - - - - -
 - Debentures - - - - - 183,828 (183,828)

Total Financial Assets 9,713,480 9,644,002 559 18,767 50,152 185,828 (185,828)

Impairment of Financial Assets

Not Past Due
and Not

Impaired

Impaired
Financial
Assets

The Debentures Receivable as at 30th June 2016 are $138,768 of which an amount of $138,768 is
impaired.

Debenture issuer South Eastern Secured Investments Ltd went into liquidation and a receiver was
appointed. The Receivers have indicated that it is unlikely that any further return to Debenture holders will
occur. Based on the available information from the receivers, Management believe that the balance amount
outstanding is fully impaired. As of balance sheet date, the total outstanding balance was fully provided.

Consol'd
Carrying
Amount

Past Due But Not Impaired
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Note 17: Financial Instruments (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

Carrying
Amount

Nominal
Amount

Less than 1
Month

1-3
Months

3 months - 1
Year

1-5 Years

2016 $ $ $ $ $ $
Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost
  Payables 389,193 389,193 369,355 5,502 12,569 1,767
  Other Financial Liabilities
   - Accommodation Bonds 2,918,093 2,918,093 89,622 112,543 548,286 2,167,642

Total Financial Liabilities 3,307,286 3,307,286 458,977 118,045 560,855 2,169,409

2015
Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost
Payables 424,052 424,052 418,798 - - 5,254
Other Financial Liabilities
 - Accommodation Bonds 2,361,147 2,361,147 72,517 91,063 443,640 1,753,927

Total Financial Liabilities 2,785,199 2,785,199 491,315 91,063 443,640 1,759,181

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Health Service would be unable to meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due. The Health Services operates under the Government's fair payments
policy of settling financial obligations within 30 days and in the event of a dispute, making
payments within 30 days from the date of resolution.

The Health Service’s maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial
liabilities as disclosed in the face of the balance sheet. The Health Service manages its liquidity
risk by investing in varying amounts with maturity of the investments to coincide with the
liquidity requirements of the Health Service.

Maturity Dates

The following table discloses the contractual maturity analysis for the Yarram & District Health
Service's financial liabilities. For interest rates applicable to each class of liability refer to
individual notes to the financial statements.

Maturity analysis of Financial Liabilities as at 30 June
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Note 17: Financial Instruments (continued)

(e) Market risk

Currency risk

Interest rate risk

Interest rate exposure of financial assets and liabilities as at 30 June

Weighted Carrying

Average Amount Fixed Variable Non-

Effective Interest Interest Interest

Interest Rate Rate Bearing

2016 Rate (%) $ $ $ $

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2.10 575,135         -                410,713         164,422         

Loans and Receivables

 - Trade Debtors 217,180         217,180         

 - Other Receivables 98,313           -                -                98,313           

 - Term Deposits 2.45 9,158,323      9,158,323      

10,048,951  9,158,323    410,713        479,915        

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables 389,193         -                -                389,193         

  Other Financial Liabilities

   - Accommodation Bonds 2,918,093      -                -                2,918,093      

3,307,286    -                -                3,307,286    

2015

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 2.95 667,669         -                599,880         67,789           

Loans and Receivables

 - Trade Debtors 235,334         235,334         

 - Other Receivables 243,816         -                -                243,816         

 - Term Deposits 3.31 8,566,661      8,566,661      

9,713,480    8,566,661    599,880        546,939        

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables 424,052         -                -                424,052         

  Other Financial Liabilities

  - Accommodation Bonds 2,361,147      -                -                2,361,147      

2,785,199    -                -                2,785,199    

Interest Rate Exposure

The Yarram & District Health Service's exposures to market risk are primarily through interest rate risk 

with only insignificant exposure to foreign currency and other price risks.  Objectives, policies and 

processes used to manage each of these risks are disclosed in the paragraph below.

Exposure to interest rate risk might arise primarily through the Yarram & District Health Service's interest 

bearing assets.  Minimisation of risk is achieved by mainly undertaking fixed rate or non-interest bearing 

financial instruments.  For financial liabilities, the health service mainly undertake financial liabilities with 

relatively even maturity profiles.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates.

The Health Service has minimal exposure to cash flow interest rate risks through its cash and deposits, 

term deposits and bank overdrafts that are at floating rate.

The Health Service manages this risk by mainly undertaking fixed rate or non-interest bearing financial 

instruments with relatively even maturity profiles, with only insignificant amounts of financial 

instruments at floating rate. Management has concluded for cash at bank and bank overdraft, as financial 

assets that can be left at floating rate without necessarily exposing the Health Service to significant bad 

risk, management monitors movement in interest rates on a daily basis.

The Yarram & District Health Service is exposed to insignificant foreign currency risk through its payables 

relating to purchases of supplies and consumables from overseas.  This is because of a limited amount of 

purchases denominated in foreign currencies and a short timeframe between commitment and 

settlement.
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Note 17: Financial Instruments (continued)

(e) Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity disclosure analysis

Carrying

Amount

Profit Equity Profit Equity

2016 $ $ $ $

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 575,135   (4,107) (4,107) 4,107       4,107       

Loans and Receivables

 - Trade Debtors 217,180   -          -          -          -          

 - Other Receivables 98,313     -          -          -          -          

 - Term Deposits 9,158,323 (91,583) (91,583) 91,583     91,583     

 - Debentures -          -          -          -          -          

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables 389,193   -          -          -          -          

  Other Financial Liabilities

   - Accommodation Bonds 2,918,093 -          -          -          -          

(95,690) (95,690) 95,690    95,690    

2015

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 667,669   (5,999) (5,999) 5,999       5,999       

Loans and Receivables

 - Trade Debtors 235,334   -          -          -          -          

 - Other Receivables 243,816   -          -          -          -          

 - Term Deposits 8,566,661 (85,667) (85,667) 85,667     85,667     

 - Debentures -          -          -          -          -          

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables 424,052   -          -          -          -          

  Other Financial Liabilities

   - Accommodation Bonds 2,361,147 -          -          -          -          

(91,666) (91,666) 91,666    91,666    

 - A shift of 100 basis points up and down in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end 

rates of 1.75%;

Interest Rate Risk 

Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and 

management's knowledge and experience of the financial markets, the Yarram & District 

Health Service believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 

months (Base rates are sourced from the Reserve Bank of Australia)

The following table discloses the impact on net operating result and equity for each category 

of financial instrument held by Yarram & District Health Service  at year end as presented to 

key management personnel, if changes in the relevant risk occur.

-1% +1%
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Note 17: Financial Instruments (continued)

(f) Fair value

Comparison between carrying amount and fair value

Carrying 

Amount

Fair value Carrying 

Amount

Fair value

2016 2016 2015 2015

$ $ $ $

Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 575,135        575,135        667,669        667,669        

Loans and Receivables

 - Trade Debtors 217,180        217,180        235,334        235,334        

 - Other Receivables 98,313          98,313          243,816        243,816        

 - Term Deposits 9,158,323     9,158,323     8,566,661     8,566,661     

Total Financial Assets 10,048,951 10,048,951 9,713,480   9,713,480   

Financial Liabilities

At amortised cost

  Payables 389,193        389,193        424,052        424,052        

  Other Financial Liabilities

   - Accommodation Bonds 2,918,093     2,918,093     2,361,147     2,361,147     

Total Financial Liabilities 3,307,286   3,307,286   2,785,199   2,785,199   

The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities are determined 

as follows:

• Level 1 - the fair value of financial instrument with standard terms and conditions and 

traded in active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

• Level 2 - the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices that are 

observable for the financial asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

• Level 3 - the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models 

based on discounted cash flow analysis using unobservable market inputs.

The Health Services considers that the carrying amount of financial instrument assets and 

liabilities recorded in the financial statements to be a fair approximation of their fair values, 

because of the short-term nature of the financial instruments and the

expectation that they will be paid in full.

The following table shows that the fair values of most of the contractual financial 

assets and liabilities are the same as the carrying amounts.
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Note 18: Commitments for expenditure

(a) Commitments other than public private partnerships

2016 2015
$ $

Capital expenditure commitments
Payable:
Motor vehicles -                54,288           
Total capital expenditure commitments (inclusive 

of GST)                    -              54,288 

(b) Commitments payable
Capital expenditure commitments payable
Less than 1 year -                54,288           
Total capital expenditure commitments (inclusive 

of GST)                    -              54,288 

Less GST recoverable from the Australian Tax Office 4,656             

Total commitments (exclusive of GST)                    -              49,632 

Note 19: Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities

There are no known contingent assets or liabilities at 30 June 2016 (2015:Nil).
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Note 20: Operating Segments

2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

REVENUE
External Segment        6,809,976        6,315,467        3,335,623        3,916,792        1,104,543        1,079,918           272,139           386,054           274,732           391,047 11,797,013     12,089,278     

Total Revenue       6,809,976       6,315,467       3,335,623       3,916,792       1,104,543       1,079,918          272,139          386,054          274,732          391,047 11,797,013   12,089,278   

EXPENSES
External Segment 

Expenses       (6,416,118)       (5,996,212)       (4,135,307)       (4,511,629)       (1,481,942)       (1,675,201)          (629,903)          (731,787)          (691,613)          (684,110) (13,354,883)    (13,598,939)    

Total Expenses     (6,416,118)     (5,996,212)     (4,135,307)     (4,511,629)     (1,481,942)     (1,675,201)        (629,903)        (731,787)        (691,613)        (684,110)   (13,354,883)   (13,598,939)

Net Result from 

ordinary activities          393,858          319,255        (799,684)        (594,837)        (377,399)        (595,283)        (357,764)        (345,733)        (416,881)        (293,063) (1,557,870)   (1,509,661)   

Interest Income           161,249           219,694             92,763           103,079                      -                      -                      -                      -                      -                      - 254,012          322,773          

Net Result for Year          555,107          538,949        (706,921)        (491,758)        (377,399)        (595,283)        (357,764)        (345,733)        (416,881)        (293,063)     (1,303,858)     (1,186,888)

OTHER 

Segment Assets       14,914,328       14,878,538        6,945,353        7,262,152        2,013,630        2,309,275           516,315           675,885           239,634           337,942 24,629,260     25,463,792     

Total Assets     14,914,328     14,878,538       6,945,353       7,262,152       2,013,630       2,309,275          516,315          675,885          239,634          337,942 24,629,260   25,463,792   

Segment Liabilities        1,838,517        1,371,885        3,771,691        3,832,353           426,799           353,756           109,436           103,538             36,186             51,771 6,182,629       5,713,303       

Total Liabilities       1,838,517       1,371,885       3,771,691       3,832,353          426,799          353,756          109,436          103,538            36,186            51,771 6,182,629     5,713,303     

Acquisition of Property, 

Plant and Equipment             19,674             35,333             10,332               9,862             49,632             19,279               2,080                      -               1,262                      - 82,980            64,474            

Depreciation & 

Amortisation Expense           720,627           685,477           334,577           353,516           167,289           176,758             42,895             51,734             21,447             25,867 1,286,835       1,293,352       

The major products/services from which the above segments derive revenue are:

Business Segments Services
Hospital Provider of accute and sub acute services
Residential Aged Care Services (RACS) Provider of residential aged care beds
HACC Provider of home and community services
Medical Centre Provider of medical (GP) services
Others Provider of primary care services

Geographical Segment

The Health Service operates predominantly in Yarram, Victoria.  More 

than 90% of revenue, net result from ordinary activities and segment 

assets relate to operations in Yarram, Victoria.

TotalHospital OtherHACCRAC Medical Centre
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Note 21: Jointly Controlled Operations and Assets

Name of Entity Principal Activity 2016 2015
% %

Gippsland Health Alliance Information Systems 4.97 4.97

The Health Service's interest in assets employed in the above jointly controlled operations
and assets is detailed below. The amounts are included in the financial statements and
consolidated financial statements under their respective asset categories:

2016 2015
$ $

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 78,603 121,521
Receivables 8,716 2,977
Other Current Assets 31,339 30,162
Total Current Assets 118,658 154,660

Non Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment (5,778) (5,720)
Total Non Current Assets (5,778) (5,720)
Total Assets 112,880 148,940

Current Liabilities
Payables 11,557 21,952
Accrued Expenses 12,768 28,003
Total Current Liabilities 24,325 49,955
Total Liabilities 24,325 49,955

Net Assets 88,555 98,985

Joint Venture Balance at Beginning of Year 98,985 90,423
Net result (367,371) (332,568)
Contribution 356,941 341,130
Total Equity 88,555 98,985

The Health Service's interest in revenues and expenses resulting from jointly controlled
operations and assets is detailed below:

2016 2015
$ $

Revenues
GHA Revenue 468,721 132,017
Capital Income - 13,531
Total Revenue 468,721 145,548

Expenses
GHA Expenses 836,034 477,943
Depreciation 58 173
Total Expenses 836,092 478,116
Net result (367,371) (332,568)

Contingent Liabilities and Capital Commitments

Ownership Interest

No contingent liabilities or capital commitments arise from the interest in joint ventures.
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Governing Boards
Dr D Hill
Mr T Yong
Dr R Irving
Mrs V McLeod
Mr S Braybrook
Ms F MacLennan
Ms R McLachlan
Accountable Officers
Ms Colleen Boag

Remuneration of Responsible
Persons
The number of Responsible Persons are shown in their relevant income bands:

2016 2015
Income Band No. No.
$0 - $9,999 7 8
$190,000 - $199,999 1 1
Total Numbers 8 9

$190,442 $190,149

Note 22b: Executive Officer Disclosures

Executive Officers' Remuneration

2016 2015
Income Band No. No.
$100,000 - $109,999 - 1
$110,000 - $119,999 3 2
Total 3 3
Total annualised employee equivalents (AEE) (i) 3 3

$351,670 $338,154
(i) Annualised employee equivalent is based on paid working hours of 38 ordinary hours per
week over the 52 weeks for a reporting period.

Note 22a: Responsible Persons Disclosures.

Responsible Ministers:
Period

1/7/2015 - 30/6/2016
1/7/2015 - 30/6/2016
1/7/2015 - 30/6/2016
1/7/2015 - 30/6/2016

In accordance with the Ministerial Directions issued by the Minister for Finance under the
Financial Management Act 1994 , the following disclosures are made regarding responsible
persons for the reporting period.

1/7/2015 - 30/6/2016
1/7/2015 - 30/6/2016

The Honourable Jill Hennessy, Minister for Health, Minister for
Ambulance Services
The Honourable Martin Foley, Minister for Housing, Disability and
Ageing, Minister for Mental Health

Total Remuneration

The numbers of executive officers, other than Ministers and Accountable Officers, and their
total remuneration during the reporting period are shown in the table below in their relevant
income bands. Base remuneration is exclusive of bonus payments, long-service leave
payments, redundancy payments and retirement benefits.

Amounts relating to Responsible Ministers are reported in the financial statements of the
Department of Premier and Cabinet. For information regarding related party transactions of
ministers, the register of members’ interests is publicly available from:
www.parliament.vic.gov.au/publications/register of interests.

1/7/2015 - 30/6/2016

1/7/2015 - 30/6/2016

1/7/2015 - 30/6/2016

1/7/2015 - 30/6/2016

Total remuneration received or due and receivable by
Responsible Persons from the reporting entity amounted to:
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Note 23. Remuneration of auditors

2016 2015
$ $

Victorian Auditor-General's Office
Audit or review of financial statements 17,800       17,500       

Note 24:  Events Occurring after the Balance Sheet Date

There have been no events occurring after reporting date, which are likely to 

materially affect these financial statements.
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2016 2015
$ $

Interest 254,012         322,773         

Sales of goods and services 2,727,079      2,563,900      

Grants 8,933,318      9,343,773      

Other Income 134,138         179,987         

Total revenue 12,048,547   12,410,433   

Employee expenses 9,130,257      9,576,500      

Depreciation 1,286,835      1,293,352      

Other operating expenses 2,937,791      2,729,087      
Total expenses 13,354,883   13,598,939   

Net result from transactions - Net operating balance (1,306,336) (1,188,506)

Net gain/ (loss) on sale of non-financial assets 2,478            1,618            

Total other economic flows included in net result 2,478            1,618            

Net result (1,303,858) (1,186,888)

Note 25: Alternate Presentation of Comprehensive 

operating statement

109



Notes To and Forming Part of the Financial Statements 
Yarram & District Health Service Annual Report 2015/2016

Note 26:  Glossary of terms and style conventions
Actuarial gains or losses on superannuation defined benefit plans

(a) 

(b) the effects of changes in actuarial assumptions.

Amortisation

Associates

Comprehensive result

Commitments

Current grants

Depreciation

Effective interest method

Employee benefits expenses

Ex gratia expenses

Actuarial gains or losses are changes in the present value of the superannuation defined 

benefit liability resulting from

Amortisation is the expense which results from the consumption, extraction or use over time 

of a non-produced physical or intangible asset. 

Associates are all entities over which an entity has significant influence but not control, 

generally accompanying a shareholding and voting rights of between 20 per cent and 50 per 

cent.

Ex-gratia expenses mean the voluntary payment of money or other non-monetary benefit 

(e.g. a write off) that is not made either to acquire goods, services or other benefits for the 

entity or to meet a legal liability, or to settle or resolve a possible legal liability, or claim 

against the entity. 

experience adjustments (the effects of differences between the previous actuarial 

assumptions and what has actually occurred); and

The net result of all items of income and expense recognised for the period. It is the 

aggregate of operating result and other comprehensive income.

Commitments include those operating, capital and other outsourcing commitments arising 

from non-cancellable contractual or statutory sources.

Amounts payable or receivable for current purposes for which no economic benefits of equal 

value are receivable or payable in return.

Depreciation is an expense that arises from the consumption through wear or time of a 

produced physical or intangible asset. This expense reduces the ‘net result for the year’.

The effective interest method is used to calculate the amortised cost of a financial asset or 

liability and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate 

is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of 

the financial instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period

Employee benefits expenses include all costs related to employment including wages and 

salaries, fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements, redundancy payments, defined benefits 

superannuation plans, and defined contribution superannuation plans.
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Financial asset

A financial asset is any asset that is:

(a) cash;

(b) an equity instrument of another entity;

(c) a contractual or statutory right:

• to receive cash or another financial asset from another entity; or

(d) a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:

Financial instrument

Financial liability

A financial liability is any liability that is:

(a) A contractual obligation:

(i) to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity; or

(b) A contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s own equity instruments and is:

Financial statements

A complete set of financial statements comprises:

(a) Balance sheet as at the end of the period;

(b) Comprehensive operating statement for the period;

(c) A statement of changes in equity for the period;

(d) Cash flow statement for the period;

(e) 

(f)

(g) 

(i) a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number 

of the entity’s own equity instruments; or
(ii) a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount 

of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity 

instruments. For this purpose the entity’s own equity instruments do not include 

instruments that are themselves contracts for the future receipt or delivery of the entity’s 

own equity instruments.

Notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 

information;

Comparative information in respect of the preceding period as specified in paragraph 38 

of AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements; and
A statement of financial position at the beginning of the preceding period when an entity 

applies an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of 

items in its financial statements, or when it reclassifies items in its financial statements in 

accordance with paragraphs 41 of AASB 101.

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 

financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. Financial assets or liabilities that are 

not contractual (such as statutory receivables or payables that arise as a result of statutory 

requirements imposed by governments) are not financial instruments.

(ii) to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions 

that are potentially unfavourable to the entity; or

• to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions 

that are potentially favourable to the entity; or

• a non-derivative for which the entity is or may be obliged to receive a variable number 

of the entity’s own equity instruments; or

• a derivative that will or may be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of 

cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments.
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Grants and other transfers

General government sector

Intangible produced assets

Refer to produced assets in this glossary.

Intangible non-produced assets

Refer to non-produced asset in this glossary.

Interest expense

Interest income

Investment properties

Joint Arrangements

(a) The parties are bound by a contractual arrangement. 

(b) 

A joint arrangement is either a joint operation or a joint venture.

Investment properties represent properties held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or 

both. Investment properties exclude properties held to meet service delivery objectives of the 

State of Victoria.

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more parties have joint control. A 

joint arrangement has the following characteristics: 

The contractual arrangement gives two or more of those parties joint control of the 

arrangement 

Transactions in which one unit provides goods, services, assets (or extinguishes a liability) or 

labour to another unit without receiving approximately equal value in return. Grants can 

either be operating or capital in nature.

While grants to governments may result in the provision of some goods or services to the 

transferor, they do not give the transferor a claim to receive directly benefits of approximately 

equal value. For this reason, grants are referred to by the AASB as involuntary transfers and 

are termed non-reciprocal transfers. Receipt and sacrifice of approximately equal value may 

occur, but only by coincidence. For example, governments are not obliged to provide 

commensurate benefits, in the form of goods or services, to particular taxpayers in return for 

their taxes. Grants can be paid as general purpose grants which refer to grants that are not 

subject to conditions regarding their use. Alternatively, they may be paid as specific purpose 

grants which are paid for a particular purpose and/or have conditions attached regarding their 

use.

The general government sector comprises all government departments, offices and other 

bodies engaged in providing services free of charge or at prices significantly below their cost 

of production. General government services include those which are mainly non-market in 

nature, those which are largely for collective consumption by the community and those which 

involve the transfer or redistribution of income. These services are financed mainly through 

taxes, or other compulsory levies and user charges.

Costs incurred in connection with the borrowing of funds includes interest on bank overdrafts 

and short-term and long-term liabilities, amortisation of discounts or premiums relating to 

liabilities, interest component of finance leases repayments, and the increase in financial 

liabilities and non-employee provisions due to the unwinding of discounts to reflect the 

passage of time.

Interest income includes unwinding over time of discounts on financial assets and interest 

received on bank term deposits and other investments.
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Liabilities

Net acquisition of non-financial assets (from transactions)

Net result

Net worth

Assets less liabilities, which is an economic measure of wealth.

Non-financial assets

Non-produced assets

Non-profit institution

Payables

Produced assets

Includes short and long term trade debt and accounts payable, grants, taxes and interest 

payable.

Produced assets include buildings, plant and equipment, inventories, cultivated assets and 

certain intangible assets. Intangible produced assets may include computer software, motion 

picture films, and research and development costs (which does not include the start up costs 

associated with capital projects).

Net result is a measure of financial performance of the operations for the period. It is the net 

result of items of income, gains and expenses (including losses) recognised for the period, 

excluding those that are classified as ‘other comprehensive income’.
Net result from transactions/net operating balance Net result from transactions or net 

operating balance is a key fiscal aggregate and is income from transactions minus expenses 

from transactions. It is a summary measure of the ongoing sustainability of operations. It 

excludes gains and losses resulting from changes in price levels and other changes in the 

volume of assets. 

Non-financial assets are all assets that are not ‘financial assets’. It includes inventories, land, 

buildings, infrastructure, road networks, land under roads, plant and equipment, investment 

properties, cultural and heritage assets, intangible and biological assets.

Non-produced assets are assets needed for production that have not themselves been 

produced. They include land, subsoil assets, and certain intangible assets. Non-produced 

intangibles are intangible assets needed for production that have not themselves been 

produced. They include constructs of society such as patents.

A legal or social entity that is created for the purpose of producing or distributing goods and 

services but is not permitted to be a source of income, profit or other financial gain for the 

units that establish, control or finance it.

Liabilities refers to interest-bearing liabilities mainly raised from public liabilities raised 

through the Treasury Corporation of Victoria, finance leases and other interest-bearing 

arrangements. Liabilities also include non-interest-bearing advances from government that 

are acquired for policy purposes.

Purchases (and other acquisitions) of non-financial assets less sales (or disposals) of non-

financial assets less depreciation plus changes in inventories and other movements in non-

financial assets. It includes only those increases or decreases in non-financial assets resulting 

from transactions and therefore excludes write-offs, impairment write-downs and 

revaluations.
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Public financial corporation sector

Estimates are not published for the public financial corporation sector.

Public non-financial corporation sector

Receivables

Sales of goods and services

Supplies and services

Taxation income

Taxation income represents income received from the State’s taxpayers and includes:

• payroll tax; land tax; duties levied principally on conveyances and land transfers;

• insurance duty relating to compulsory third party, life and non-life policies;

• insurance company contributions to fire brigades;

• motor vehicle taxes, including registration fees and duty on registrations and transfers;

• other taxes, including landfill levies, license and concession fees.

Transactions

Taxation is regarded as mutually agreed interactions between the government and taxpayers. 

Transactions can be in kind (e.g. assets provided/given free of charge or for nominal 

consideration) or where the final consideration is cash. 

Refers to income from the direct provision of goods and services and includes fees and 

charges for services rendered, sales of goods and services, fees from regulatory services and 

work done as an agent for private enterprises. It also includes rental income under operating 

leases and on produced assets such as buildings and entertainment, but excludes rent income 

from the use of non-produced assets such as land. User charges includes sale of goods and 

services income.

Supplies and services generally represent cost of goods sold and the day-to-day running 

costs, including maintenance costs, incurred in the normal operations of the Department.

• gambling taxes levied mainly on private lotteries, electronic gaming machines, casino 

operations and racing;

• levies (including the environmental levy) on statutory corporations in other sectors of 

government; and

Revised Transactions are those economic flows that are considered to arise as a result of 

policy decisions, usually an interaction between two entities by mutual agreement. They also 

include flows in an entity such as depreciation where the owner is simultaneously acting as 

the owner of the depreciating asset and as the consumer of the service provided by the asset. 

Public financial corporations (PFCs) are bodies primarily engaged in the provision of financial 

intermediation services or auxiliary financial services. They are able to incur financial 

liabilities on their own account (e.g. taking deposits, issuing securities or providing insurance 

services).

The public non-financial corporation (PNFC) sector comprises bodies mainly engaged in the 

production of goods and services (of a non-financial nature) for sale in the market place at 

prices that aim to recover most of the costs involved (e.g. water and port authorities). In 

general, PNFCs are legally distinguishable from the governments which own them.

Includes amounts owing from government through appropriation receivable, short and long 

term trade credit and accounts receivable, accrued investment income, grants, taxes and 

interest receivable.
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Style conventions

The notation used in the tables is as follows:

.. zero, or rounded to zero

(xxx.x) negative numbers

2016 year period

2015-16 year period

Figures in the tables and in the text have been rounded. Discrepancies in tables between 

totals and sums of components reflect rounding. Percentage variations in all tables are based 

on the underlying unrounded amounts.
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